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The Year in 
Focus, 2015

C
harles Darwin University 
(CDU) has a significant 
role in the economic 
and cultural life of the 

Northern Territory. The University 
contributes more than $550 
million annually to the Northern 
Territory economy, which 
represents around 4% of the 
jurisdiction’s gross state product.

More than 23,000 students 
studied with CDU in 2015: 
12,089 in Higher Education and 
11,168 in Vocational Education 
and Training. The impact of 
providing tertiary education 
locally is exemplified by a recent 
analysis that showed CDU grad-
uates in 2013 would contribute 
increased economic value to 
the Northern Territory of more 
than $420 million due to their 
improved skills, which will  
command higher income over 
their remaining working lives. 

The University’s research 
activity is also central to helping 
to solve problems not only in 

the Northern Territory, but also 
increasingly in the wider region 
to our north.

CDU enjoyed significant suc-
cess in international rankings, 
national awards and achieve-
ments throughout 2015. As a 
central provider of research and 
education and training, based 
in the northernmost part of 
Australia, CDU is committed to 
the Northern Territory, the wider 

region and the nation. Ensuring 
that CDU is aligned with the 
needs of our communities, 
region and government  
continues to be a high priority.

Rankings and 
Achievements
Times Higher Education World 
University Rankings: CDU 
achieved its highest rank in the 
Times Higher Education World 
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University Rankings 2015–16 to 
be one of the top 300 universities 
globally out of 1100 institutions 
ranked world-wide. CDU’s stron-
gest scores were for international 
outlook and citations, which 
reflect the number of times 
researchers around the world 
have quoted CDU research.

The University also has 
advanced on the list of the 
world’s best universities that are 
less than 50 years old, featuring 
for the fourth consecutive year 
and rising 21 points from  
69th in 2014 to 48th this year. 
The University has taken just  
10 years to reach the top  
50 world universities under 50 
years old, which is a remarkable 
achievement and a great base 
from which to launch into the 
next 10 years.

NT Training Awards: CDU  
won the prestigious NT Training 
Provider of the Year Award at 
the 60th annual NT Training 
Awards in Darwin. 

Export Awards: CDU has been 
acknowledged for its outstanding 
international success by winning 
the Exporter of the Year title at 
the 2015 Chief Minister’s NT 
Export and Industry Awards 
and the Austrade Education and 
Training Award for outstanding 
innovation and international 
success in the field of education 
and training services, expertise 
and curriculum including voca-
tional training for the second 
consecutive year. These awards 
recognise CDU’s growth as a 
world-class education provider. 
In 2014/2015 CDU recorded 
an average of 25% growth in 
international student enrolments 
across campuses and centres in 
Darwin, Sydney and Melbourne. 

National Environmental 
Science Program: The start 
of projects under the Northern 
Australia Environmental 
Resources Hub led by CDU 
was marked by Parliamentary 
Secretary to the Minister for the 

Austin Asche Apprentice 
of the Year Award at the 
NT training awards and 
was a runner-up for the 
Australian Apprentice of the 
Year Award in the national 
training awards 

•• �Philadelphia Hughes won 
the national Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Student of the Year award 
for her Certificate IV 
qualification in Frontline 
Management 

•• �Raymond Fordimail was 
a finalist in the national 
Australian School-based 
Apprentice of the Year, 
Certificate III Business. 

Young Achiever Awards: A  
talented digital art and film  
creator, Yolŋu man Ishmael 
Marika, won this year’s Charles 
Darwin University Arts Award at 
the NT Young Achiever Awards 
after producing three feature 
films and working on numerous 
Yolŋu cultural productions.

Also winning an award at 
the Young Achiever Awards was 
Alice Springs-based Bachelor 
of Arts/Bachelor of Laws stu-
dent Tara Liddy, who won the 
Genesee and Wyoming Australia 
Indigenous Achievement Award. 
PhD candidate Rhiannon Moore, 
whose research involves inves-
tigating crocodile skin quality 
issues, won the Australian Super 
Career Kick Start Award.

Chief Minister’s NT History 
Book Award: PhD candidate 
Craig Bellamy won the Chief 
Minister’s NT History Book 
Award for his co-edited book 
on WWII radar stations called 
Radar Gunner. The book is 
about a secret radar base  
in Darwin. 

Staff Achievements
NT Young Tall Poppy Science 
Award: Dr Brett Murphy, from 
the Research Institute for the 
Environment and Livelihoods, 
was recognised for his work 
on savanna fire management 
and conservation of threatened 
mammal species by winning 
the 2015 NT Young Tall Poppy 
Science Award, awarded during 
Science Week in August. Dr 
Murphy was rewarded not only 
for showing excellence in his 
field of research, but also was 
commended for his initiative in 
finding ways to showcase his 
work to the community. 

Bupa Health Foundation 
Emerging Health Researcher 
Award: Dr Gabrielle McCallum, 
an early-career clinical 
researcher from Menzies School 
of Health Research, received the 
prestigious 2015 Bupa Health 
Foundation Emerging Health 
Researcher Award in recogni-
tion of her work to provide early 
treatment, and prevent recurring 
lung infections and lung damage, 
in Indigenous children.

Harry Christian Giese – 
Research in Action Award: 
Associate Professor Gail Garvey, 
Division Leader of Epidemiology 
and Health Systems at Menzies 
School of Health Research, 
received the 2015 Harry 
Christian Giese – Research  
in Action Award to put her 
research in psycho-oncology 
(understanding and treating the 
social, psychological, emotional 
and spiritual aspects of cancer 
from prevention to bereavement) 
into action. 

Pride of Australia: Senior 
Lecturer in Clinical Sciences Dr 
Rama Jayaraj received the 2015 

Environment Mr Bob Baldwin 
and Federal Member for 
Solomon Ms Natasha Griggs at 
CDU in August. This $24 million 
program will employ the latest 
technology to monitor environ-
mental changes in Northern 
Australia.

NHMRC Success: Menzies 
School of Health Research 
achieved extraordinary success 
in the 2015 round of NHMRC 
grants, receiving more than 
$12.5 million in project grants 
and fellowships, a 35% overall 
success rate that is more than 
double the national average. 

Student Achievements
National Training Awards: 
Three CDU students won indi-
vidual awards at the NT Training 
Awards and went on to represent 
CDU at the national training 
awards:

•• �Katherine-based electrotech-
nology-electrical apprentice 
Taylor Fishlock won the 

Pride of Australia “Inspiration 
Medal” for the Northern 
Territory in recognition of his 
significant contribution to educa-
tion, in particular to Indigenous 
education and high-quality stu-
dent support, while contributing 
to cancer research. 

ARC Linkage Grant success: 
ARC grant announcements 
attracted almost $500,000 for  
a range of projects involving  
CDU staff: 

•• �A traits-based modelling 
framework to forecast the 
resilience of freshwater 
fishes in Northern Australia 
to impending environmental 
change

•• �Evaluating the hypothesis 
that arboreal species are lim-
ited by the abundance of tree 
hollows, and that historical 
increases in the frequency 
of intense fires may be 
reducing hollow abundance

•• �Developing a methodology 
for community-led adap-
tive water management on 
resource-constrained islands

•• �An infrastructure grant that 
will provide CDU with a 
Nuclear Magnetic Resonance 
spectroscopy instrument 
to enhance research into 
organic, inorganic and  
biological compounds. 

Strategic Planning:  
Connect, Discover, Grow
CDU is operating in an ever more 
challenging environment, with 
changing national education and 
skills training policies, increasing 
competition and the growing 
need for internationalisation and 
community engagement.

The development of a new 
strategic plan was a major focus 
during 2015 as the University 
sought to develop an approach 
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that would ensure it would 
remain a sustainable institution 
into the future and make signif-
icant and positive contributions 
to the wider region. 

An extensive consultation 
period from July to October 
informed the development 
of the draft strategy, entitled 
Connect, Discover, Grow. Three 
areas of the strategic planning 
and review will continue in 
early 2016 and will underpin 
the delivery and success of 
the strategy. These areas are: 
Operational Excellence; People 
and University Character, and 
Structure.

Indigenous Engagement
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander graduates: CDU  
graduated 515 Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander students  
in VET and HE this year. 
The inaugural Alice Springs 
Indigenous Valedictory Ceremony 
was held in July and the Darwin 
ceremony in October had the 
largest attendance to date.

MoU with the Australian 
Indigenous Leadership 
Centre: A Memorandum 
of Understanding to assist 
aspiring Indigenous leaders 
was formalised between the 
Australian Centre for Indigenous 
Knowledges and Education 
(ACIKE) and the Australian 
Indigenous Leadership Centre 
(AILC). The partnership aims 
to develop Indigenous career 
advancement through tertiary 
education pathways. This new 
pathway will bring AILC stu-
dents to ACIKE to take part in 
programs three times a year and 
will give students the opportunity 
to progress through VET studies 
at the AILC and on to HE offer-
ings at ACIKE. Some 15 students 

have completed the newly 
created Certificate IV Indigenous 
Leadership. 

ACIKE partnership: A review of 
the partnership between CDU and 
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous 
Tertiary Education under the 
umbrella of ACIKE was under-
taken with the aim of developing 
a more effective model to ensure 
that the opportunities afforded 
to Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander students for tertiary 
study are optimised.

Infrastructure
Menzies buildings opening:  
The $47 million Menzies School 
of Health Research building  
projects at the Royal Darwin 
Hospital and on Casuarina 
campus were opened on 20 
November by Prime Minister 
Malcolm Turnbull. The Prime 
Minister also visited the IT 
Code Fair, an annual event on 
Casuarina campus that enables 
students to display their skills 
and meet potential IT employers. 

Integrated Trade Training 
Centre: Trade training oper-
ations, including plumbing, 
process control, instrumentation, 
electrical, refrigeration, crane 
operation, dogging and working 
on towers at heights relocated to 
new facilities in the trade training 
centre at Casuarina campus.

CDU Sydney: The offices at CDU 
Sydney expanded from two to 
three floors to accommodate 
current and projected growth. 
Diversified course offerings  
will be delivered from Sydney 
from 2016.

CDU Darwin Waterfront: The 
CDU Business School began 
operating from the Darwin 

Waterfront in 2015, providing 
staff and students with the 
opportunity to develop  
networks and linkages into  
the surrounding business and 
government community.

Northern Development
The release of the Federal 
Government’s White Papers 
on Agriculture and Developing 
Northern Australia presents 
opportunities and challenges 
for CDU. As a central provider 
of research and education in 
this region, CDU is a strategic 
partner for government and 
industry in delivering the oppor-
tunities and agendas that are 
addressed in the White Papers, 
particularly on Developing 
Northern Australia. 

In June 2015 the Australian 
Government released “Our 
North, Our Future White 
Paper on Developing Northern 
Australia”. The White Paper 
announced that the Government 
would invest $75 million in 
a new Cooperative Research 
Centre (CRC) for Developing 
Northern Australia to assist 
businesses, governments and 
researchers to work together 
to find northern solutions to 
northern problems. The CRC will 
be industry-led and located in 
the North, with an initial focus 
on agriculture, food and tropical 
health — where pre-commer-
cial research and development 
are needed to establish new 
industries.

The White Paper announced 
that the new CRC would build 
on the growNORTH collabora-
tive research and development 
proposal, in which CDU is a 
partner. Like the growNORTH 
proposal, the announced 
CRC would include multiple 
agricultural and food businesses, 

other industry organisations, 
northern jurisdictions, 
universities, other research 
bodies, financial and professional 
services companies, and regional 
development organisations. It 
was foreshadowed that the new 
CRC would develop its research 
agenda and begin projects by  
late 2015. This timeline was  
not achieved.

Outlook
CDU has begun preparation 
for Australian Skills Quality 
Authority re-registration for 
its VET qualifications, courses 

and units. This will be a major 
project that will continue 
through most of 2016.

In addition, national higher 
education reforms are expected 
to be revisited by the Australian 
Government and CDU will mon-
itor these carefully to ensure that 
the impact on the University is 
fully understood.

CDU has backed Universities 
Australia’s pre-election policy 
blueprint Keep it Clever, which 
calls for bold new research 
and innovation investment in 
Australia for the nation to be 
able to transform our industries 

and create and fill the jobs of the 
future. 

With 40% of existing jobs 
tipped to disappear within two 
decades, university education 
and research – and stronger 
collaboration between industry 
and university researchers – will 
be vital to generate new jobs, 
new industries and new sources 
of income for Australia. 

A large part of CDU’s current 
strategic review and planning 
process is intended to posi-
tion the University to respond 
and adapt to this changing 
environment.

Mr Neil Balnaves AO
Chancellor

Professor Simon Maddocks
Vice-Chancellor and President
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Organisational 
Structure

Principal 
Officers

Office of the
Vice-Chancellor

Chair,
Academic Board

Office of Media,
Advancement 
and Community 
EngagementVice-Chancellor

COUNCIL

Chief Operating Officer Deputy Vice-Chancellor

Pro Vice-
Chancellor, 
Academic

Pro Vice-
Chancellor, 
Engineering,
Health, 
Science 
and the 
Environment

Chief 
Financial 
Officer

Pro Vice-
Chancellor, 
Indigenous 
Leadership

IAS Menzies 
School 
of Health 
Research

Pro Vice-
Chancellor, 
Research  
and  
Research 
Training

Pro Vice-
Chancellor, 
Law, 
Education, 
Business  
and Arts

Deputy Chief 
Operating 
Officer

Office of  
Financial  
Services

Office of  
Procurement 
Services

Office of  
Indigenous 
Academic 
Support

Australian 
Centre 
for Indigenous 
Knowledges 
and Education

Office of 
Facilities  
Management

Major Projects

Office of 
Marketing and 
Planning

Office of 
Information 
Technology 
Management 
and Support

Office of 
Library 
Services

Office of 
Human 
Resource 
Services

Office of 
Student 
Administration 
and Equity 
Services

Office of  
Accommodation 
Services

Office of 
Business 
Enterprises 

Office of Research 
and Innovation

Office of 
Leadership and 
Organisational 
Culture

Office of 
International 
Services 

Office of 
Learning  
and 
Teaching

School of  
Engineering and IT

North 
Australian 
Centre for  
Oil and Gas

School of Health

Research 
Centre for 
Health and 
Wellbeing

School of 
Psychological  
and Clinical  
Sciences

School of 
Environment

Research 
Institute 
for the 
Environment 
and 
Livelihoods

School of 
Business

School of 
Education

School of 
Creative 
Arts and 
Humanities

School of 
Academic 
Language  
and Learning

Centre  
for School 
Leadership, 
Learning and 
Development

School of Law

School of 
Indigenous 
Knowledges 
and Public 
Policy

The Northern 
Institute

• �Palmerston 
Campus

• Nhulunbuy

Katherine 
Regional Office
• �Katherine 

Rural Campus
• �Katherine 

Town Centre
• �Mataranka 

Station
• �Jabiru Centre

Alice Springs 
Office
• �Alice Springs 

Campus
• Yulara
• �Tennant Creek

Office of VET 
Business 
Improvement

School of Trades

School  
of Primary 
Industries

School  
of VET Health, 
Community 
and Children’s 
Services

School  
of Business 
and Service 
Industries

Centre for 
Renewable Energy 
and Low Emission 
Technology

Pro Vice-
Chancellor, 
Vocational 
Education 
and  
Training

• Bookshop 
• �Childcare Centre
• Uniprint 
• �CDU Amenities

Professor Simon Maddocks 
Vice-Chancellor and President

Professor Sharon Bell
Deputy Vice-Chancellor

Professor Lawrence Cram
Pro Vice-Chancellor, Research  
and Research Training

Professor Giselle Byrnes
Pro Vice-Chancellor, Faculty of Law, 
Education, Business and Arts

Professor Sue Carthew
Pro Vice-Chancellor, Faculty of 
Environment, Health, Science  
and Engineering

Professor Martin Carroll
Pro Vice-Chancellor, Academic

Associate Professor  
Steve Shanahan
Acting Pro Vice-Chancellor, VET

To 9 October 2015

Ms Christine Robertson
Pro Vice-Chancellor, VET

From 12 October 2015

Professor Steven Larkin 
Pro Vice-Chancellor, Indigenous 
Leadership

Mr Mark Hewitson
Chief Financial Officer

Ms Debra Farrelly 
Chief Operating Officer
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Summary 
Snapshot 

Category 2014 2015
% Change, 
2014-2015

Student numbers

Total 23,668 23,257 -1.7%

Higher Education 11,685 12,089 3.5%

Vocational Education and Training 11,983 11,168 -6.8%

Higher Education, female : male 66%f:  34%m 65%f:  35%m

Vocational Education and Training, female:male 40%f:  60% 40%f:  60%

Higher Education, under 25 years : 25 years and over 27%:  73% 29%:  71%

Vocational Education and Training, under 25 years :  
25 years and over

37%:  63% 38%:  62%

Higher Education, ATSI 5.5% 5.3%

Vocational Education and Training, ATSI 27.8% 26.4%

Higher Education student 
load, equivalent full-time 
student load (EFTSL)

Total 6,119.5 6,573.4 7.4%

Undergraduate, Commonwealth-funded 3,995.5 4,214.1 5.5%

Postgraduate, Commonwealth-funded 692.4 372.3 -46.2%

Fee paying (all) 1,431.6 1,987.0 38.8%

Vocational Education and 
Training delivery, Annual 
Hours Curriculum (AHC)

Total 2,792,119 2,704,561 -3.1%

Urban 2,322,244 2,284,610 -1.6%

Regional 76,668 55,441 -27.7%

Remote 393,207 364,510 -7.3%

Higher Education award 
completions

Total 1,581 1,550 -2.0%

Higher Education undergraduate 914 898 -1.8%

Higher Education postgraduate 667 652 -2.2%

Research

Research income ($’000), all categories $46,078 $38,264 -17%

Higher Degree by Research student load, EFTSL 215.3 211 -2.0%

Higher Degree by Research completions (all) 42 29 -31%

Staff, EFT

Total 1,414 1,482 4.8%

Academic 615 659 7.2%

General 799 823 3.0%

Financial

Total revenue (consolidated), $’000 $339,514 $308,003 -9.3%

Total expenses (consolidated), $’000 $330,556 $321,899 -2.6%

Total equity, $’000 $624,294 $611,062 -2.1%

2015 Key statistics
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2015 Higher Education

Characteristic Category 2014 2015
% Change, 
2014-2015

Higher Education student 
load, equivalent full-time 
student load (EFTSL)

Total 6,119.5 6,573.4 7.4%

Undergraduate, Commonwealth-funded 3,995.5 4,214.1 5.5%

Postgraduate, Commonwealth-funded 692.4 372.3 -46.2%

Fee paying (all) 1,431.6 1,987.0 38.8%

Average EFTSL per student 0.52 0.54 3.8%

Higher Education award 
completions

Higher Education undergraduate 914 898 -1.8%

Higher Education postgraduate 667 652 -2.2%

Success (completion) rate  78.7% 76.0%

Faculty course enrolments

Australian Centre for Indigenous Knowledges and Education 305 284 -6.9%

Charles Darwin University 202 235 16.3%

Engineering, Health, Science and the Environment 4,757 5,148 8.2%

Institute of Advanced Studies 184 196 6.5%

Law, Education, Business and Arts 6,477 6,529 0.8%

Course enrolments by 
course type

Associate Degree 84 87 3.6%

Associate Diploma 182 186 2.2%

Bachelor Graduate Entry 507 583 15.0%

Bachelor Honours 37 122 229.7%

Bachelor Pass 6,663 7,167 7.6%

Diploma 4 3 -25.0%

Doctorate - Coursework 16 10 -37.5%

Doctorate - Research 241 244 1.2%

Enabling 1,428 1,406 -1.5%

Graduate Certificate 106 153 44.3%

Graduate Diploma Extend 227 230 1.3%

Graduate Diploma New 1,087 542 -50.1%

Masters Coursework 1,062 1,346 26.7%

Masters Research 51 52 2.0%

Non-Award 93 91 -2.2%

Other Award Course 0 0 0.0%

Postgraduate Cross Institution 16 4 -75.0%

Undergraduate Cross Institution 121 166 37.2%

Characteristic Category 2014 2015
% Change, 
2014-2015

Course enrolments by  
field of education

Agriculture Environmental & Related Studies (AE) 210 208 -1.0%

Architecture & Building (AB) 52 57 9.6%

Creative Arts (CA) 110 128 16.4%

Education (ED) 2,307 1,897 -17.8%

Engineering & Related Technologies (ET) 550 574 4.4%

Health (HE) 2,559 3,242 26.7%

Information Technology (IT) 246 248 0.8%

Management & Commerce (MC) 1,550 2,061 33.0%

Mixed Field Programmes (MF) 1,428 1,406 -1.5%

Natural & Physical Sciences (NP) 543 253 -53.4%

Society & Culture (SC) 2,140 2,057 -3.9%

None (those in miscellaneous programs) 230 261 13.5%

ATSI Students Student numbers 655 654 -0.2%

Success (completion) rates 
of equity target groups

People with disabilities 65% 65% 0.6%

People from a NESB 78% 74% -5.4%

People from isolated areas 78% 76% -2.1%

Indigenous 59% 58% -2.0%
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2015 Vocational Education and Training

Characteristic Category 2014 2015
% Change, 
2014-2015

Delivery, Annual Hours 
Curriculum (AHC)

Total 2,792,119 2,704,561 -3.1%

Urban 2,322,244 2,284,610 -1.6%

Regional 76,668 55,441 -27.7%

Remote 393,207 364,510 -7.3%

Interstate 0 0

*By Delivery Location

Delivery by division / school 
(AHC) (excludes credit 
transfer)

Business and Service Industries 944,054 0

Community and Children’s Services 0 243,831

Engineering, Health, Science and the Environment 0 18,405

Health, Community and Children Services 272,455 0

Law, Education, Business and Arts 97,490 311,429 219.4%

Primary Industries 282,244 305,740 8.3%

PVC - VET 242,050 227,860 -5.9%

Service Industries 0 683,395

Trades 953,826 913,901 -4.2%

IN 2015, HEALTH, COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN SERVICES SCHOOL NAME WAS AMENDED TO COMMUNITY AND CHILDREN’S SERVICES, 
AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR HEALTH COURSES WERE MOVED TO THE EHSE FACULTY
IN 2015, DELIVERY OF BUSINESS COURSES IN THE TOP END BECAME THE RESPONSIBILITY OF the LEBA Faculty AT THE WATERFRONT, 
WHILE DELIVERY IN CENTRAL AUSTRALIA REMAINED THE RESPOSIBILITY OF THE SCHOOL OF SERVICE INDUSTRIES.

Delivery by administrative 
location (AHC)

Adelaide 4,210 0

Alice Springs 394,455 355,824 -9.8%

Casuarina 1,814,771 1,500,264 -17.3%

Darwin Waterfront 0 239,609

Katherine 113,550 135,375 19.2%

Palmerston 465,133 473,489 1.8%

Characteristic Category 2014 2015
% Change, 
2014-2015

Delivery by industry group 
(AHC)

Arts, Entertainment, Sports and Recreation 195,915 157,371 -19.7%

Automotive 245,378 232,139 -5.4%

Building and Construction 225,924 231,696 2.6%

Community Services, Health and Education 276,620 261,896 -5.3%

Finance, Banking and Insurance 61,725 56,795 -8.0%

Food Processing 42,200 44,972 6.6%

TCF and Furnishings 3,420 0

Engineering and Mining 216,214 112,270 -48.1%

Primary Industry 286,729 309,230 7.8%

Process Manufacturing 5,980 16,100 169.2%

Sales and Personal Service 105,421 119,437 13.3%

Tourism and Hospitality 172,679 174,321 1.0%

Transport and Storage 67,995 39,930 -41.3%

Utilities 192,640 266,136 38.2%

Business and Clerical 253,962 230,764 -9.1%

Computing 103,385 82,155 -20.5%

Science, Technical and Other 0 0

General Education and Training 281,940 307,563 9.1%

Exceptions - Cookery 53,992 61,786 14.4%

Success (completion) rate 72.4% 71.7%

Course completions

Total 3,282 2,431 -25.9%

Certificate I 546 299 -45.2%

Certificate II 761 545 -28.4%

Certificate III 1,134 962 -15.2%

Certificate IV 689 518 -24.8%

Diploma 149 104 -30.2%

Advanced Diploma 0 0 0.0%

Graduate Certificate 0 0 0.0%

Graduate Diploma 3 3 0.0%

ATSI Students Student numbers 3,326 2,945 -11.5%

Success (completion) rates 
of equity target groups

People with disabilities 68.6% 68.2%

People from a NESB 69.3% 70.9%

People from isolated areas 68.4% 70.6%

Indigenous 67.1% 71.2%
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2015 Research

Category 2014 2015
% Change, 
2014-2015

Research income ($’000)

Total $46,078 $38,105 -17.0%

Category 1, National competitive grants  $17,698  $18,469 5.6%

Category 2, Other public sector research funding $19,668 $14,045 -28.8%

Category 3, Industry and other funding $7,255  $4,536 -37.8%

Category 4, CRC income  $1,457 $1,055 -27.6%

Higher Degree by  
Research completions

Total 42 29 -31.0%

PhD 34 28 -17.6%

Masters 8 1 -87.5%

Higher Degree by  
Research load, EFTSL

Total 215.3 211.0 -2.0%

PhD 183.5 178.0 -3.0%

Masters 31.8 33.0 3.9%

Weighted publications

Total 330.8 323.1 -2.3%

Books 33.9 10.0 -70.5%

Book chapters 29.2 26.2 -10.4%

Journal articles 232.9 259.7 11.5%

Conference proceedings 34.8 27.2 -21.8%

Notes:
1. 2014 research income figures, particularly in Category 2, included adjustments for Menzies income not reported in the previous year. 
2. 2015 publications figures are provisional HERDC-equivalent point estimates at March 2016

2015 Staffing

Category 2014
2014 

Females
2014  

Female % 2015
2015 

Females
2015  

Female %

Higher Education 
and VET  
academic staff 
(FTE)

Total Number 615 325 53% 659 349 53%

Level E 48 15 32% 50 13 26%

Level D 22 5 23% 38 13 34%

Level C 96 58 60% 106 66 62%

Level B 203 122 60% 206 120 58%

Level A 246 125 51% 259 137 53%

General staff 
(FTE)

Total 799 552 69% 823 578 70%

HEW 10 and 
above

76 32 42% 80 37 46%

HEW 9 54 38 69% 54 43 80%

HEW 8 83 60 72% 96 74 77%

HEW 7 129 94 73% 141 99 70%

HEW 6 131 105 80% 132 100 76%

HEW 5 151 102 68% 149 103 69%

HEW 4 119 87 73% 125 92 74%

HEW 3 33 18 55% 35 22 63%

HEW 2 20 14 71% 10 7 70%

HEW 1 3 2 77% 1 1 100%
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Awards and 
Achievements

Honorary Awards
Achievements

NT Trainer of the Year: Charles 
Darwin University (CDU) was 
named the NT Training Provider 
of the Year at the 60th annual 
NT Training Awards in Darwin.

Three CDU students won 
individual awards, including 
Katherine-based electrotechnol-
ogy-electrical apprentice Taylor 
Fishlock, who won the Austin 
Asche Apprentice of the Year 
award.

Other students to win titles  
in the awards were: Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
Student of the Year winner 
Philadelphia Hughes, and 
School-based Apprentice of  
the Year winner Raymond 
Fordimail. CDU is the largest 
VET provider in the NT, deliv-
ering 220 qualifications.

Design recognition: A design 
graduate with a passion for 

tropical architecture won the 
Student Award at the 2015 NT 
Architecture Awards.

Bachelor of Design graduate 
Sarah Young said her affinity 
with Darwin architecture 
stemmed from her family’s long 
association with the Top End.

Sarah also is undertaking a 
three-month paid placement at 
Mode Design in Darwin through 
a CDU faculty award.

NAIDOC Awards: Two promi-
nent Indigenous researchers at 
the Northern Institute took out 
NAIDOC 2015 Awards (Darwin). 

Part-time Senior Research 
Fellow Gotha (Kathy) Guthadjaka 
won the Elder on Country 
(Female) Award, while Senior 
Research Fellow Dr (Payi)  
Linda Ford won the Caring for 
Country Award.

Ms Guthadjaka is a senior 
elder from Gäwa, a small home-
land community on Elcho Island 
in north-east Arnhem Land and 

has worked as an educator since 
the mid-1960s.

Dr Ford is Aboriginal and 
identifies as Rak Mak Mak 
Marranunggu, from Kurrindju, 
on the Finniss River, Northern 
Territory.

The awards recognise 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander artists, scholars, sports-
people, elders and community 
members.

NT’s Tall Poppy: A CDU 
researcher was recognised for 
his work on savanna fire man-
agement and conservation of 
threatened mammal species 
when he won the 2015 NT Young 
Tall Poppy Science Award.

A Research Fellow with 
the Research Institute for the 
Environment and Livelihoods, 
Dr Brett Murphy received the 
prestigious award at the launch 
of Science Week in the NT.

His research focuses on 
how best to manage bushfires 

CDU Annual Report 2015     21



in Northern Australia’s vast 
uncleared landscapes, to meet a 
range of objectives, particularly 
conservation of native plants  
and animals.

The Tall Poppy Campaign 
recognises Australian intellectual 
and scientific excellence.

NT’s exporter of the year: CDU 
has been acknowledged for its 
outstanding international success 
by winning the Exporter of the 
Year title at the Chief Minister’s 
NT Export and Industry Awards. 

The University also received 
the Austrade Education and 
Training Award for outstanding 
innovation and international  
success in the field of education 
and training services, expertise 
and curriculum including voca-
tional training for the second 
consecutive year.

Rise in the rankings: The 
University has advanced on the 

list of the world’s best universi-
ties that are less than 50 years 
old – featuring for the fourth 
consecutive year.

The prestigious Times Higher 
Education “100 Under 50” list 
recognises the rising stars of 
higher education globally. CDU 
has risen 21 points from its  
place at 69 in 2014 to 48th place 
this year.

CDU was one of 16 Australian 
universities to feature on the list 
this year. 

Film wins gold: A documentary 
based on pioneering research by 
a CDU academic has won gold at 
an international film festival in 
the United States.

The film, entitled “Written  
by Mrs Bach”, received the 
World’s Best Gold Medal in  
the “Arts” category at the New 
York Festival’s World’s Best TV 
and Films Awards ceremony in 
Las Vegas.

This was a second triumph 
for the film, which also won 
an Award of Excellence at the 
IndieFest in California earlier in 
the year. 

The film is based on 
Professor Martin Jarvis’ book of 
the same name, which argued 
some of Johann Sebastian Bach’s 
most famous works could be 
attributable to his second wife, 
Anna Magdalena.

Conservation: A PhD candidate 
at the Research Institute for the 
Environment and Livelihoods 
has been recognised for his 
efforts to prevent further decline 
of the critically endangered 
Philippine eagle.

Jayson Ibanez received the 
prestigious Whitley Award, at  
a ceremony held in London, from 
the Princess Royal, Her Royal 
Highness Princess Anne.

He was one of seven recip-
ients to be honoured with the 

Award-winning design graduate Sarah Young.

award, which acknowledges  
the world’s most outstanding 
conservation leaders.

Inspiration: A CDU lecturer 
and cancer researcher has been 
recognised for his significant 
contribution to education in the 
Northern Territory in receiving 
the 2015 Pride of Australia 
“Inspiration Medal”. 

Senior Lecturer in Clinical 
Sciences Dr Rama Jayaraj has 
made significant contributions 
to Indigenous education and 
provided high-quality student 
support, while contributing to 
cancer research.

Earlier this year Dr Jayaraj 
received the Ryan Family Award 
for exceptional performance 
and contribution to CDU for 
his commitment to excellence 
in teaching and involvement in 
research with a global reach.

Dr Brett Murphy received the 2015 NT Young Tall Poppy Science Award.

Professor Martin Jarvis, author of Written by Mrs Bach.
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Unique 
Learning 
Environment

Goal A rich learning 
environment, which 
reflects our unique 
regional location 
and course offerings, 
enables students to 
achieve success and 
produces graduates 
with the skills they 
need.

Vocational Education  
and Training
The high quality of Charles 
Darwin University’s Vocational 
Education and Training (VET) 
provision was again recognised 
when the Northern Territory 
Government named the 
University the Training Provider 
of the Year.

The University also welcomed 
Ms Christine Robertson to the 
position of Pro Vice-Chancellor, 
VET in October.

Trades Training Facility: The 
new, $21.3 million Trades 
Training Facility began oper-
ating early in the year at 
Casuarina campus. The exten-
sive facility provides students 
and apprentices with access to 
high-quality training facilities 
and state-of-the-art equipment 
that meet industry standards 
for vital industry training in 
plumbing, electrotechnology, 

instrumentation, refrigeration, 
oil and gas industry operations 
and, in the future, environment 
trades.

The facility supports infra-
structure development to  
address industry skills needs  
for economic change in the 
Northern Territory. It incorpo-
rates flexible learning spaces 
using mobile equipment, class-
rooms, a computer laboratory 
and open areas for dangerous 
and elevated skills training.

VET online: The University 
moved into the online envi-
ronment in the provision of 
VET training with five Diploma 
courses being offered fully 
online. They are:

•• �Diploma of Conservation and 
Land Management

•• �Diploma of Work Health  
and Safety

•• �Diploma of Project 
Management

•• �Diploma of Children’s 
Services

•• �Diploma of Nursing 
(Enrolled-Division 2 
Nursing).

Faculty of Law, 
Education, Business  
and Arts
The Pro Vice-Chancellor of 
the Faculty of Law, Education, 
Business and Arts, Professor 
Giselle Byrnes, left CDU toward 
the end of the year to take up  
a position in New Zealand.  
She was replaced by Professor 
Peter Kell.

CDU Darwin Waterfront 
Business School: The Business 
School relocated to a $30 million 
purpose-built facility at the 
Darwin Waterfront. The five-
storey building is within walking 
distance of Darwin’s central 
business district and its location 
will assist the NT Government 
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Stories of empowerment 
and survival have emerged 
through research that aims to 
address Australians’ percep-
tions of African immigrants 
and shed light on the value 
of education as the key to 
integration.

Originally from Ghana in 
West Africa, Dr Susana Akua 
Saffu received a PhD through 
CDU this year. Her thesis, 
entitled “Learning as trans-
formation and empowerment: 
The case of African-Australian 
women in the Northern 
Territory of Australia”, 
explored the role and impact 
of adult education in the 
settlement and integration 
process of African-Australian 
women in the Northern 
Territory.

Dr Saffu interviewed 24 
African-Australian women 
who shared their stories of 
migrating to the NT. She found 
that education was a key 
adaptive strategy for social 

Originally from Ghana in West Africa, Dr Susana Akua Saffu has completed  
a PhD through CDU.

Education, a life-line for immigrants

and economic integration as 
well as a means of survival.

She said that learning 
through formal and in-formal 
means was a critical phase 
in the women reconstructing 
their identities and rebuilding 
their lives. “There are many 
things you cannot find in a 
book; the slang, for example, 
or even local names for fruits 
and vegetables.

“Participation in learning 
activities empowered them 
to engage productively in the 
social, cultural, economic and 
political activities of their new 
society, whether attending 
formal language classes,  
volunteering, or even going 
to a local market to buy 
produce.”

Dr Saffu said she hoped 
her research would help 
inform opportunities and 
educational pathways offered 
to other migrant and ref-
ugee groups in Australia and 
elsewhere.

The first play therapy courses 
in Northern Australia will 
address growing demands 
for qualified professionals in 
the region. CDU will become 
the second university in the 
country to offer qualifications 
in play therapy, including 
masters, graduate diploma 
and graduate certificate 
courses.

Play therapy courses come North

Associate lecturer Josephine 
Downs said that play therapy 
was the least intrusive form of 
counselling for children. “We try 
very hard to meet the demand 
that is growing in the Northern 
Territory,” she said.

Ms Downs is currently the 
only registered play therapy 
supervisor in the NT, but said 
Darwin could become a hub for 

international play therapy 
training with the creation of 
the courses.

She said it was important 
for play therapists to have 
relevant qualifications as the 
profession required complex 
skills in interpreting a child’s 
method of play as a form of 
communication.

New play therapy courses will address growing demands for qualified professionals.

and the business community to 
engage with the School’s offer-
ings and activities. The School 
brings together the University’s 
Top End business courses, com-
bining VET and HE experiences 
and capabilities to deliver a suite 
of courses from certificate to 
postgraduate offerings.

A Graduate Certificate of 
Tourism Management was accred-
ited for offer in 2016 in response 
to the growing demand for people 
in the workforce who have a base 
qualification, such as a Commerce 
or Arts degree, and who wish to 
apply their skills and experiences 
to the tourism industry.

Bachelor of Education: CDU 
introduced a Bachelor of 
Education (Graduate Entry) in 
2015. This teacher education 
course aligns with the national 
standards for teacher qualifi-
cation. The two-year course 
offers specialised professional 
knowledge and skills in teacher 

education for those who have a 
non-education Bachelor degree.

Faculty of Engineering, 
Health, Science and the 
Environment
Massive Open Online Course 
(MOOC): CDU launched a new 
MOOC entitled “The Art and 
Science of Memory: Five keys to 
Learning”, featuring two-times 
World Memory Champion Jonas 
Von Esson. The initiative of 
Professor Timothy Skinner and 
Dr Simon Moss, from the School 
of Psychological and Clinical 
Sciences, this Memory MOOC is 
the first in the world to immerse 
students in a virtual “Memory 
Palace” of five panoramic,  
interactive rooms representing 
five key memory techniques. 
More than 1000 people partici-
pated in its first offering, and it 
will be run again in 2016.

Engineering and IT: The School 
of Engineering and IT received 
confirmation that its EUR-ACE© 

accreditation for the Engineering 
double degree programs would 
run until 2020. CDU was the  
first university in Australia to 
receive EUR-ACE© accreditation 
for its Bachelor of Engineering 
Science. The accreditation  
means that graduates will have 
their qualifications recognised 
in most of central and western 
Europe.

Educational Outreach
CDU Melbourne: During 
2015, the CDU Melbourne 
Business School relocated to 
new premises at 271 Collins 
Street, which includes a larger 
library and improved teaching 
spaces. Operated in part-
nership with the Australian 
Technical and Management 
College, the Business School 
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at CDU Melbourne also held a 
Valedictory Ceremony for the 
first cohort of students com-
pleting Bachelor and Masters 
courses in Business and 
Accounting.

CDU Sydney: CDU Sydney  
also offers degree courses in 
business and accounting, as well 
as support for the University’s 

online students. During 2015  
a decision was made to expand 
to a further floor, which will  
provide dedicated graduate 
spaces and a larger library 
facility in 2016.

Aspire Scholarships: The CDU 
Aspire Scholarships program 
supports secondary school 
students, particularly those 
from lower socio-economic 
backgrounds, to raise their 
aspirations to attend university. 
In November it held its inaugural 
graduation for 12 students who 
have completed Year 12 after 
being in the Aspire Program 
since Year 9. The students came 
from Alice Springs, Nhulunbuy, 
Katherine and Darwin. In 2015, 
there were 72 Aspire Scholars 
including, for the first time, two 
from South Australia through 
CDU’s partnership with the 
Chaffey Learning Exchange.

Graduate Employment 
and Student Satisfaction
Independent research demon-
strated that CDU graduates are 
among the most employable in 
the country. The latest Australian 
Graduate Survey results from 
Graduate Careers Australia 
show that the proportion of 
2014–2015 Bachelor graduates 
in full-time work is 68.8%. For 
CDU this figure is significantly 
higher, at 79.8%. Being a univer-
sity that provides access to study 
online as well as on campus, 
CDU students are mature-age 
and likely to be in employment 
or have had employment experi-
ence. The national employment 
rate of Bachelor graduates under 
25 years of age, however, is 
66.9% compared with 79.4% for 
CDU. This indicates that CDU 
courses are proving valuable in 
the workplace.

An improved survey of stu-
dent opinions of their learning 
experiences, known as MyView, 
was introduced. Unlike its 
predecessor, Student Evaluation 
of Learning and Teaching 
Survey, which comprised 12 
set items, MyView enables a set 
of questions to be tailored to 
specific units and teachers, and 
encourages students to reflect 
on their own participation in the 
learning process. It also uses 
an improved response scale, 
inviting students to comment 
not only on their level of agree-
ment with an item, but also 
their rating of its importance. 
This will enable the University 
to understand better and 
respond with greater focus to 
student views on what they 
believe is working and what 
they believe can be improved.

CDU’s internal MyView 
survey of HE students showed an 
improvement in student satisfac-
tion across all core unit items. 
The VET Learner Questionnaire 
shows a slight improvement on 
the already very high level of 
student satisfaction.

Office of International 
Services
Outward student mobility is an 
important part of the University’s 
international strategy. In 
2015 CDU was successful in 
securing a total of  $533,700 in 
Commonwealth-funded student 
mobility programs to support 
up to 166 Australian students to 
study overseas as part of their 
degree courses.

The mobility projects 
included a range of academic 
and internship programs 
in Indonesia, China, India, 
Greece, Cambodia, Timor-Leste, 
Malaysia, Philippines, Laos, 
Hong Kong, Canada, USA and 

Indonesian 
students examine 
our law

Indonesian students have 
gained an insight into 
Australian law through a 
program run with Charles 
Darwin University. CDU 
School of Law staff hosted 
29 law students and three 
staff members from Gadjah 
Mada University (UGM) at 
Casuarina campus early in 
the year.

The students learned 
about areas of Australian 
law, including refugee, 
migration, constitutional, 
statuary interpretation and 
criminal law. CDU Law 
lecturer Dr Danial Kelly said 
the program invited stu-
dents to compare Australian 
and Indonesian laws.

“The program has 
offered students excel-
lent opportunities to gain 
greater awareness about 
how the law works in dif-
ferent countries,” Dr Kelly 
said. Up to 10 CDU students 
attended a similar program 
at UGM in December 2014, 
as part of the Australian 
Government’s New Colombo 
Plan.

France in association with 
the University’s institutional 
partners and international 
education agencies. The 
programs have included stu-
dents from law, engineering, 
humanitarian and community 
studies, education, nursing, 
welfare, humanities, business, 
Greek, Chinese and Indonesian 
studies. The Commonwealth 

provides funds for short-term 
and semester-length academic 
credit bearing programs under 
the New Colombo Plan and the 
Endeavour Mobility Grants.

The first head of Greek 
Studies at CDU says he 
will focus on strengthening 
postgraduate programs and 
community engagement in his 
newly created position.

Associate Professor George 
Frazis has worked in tertiary 
education for more than  
three decades and helped to 
pioneer Greek Studies units  
at CDU in 2003 through 
Flinders University.

“Learning a foreign 
language is so important 
because not only do you 

learn a new language but 
also the culture, values and 
history that go along with it,” 
he said. Dr Frazis is also the 
coordinator of CDU’s Greek 
In-country program and each 
year accompanies students to 
Greece for a three-week inten-
sive course.

Friends of Greek Language 
and Culture, the Guardians of 
Greek Language and Culture, 
and the CDU Foundation are 
among the financial sup-
porters of the new position.

The first head of Greek Studies, Associate Professor George Frazis.

Greek Studies blossoms
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Leader in 
Indigenous 
Education

Goal A recognised 
national leader in 
Indigenous tertiary 
education and in the 
learning, teaching 
and understanding 
of Indigenous 
knowledges.

T
he Office of the Pro 
Vice-Chancellor, 
Indigenous Leadership 
(OPVCIL) continued 

to drive whole-of-organisation 
changes to continue to improve 
the University’s effectiveness 
in providing culturally appro-
priate and academically rich, 
Indigenous tertiary education, 
employment and research 
opportunities.

OPVCIL expanded in 2015 
and has made full use of the 
increased intellectual and 
cultural capacity, particularly 
through increased Indigenous 
leadership expertise. 

The employee profile at 
December 2015 was: 

•• �44 full, part-time and casual 
general and academic staff 

•• �75% of staff are Indigenous 
Australians 

•• �25% of staff are of non-In-
digenous origins: Anglo 
Australians, Filipinos, Irish, 
Pacific Islander, French, 

Fijian, New Zealander and 
German. 

OPVCIL’s support for the goal 
to lead in Indigenous education 
and research extends beyond the 
various campuses into all aspects 
of an Australian Indigenous 
person’s educational experi-
ence, from early childhood into 
kindergarten or primary school, 
through secondary years to  
graduation, then support to 
make the transition into a VET 
qualification or HE award. 

•• �Total percentage of ATSI 
retention rates in HE was 
stable at approximately 53%

•• �Total number of ATSI enrol-
ments in VET was stable at 
approximately 30%

•• �Total percentage of ATSI unit 
completion rates in VET was 
stable at approximately 75%. 

A major review and restruc-
ture of all Indigenous student 
support services was completed 

in 2015 to ensure ongoing 
responsive and appropriate ser-
vices are provided to Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander 
students enrolled at CDU. As a 
result, the Office of Indigenous 
Student Services (OISS) was 
established and is instrumental 
in supporting Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander students to 
achieve their goals.

The Office of Indigenous 
Student Services
OISS-Academic Support 
(OISS-AS): Delivered a diverse 
mandate including scholarship 
support, academic support 
and community engagement. 
Successful programs included the 
Indigenous Student Ambassador 
Program, school and commu-
nity activities with 25 schools 
and more than 500 school and 
community members. OISS-AS 
staff pursued their goal to build 
and strengthen relationships 
within and across campuses 
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with management, teaching and 
research staff in their pursuit 
of Indigenous participation that 
makes CDU unique in the sector.

OISS – Indigenous Grants and 
Away From Base and Tutorial 
Support: The Away From Base 
Program provides financial 
assistance to eligible Indigenous 
HE and VET students who are 
registered Abstudy recipients. 
Eligible students are supported 
in undertaking mixed mode 
courses with financial assistance 
for travel, accommodation and 
meals. If it is deemed financially 
prudent, reverse-block releases 
may take place where lecturers 
are supported to travel to and 
from communities to offer in 
situ delivery and assessment of 
Indigenous students undertaking 
mixed-mode studies.

The Australian Centre for 
Indigenous Knowledges and 
Education (ACIKE): Australian 
Government funding that 
assisted in the creation and oper-
ation of the ACIKE partnership 
ended in 2015, which resulted 
in a reduction in resourcing to 
support the partnership.

Nevertheless, the ACIKE part-
ners have continued to operate 
many of the strategic goals and 
activities to increase the attrac-
tion, retention and completion 
rates of Australian Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander students 
enrolled in a specific range of 
undergraduate courses at CDU.

In the latter part of 2015, 
CDU in agreement with 
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous 
Tertiary Education (BIITE) com-
missioned a review of the ACIKE 
partnership model with a view 
to obtaining advice on the way 
forward. To this end, the NOUS 
Consulting group undertook the 

Online Yolŋu 
dictionary 
launches

CDU has launched the 
first online searchable and 
extendable Yolŋu Matha (lan-
guages) dictionary as a tool 
for students, researchers, 
Yolŋu language workers and 
the Yolŋu community.

Dictionary creator 
Mr John Greatorex said 
that people interested in 
Australian Indigenous 
languages no longer needed 
to buy a CD or app, as the 
dictionary was free online.  
“As the Yolŋu languages 
courses attract more 
international and cross-in-
stitutional students, there 
has been a need for a good 
online dictionary resource.”

Mr Greatorex collab-
orated with the Yolŋu 
Advisers to the Yolŋu Studies 
Program at CDU in devel-
oping the project. People 
using the dictionary were 
asked to remember that 
Yolŋu languages were owned 
by the Yolŋu people.

Improving 
Indigenous 
participation

Indigenous academics 
gathered in Darwin in 
October to contribute to a 
national conversation about 
how to improve university 
study prospects among 
Indigenous Australians.

Pro-Vice Chancellor 
Indigenous Leadership 
Professor Steven Larkin was 
one of several prominent 
academics to address the 
two-day conference, hosted 
at the Australian Centre for 
Indigenous Knowledges and 
Education on Casuarina 
campus.

“We are determined 
to take the next step to 
unlock the capacity of the 
large number of Indigenous 
people who have the  
potential, but not the 
access, to higher education 
in Australia,” Professor 
Larkin said.

“This forum provides 
delegates with an opportu-
nity to explore innovative 
approaches that incorporate 
Indigenous knowledges and 
practices into the develop-
ment of strategies that will 
inspire people to attend 
university.”

Professor Larkin’s paper 
contended that institutional 
change must take place 
among the tertiary sector to 
facilitate greater Indigenous 
participation, and pointed 
out the fragility of the argu-
ment that the onus rested 
solely with students.

review and a final report was 
presented in December to the 
Vice-Chancellor and the CEO of 
BIITE. The ACIKE Review will be 
presented to both Councils of the 
respective institutions for their 
consideration and decisions.

Higher Education Participation 
and Partnership Program 
– Whole of Community 
Engagement Initiative 
(HEPPP-WCE): The HEPPP-WCE 
initiative continues to work 
with six remote Indigenous 

communities across the Northern 
Territory researching and working 
in partnership with communities 
and families to strengthen the 
development of pathways into HE 
for remote Indigenous people.

The HEPPP-WCE team 
attracted additional funding 
from the Australian Government, 
which will allow the program to 
continue until December 2016. 
This represents a six-month 
extension that will allow a range 
of activities to continue to be 
developed and monitored.

Community engagement: 
OPVCIL continued to build on a 
schedule of events throughout 
the year that demonstrated 
our commitment to celebrating 
Indigenous academics, achieve-
ments and to commemorate 
the anniversaries of Indigenous 
struggles in Australia.

A marked increase in com-
munity engagement both on 
and off campuses included 
remote outreach work, HEPPP, 
and stakeholder engagement in 
CDU signature events such as 

the enhanced Vincent Lingiari 
Memorial Lecture program and 
the inaugural Alice Springs 
Valedictory. 

The OPVCIL hosted a national 
forum on Indigenous path-
ways and transitions into HE 
in October. The forum came 
as a result of the HEPPP-WCE 
team attracting funding from 
the Australian Government to 
host a forum to examine best 
practice models of Indigenous 
engagement with the tertiary 
education sector. The forum, 
entitled “Building evidence about 
Indigenous pathways and tran-
sitions into Higher Education”, 
attracted more than 130 partici-
pants from across Australia.

Research and Privileging 
of Indigenous Knowledges: 
OPVCIL employed an Indigenous 
Research Coordinator in 2015, 
who initiated: 

•• �The establishment of  
an Indigenous Research 
Leaders Network

•• �An online presence for 
ACIKE research

•• �Development of a number 
of research tenders in 
evaluation and Indigenous 
knowledges

•• �The first research evalua-
tion projects under the new 
arrangements. 

Project to aid law 
understanding

A CDU researcher in 
Central Australia has begun 
work on a project to help 
Indigenous people better 
understand Australian law.

Linguist Dr Samantha 
Disbray, from CDU’s 
Northern Institute, said 
the “Language and the 
Law Project” would help 
Aboriginal speakers of three 
distinct Central Australian 
languages understand legal 
words and their implications.

“The legal system is fertile 
ground for controversy about 
words and their meanings.”

High-achieving Indigenous 
student Nathan Canuto has 
returned from an inspira-
tional study tour of the world’s 
most prestigious universities, 
helping him to hone his future 
research pathway.

Nathan, who is under-
taking Honours in psychology 
this year, was one of 17 
Indigenous people from across 
Australia invited to attend the 
Aurora Indigenous Scholars 
International Study Tour for 
students considering post-
graduate studies in the United 

States or the United Kingdom.
He met with professors and 

attended lectures and infor-
mation sessions at universities 
including Harvard, Oxford, 
Berkeley, Stanford, Columbia, 
NYU and Cambridge.

“The tour really helped 
me focus my study direction,” 
Nathan said. “I was able to meet 
with some renowned professors 
offering some amazing pro-
grams in the areas of Indigenous 
education.

“I am really excited about 
the prospect of applying to 

Nathan Canuto following his tour 
of the world’s most prestigious 
universities.

World opens up for high achiever

undertake further postgrad-
uate research at one of these 
institutions after I complete 
my Honours with CDU.”
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Research with 
Global Reach

Goal Enhanced 
local, national 
and international 
standing for research 
excellence.

C
DU strengthened its 
position as an exem-
plary research-intensive 
university, as evidenced 

by its standing in international 
university rankings. In the 2015 
Times Higher Education (THE) 
World Rankings, CDU moved 
up into the 251–300 range; 
in the 2015 THE 100 Under 
50, CDU moved up 21 places 
to rank 48. In the 2014/15 QS 
World University Rankings CDU 
is located in the 551–600 band 
overall, scoring in the 91–100 
range for the “Next 50 under 50”.

Excellence and  
Impact in Research
The quality of CDU’s research 
was confirmed by the 2015 
Excellence of Research in 
Australia (ERA) – a research 
assessment process applied by 
the Australian Government to  
all Australian universities. Of  
the research fields submitted  
by CDU, 75% were assessed to 

be at, above or well above world 
standard. Some highly rated 
fields involved a significant pro-
portion of all CDU’s researchers, 
so that in effect 80% of all 
assessed research was rated  
at world standard or above. In 
ERA 2015, CDU’s field of medical 
and health sciences were rated 
as outstanding,  
with the same rating for clinical 
sciences, nursing and public 
health. Environmental science 
and ecology also rated above 
world standard.

CDU achieves remarkable 
research performance through 
three consistent strategies. 
Firstly, and most importantly, the 
University is committed to the 
pursuit of research excellence 
with impact. This was again 
confirmed by a 2015 report 
from Deloitte Access Economics, 
confirming that CDU’s Menzies 
School of Health Research is one 
of Australia’s most cost-effective 
health research institutes, with 

every dollar invested returning 
$2.70 to the economy and 
activities delivering a net ben-
efit of $700 million. Fittingly, 
these impressive results were 
announced in the same year 
that Menzies celebrated its 30th 
birthday and hosted the Prime 
Minister to open its new $47 
million research precinct. 

Secondly, CDU continues to 
deepen its international link-
ages, leveraging its competitive 
advantage by being Australia’s 
northern most university. The 
University collaborates with 
more than half of the interna-
tional universities in the THE 
Top 100 with strategic relation-
ships from Europe (University 
of Oxford, United Kingdom), 
the Americas (University of 
Washington, United States) to 
Asia (Nanyang Technological 
University, Singapore). Reflecting 
this strength and emphasis is the 
growth in domestic and offshore 
sourced income to support 
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international research projects: 
increasing by $2.5 million (or 
77%) in 2014 from 2013. 

Thirdly, CDU plays to its 
strengths. CDU selectively con-
centrates its research effort on 
health and medical, social and 
environmental research. In these 
arenas CDU’s research achieve-
ments are widely acknowledged. 
For example, CDU leads the 
Northern Australia National 
Environmental Science Hub and 
has been an important member 
of the growNORTH proposal 
to host a cooperative research 
centre for Northern Australia. 
Combined with CDU’s exper-
tise concerning the livability of 

A CDU graduate who spent six 
years studying post-traumatic 
stress has identified a healthy 
early childhood as a key to 
building resilience in adults.

Dr Michelle Hilder-Achurch 
received her doctorate at 
CDU’s mid-year graduation 
ceremony. Her PhD, entitled 
“The Psychological Correlates 
of Post-Traumatic Stress 
Disorder” (PTSD) established 
baseline research into a 
previously overlooked group: 
non-professional helpers.

She studied victims, 
non-professional and profes-
sionals who assisted victims at 
the scene of traumatic events.

Dr Hilder-Achurch said 
that, until recently, it had not 
been well recognised that 
non-professional helpers were 

being traumatised and might 
experience trauma differently 
to victims and professional 
responders.

“In a clinical sense we 
need to tailor therapy specific 
to their needs,” she said. She 
said there was a connection 
between the level of dis-
tress experienced during the 
trauma and PTSD.

“How individuals 
responded during and after 
trauma exposure depended  
on factors such as training 
and, at a deeper level,  
early childhood experiences 
that promoted healthy stress 
response, emotion regula-
tion systems and personal 
resources like resilience  
and appropriate coping,”  
she said.

Silent sufferers of PTSD

The first glimpse of an 
interactive tool that could 
potentially pinpoint crocodile 
attack hotspots and assist 
researchers to better under-
stand the reasons for attacks 
has been launched as part of 
CrocBITE at CDU.

CrocBITE is a database 
detailing the hundreds of 
recorded attacks on humans 
by crocodilians worldwide 
each year. It is hoped the 
new visual feature will help 
users to create interactive 
graphics to view crocodile 
attack data as images that can 
reveal information about croc 
behaviour and risk of attacks.

The graphics are a collab-
oration between Dr Simon 
Pooley, from Imperial College 
London, CDU’s Research 
Institute for the Environment 
and Livelihoods (RIEL) 
Research Fellow Dr Adam 
Britton and University of 

A new view of croc attacks

Dr Adam Britton, improving understanding of why people are attacked by 
crocodiles.

He said the tool was still  
at a proof-of-concept stage, 
but showed what was  
possible. CrocBITE is funded 
by RIEL, and the visualisations 
by an Economic and Social 
Research Council / Imperial 
College London Impact 
Acceleration Award.

California student Brandon 
Sideleau.

“The images reveal the most 
likely places where attacks take 
place, how attacks are linked 
with climate and season, risk 
profiles of victims including age 
and gender groups, and also 
statistics about the crocodiles 
involved,” Dr Britton said.

Australia’s north, the University 
is centrally positioned to respond 
to the increased emphasis on 
the development of Northern 
Australia and in this way to 
demonstrate the impact and 
benefits of our research.

Research Income
During 2015 CDU’s research 
strengths attracted more than 
$53 million external research 
income. This included $38.2 mil-
lion in HERDC eligible research 
income from the public sector, 
industry, international sources 
and cooperative research cen-
tres (see table p41 for further 
details). Additionally, CDU 

received $14.3m in Research 
Block Grants from the Australian 
Government, including almost 
$2 million to support scholar-
ships for outstanding domestic 
and international higher degree 
research students.

Research Ethics and 
Integrity
The CDU Human Research Ethics 
Committee (CDU-HREC) pro-
vides for the requirements of the 
National Statement on Ethical 
Conduct in Human Research 
(2007) and the Australian Code 
for the Responsible Conduct of 
Research. It considers the ethical 
implications of research involving 

human participants conducted 
under the auspices of CDU 
staff and students. CDU reports 
annually to the National Health 
and Medical Research Council 
(NHMRC) on its compliance 
with the national guidelines and 
with Sections 95 and 95A of the 
Commonwealth Privacy Act 1988.

The CDU-HREC received 
105 new applications for ethical 
review in 2015, processed 164 
progress and final reports, and 
variation requests as part of 
mandated monitoring. 

The CDU Animal Ethics 
Committee (CDU-AEC) ensures 
that activities relating to the 
care and use of animals by the 
University are conducted in 
compliance with the Australian 
code for the care and use of 
animals for scientific pur-
poses, the Northern Territory 
Animal Welfare Act and the 
corresponding legislation in each 
State in which the University 

The impact of heat stress on 
productivity in Australia is 
costing the economy billions  
of dollars a year, with research 
suggesting office workers are 
also affected.

Lead researcher Dr Kerstin 
Zander, from the Northern 
Institute, said the study was 
the first to examine the eco-
nomic costs of heat stress in 
Australia and indicated that 
heat-stress-related reductions 
in workplace productivity 
were as high as for many 
chronic diseases.

The research team con-
ducted Australia-wide online 
surveys, asking participants 

about work-related stress and 
physical exertion. 

“Using data obtained  
from the survey, we have 
estimated the annual costs at 
AUD$728 per person across  
a representative sample of 1726 
employed Australians,”  
Dr Zander said. 

“If we look at the overall 
working population aged 
between 18 and 65, the burden 
to the economy can be estimated 
as $6.9 billion per year.”

Researcher Dr Kerstin Zander.

Heat stress ‘costs $6.9 billion a year’
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Australia’s first tropical 
savanna “SuperSite” has 
been created in the heart of 
Litchfield National Park in the 
Northern Territory to provide 
crucial data for understanding 
the global carbon cycle.

Scientists will use the 
facility to explore responses 
to environmental change 
in the tropical savanna, 
the dominant ecosystem of 
Northern Australia, including 
how fire impacts on carbon 
storage, energy exchange 
with the atmosphere and 
biodiversity.

At the $200,000 Litchfield 
Savanna SuperSite, a 
40-metre cyclone-proof tower 
anchored by 100 tonnes of 
concrete supports instruments 
measuring carbon, water 
vapour and energy exchanges 
in the ecosystem.

The Litchfield SuperSite 
is the latest site to join 
the Australian SuperSite 
Network as part of the 
Federal Government-funded 
Terrestrial Ecosystem 

Research Network, in which 
Charles Darwin University is  
a partner.

As Litchfield site leader, 
CDU environmental science 
Professor Lindsay Hutley said 
studies conducted at the site 
would provide critical infor-
mation on the global uptake  
of carbon.

“Savannas are the second 
largest tropical ecosystem 
in the world, representing 
12 per cent of the Earth’s 
land surface and 30 per cent 
of Australia,” he said. “The 
SuperSite will be a one-stop-
shop of ecosystem monitoring 
and we hope to conduct a 
wide range of environmental 
and remote sensing studies 
over time.”

Agencies involved in the 
Litchfield Savanna SuperSite 
include the Darwin Centre for 
Bushfire Research at CDU, 
Bushfires NT, NT Parks and 
Wildlife, NT Department of 
Land Resource Management, 
the University of Western 
Australia and CSIRO.

SuperSite to track ecosystem health

is registered. CDU-AEC also 
provides its services to external 
organisations including NT 
Government departments, 
the Museum and Art Gallery 
of the Northern Territory as 
well as individual independent 
researchers and small research 
organisations. At 31 December 
2015, CDU projects accounted 
for 40% of the total active proj-
ects overseen by the CDU-AEC.

The CDU-AEC reviewed 23 
new applications in 2015, four of 
which were renewals of ongoing 

projects. The CDU-AEC approved 
22 of these new applications, of 
which 59% were from external 
applicants. 

Higher Degree by 
Research Students:
CDU continues to provide 
high-quality training for its post-
graduate research students. In 
the 2015 Postgraduate Research 
Experience Questionnaire (PREQ) 
CDU’s former higher degree 
research students rated the 
University and their experience 

at or above the sector average 
in all of the seven PREQ scales: 
Supervision, thesis examination, 
goals and expectations, infra-
structure, intellectual climate, 
skill development and overall 
satisfaction. The CDU score on 
overall satisfaction scale is 91%, 
well above the sector average.

The number of higher degree 
research students remained 
steady, reflecting successful 
recruitment of new students 
following the graduation of  
a relatively large number 
of candidates in 2014. The 
Research and Research Training 
Committee of the Academic 
Board continued its major review 
of the research degree courses 
(Masters and Doctoral), resulting 
in a blueprint to modernise 
administrative processes and 
update academic support.

The CDU–NT Government 
Partnership Agreement
Providing a framework for a col-
laborative relationship between 
the NT Government and CDU, 
the Partnership uses the com-
bined resources of CDU and the 
NT Government, towards the 
attainment of shared goals in 
specific areas that are of benefit 
to the Territory.

Collaborative projects 
undertaken in 2015 that met 
NT Government education and 
research requirements include:

Demography research: The 
Northern Institute provided the 
NT Government with population 
estimates (of Tier 3 classi-
fied persons as defined by the 
Productivity Commission) for the 
roll out of the National Disability 
Insurance Scheme in the NT.  
The Productivity Commission 
defines Tier 3 as people aged 0 
to pension age with sufficient 

needs for disability support and 
early intervention.

Remote research teams: The 
Northern Institute engaged 
local Indigenous community 
researchers and their research 
organisations to mobilise, 
develop and evaluate the 
emerging links between local 
governance capacities and the 
NT Government.

Indigenous male research 
strategy: The Office of the Pro 
Vice-Chancellor, Indigenous 
Leadership received a grant 
to establish and deliver the 
Northern Territory Indigenous 
Male Research Strategy – Think 
Tank to scope and discuss 
Indigenous male research priori-
ties in the NT. It is envisaged this 
will support the development of 
a Northern Territory Indigenous 

Male Research Strategy for  
further consultation.

CDU–Department of Land 
Resource Management (DLRM): 
Researchers in the School of 
Engineering and IT are model-
ling and monitoring sea-level 
rise and saline intrusion on the 
NT’s Mary River and assessing 
the ability of eco-engineering 
solutions, such as mangrove 
propagation, to buffer the effects 
of climate change in the wet-dry 
tropics of the NT. CDU feeds the 
findings into catchment manage-
ment plans orchestrated by the 
NT Government’s DLRM.

RIEL has provided pollution 
management support to DLRM 
by determining the relationship 
between sediment type and 
potential metal release with 
reference to current sediment 
and water quality guidelines. 

The project will determine the 
capacity of mangrove sediments 
(land-ward and sea-ward parts) 
to absorb (sink) or release 
(source) metals in the laboratory. 
The project will address spe-
cific knowledge gaps related to 
sources, transport and sinks of 
metals in mangrove sediment, 
and provide new data com-
parable to data from previous 
research.

RIEL is supporting the NT 
Government Aquatic Health 
Unit (AHU), DLRM, to under-
stand mangrove monitoring 
that has been completed or 
in progress within Darwin 
Harbour. In combination with 
this, AHU aims to set priorities 
for future monitoring efforts. A 
mangrove mapping method will 
be developed to be applicable 
to multi-date data and will be 
tested and applied.

A PhD candidate’s research 
into the technical field of 
mechatronics has helped 
Australian engineers design 
the next generation of electric 
motor.

Dr Mark Thiele, who  
graduated this year, said the 
result of his analysis into  
“cogging torque” would help 
in the production of a quieter, 
more efficient and cheaper 
electric motor.

“These are motors that 
are used in pool pumps and 
air-conditioning systems,”  
he said.

Dr Thiele said he used 
Finite Element Analysis 
software and laboratory 

experiments on production 
motors to prove a new mathe-
matical method to predict the 
source of cogging in yet-to-be 
manufactured motors.

Engineer plays part in motor efficiency

Cogging, which generally 
takes the form of noise or 
vibration, is caused by an 
imbalance or imperfection 
among the moving parts in a 
brushless direct current motor.

“The new method is six 
million times faster than finite 
element analysis alone,” he 
said. “Our method allows us 
to determine which part of the 
motor contributes most to the 
cogging: the rotor, the stator, 
the magnets or a misalignment 
among the parts.

“With this information, 
motor design engineers can 
focus on the parts of the motor 
that are causing the biggest 
problems,” he said.

Dr Mark Thiele ... “Six million times 
faster”.
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Experts in sports science 
and psychology at CDU have 
helped Northern Territory 
cyclists achieve their best in 
this year’s NT Gran Fondo.

Covering 120km from the 
Darwin Waterfront to Berry 
Springs and back, the NT 
Gran Fondo (Italian for “Big 
Endurance”) pushed the  
physical and mental limits  
of the athletes.

On hand to help them 
deal with pain and boost 
their mental and physical 

endurance was Lecturer in 
Exercise and Sports Science  
Dr Daniel Gahreman, and  
Senior Lecturer in Psychology  
Dr Simon Moss, who held  
workshops for cyclists at the 
two-day event.

The scientists worked with 
sub-elite and elite cyclists to 
test and gather information on 
factors that affect performance, 
including body composition, lung 
capacity, blood lactate levels, 
body core temperature, blood 
haemoglobin and haematocrit, 

Cyclist Sonia Walker gets some physical and mental endurance tips from Dr Daniel Gahreman and Dr Simon Moss.

Scientists prep cyclists for long haul

water consumption and 
weight loss due to sweating.

To support this physical 
testing, Dr Moss gave cyclists 
mental exercises designed  
to improve concentration and 
withstand pain, and moni-
tored the results. 

The researchers are now 
working with professional 
cycling, football, hockey and 
swimming clubs for research 
purposes and to improve 
athletes and local teams’ 
performances.

Research outputs  
2011-2015

Research income 
2011-2015

1. 2015 publications figures are provisional HERDC-equivalent point estimates at March 2016

1. 2011 and 2014 research income figures, particularly in Category 2, included adjustments for Menzies income not reported in the previous year. 
2. 2015 income figures are pre-audit figures and may alter slightly prior to submission
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Secure Future

Goal A robust regional 
multi-sector university 
acknowledged for the 
quality and excellence 
of its staff, programs, 
management and 
governance, and 
strong partnerships.

T
he University continued 
to harness technology 
to deliver greater 
efficiencies across the 

organisation during 2015.

Structural Adjustment Fund 
(SAF) Project: This year saw 
the completion of many of the 
projects initiated under the 
SAF project that was approved 
in 2012. The highlights of the 
$23.3m SAF Project were seen 
in the establishment of facilities, 
services and the creation of new 
capabilities. The SAF Project 
supported these through project 
management, project support, 
operational funding and/or 
project funding. The highlights  
of the SAF Project were:

•• �The establishment of CDU 
Melbourne and CDU Sydney

•• �The improvement of CDU 
infrastructure facilities and 
services in the fit out of the 
new data centre and the core 
network equipment upgrades

•• �The fit out and establishment 
of the Innovative Media 
Production Studio (IMPS)

•• �The award-winning “Charles 
Darwin, Evolution and 
Tropical Australia” MOOC

•• �New Teaching Spaces Audio 
Visual Technology

•• �The Australian Qualifications 
Framework review of all 
CDU HE courses

•• �The implementation of the 
Curriculum Approvals and 
Publication System (CAPS) 

•• �The development of 
Marketing and Planning 
tools; Student Load 
Forecasting, Data warehouse 
and other reporting systems

•• �The transition of systems, 
teams and capabilities from 
project status to operational. 
The main ones are: customer 
relationship management, 
IMPS, CDU Melbourne, 
CDU Sydney and interstate 
marketing.

While these are the highlights 
of the achievements there are 
many other outcomes from the 
SAF project that contributed  
to CDU’s competitiveness in the 
HE sector.

University Operations
Office of Facilities Management 
(OFM): Major achievements 
this year were made in imple-
menting more effective and 
related processes. OFM con-
tinued to expand CDU’s solar 
energy capability. Along with a 
new solar array on the Trades’ 
facility, additional arrays were 
constructed at Red 9 and Purple 
10. These facilities are now  
generating electricity direct  
into CDU’s energy network and 
creating cost savings. 

This year saw increased 
activity in grounds management 
at Casuarina Campus. New irri-
gation works were undertaken 
as well as a focus on tree mainte-
nance and landscaping along 
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University Drive North. The new 
grounds complex was completed 
with the construction of a shade 
house for propagation and man-
agement of plant and tree stock.

Early in the year a new 
cleaning agreement was estab-
lished with GJK cleaners. This 
followed a competitive tender 
process. This procurement 
has resulted in a considerable 
saving compared with previous 
agreements.

Office of Library Services: In 
November, Ruth Quinn retired 
from her role as Director 
bringing to an end her asso-
ciation with the University of 
more than 29 years. The Office 
of Library Services conducted a 

client satisfaction survey in May, 
which placed CDU Library in 
the top 25% when benchmarked 
against other institutions in 
Australia and New Zealand.

The new Sydney centre 
librarian position made a signif-
icant contribution to the student 
experience at that centre. There 
also was a significant increase  
in the use of eSpace, CDU’s insti-
tutional repository with 300 new 
open access publication records 
added as well as 17 new dataset 
records. 

Development of the Library 
courtyard on Level 1 at the 
Casuarina campus was well 
received. Further development of 
the Arafura Research Archive at 
Casuarina and the establishment 

Portal providing single-sign-on 
access to corporate and student 
IT services as well as contempo-
rary user interfaces to core  
IT services.

Office of Human Resource 
Services (HRS): In addition to 
the day-to-day responsibilities of 
the three HRS teams involved,  
a major HR system upgrade was 
managed successfully during 
a six-month period. This was 
required for continuous improve-
ment to and update of Alesco. 
Concurrently, an entirely new 

look and feel for StaffOnline was 
delivered, providing a contempo-
rary service to staff that allows 
them to directly and effectively 
manage personal, payroll and 
leave information.

A market leading HR 
on-boarding procedure was 
implemented for new staff 
joining CDU. Using SMS alerts 
and emails, new employees 
download and review their 
contract, then complete a ques-
tionnaire that automatically 
generates standard and other  
HR forms required for their  
particular circumstance. 

Work Health and Safety 
coordinates the annual flu vac-
cinations and this year 348 staff 
received free flu vaccinations in 
March and April.

HRS was involved in two of 
the Vice-Chancellor’s 90-day proj-
ects: driving better administrative 
efficiencies, and investigating 
gamification as an incentive to 
the current performance develop-
ment and review system.  

In April, and with the 
important input of key personnel 
from ITMS and Marketing, HRS 
launched the popular continuing 
education and professional 
development learning tool, 
Lynda.com to staff of CDU.

In October a review of HRS 
was undertaken and following 
on from the report recommen-
dations, a restructure began to 
rebrand the Office of People and 
Capability.

Office of Major Projects: During 
this year Purple 4 was re-pur-
posed for Uniprint. Complete 
conceptual and construction 
documentation for the re-pur-
posing of Purple 3 for ITMS has 
been undertaken. Construction 
works for Orange 3 “University 
Theatre” are in their final stages.

of the Kevin Sherlock Collection 
at Palmerston campus continues.

Office of Information 
Technology Management and 
Support (ITMS): Incorporating 
a formal program management 
methodology, ITMS has focused 
on the key areas of flexibility, 
sustainability and innovation 
to provide an improved IT user 
experience, unifying the sys-
tems for both on-campus and 
off-campus. 

An ever increasing range 
of seamlessly integrated 
on-premise, cloud-based and 
hybrid IT solutions has been 
released and continues to  
be developed, with the introduc-
tion of the Enterprise  

This year saw the opening 
of the Menzies building on 
Casuarina campus and the 
refurbishment of the Menzies 
facilities at Royal Darwin 
Hospital campus.

Office of Student 
Administration and Equity 
Services (SAES): Re-engineering 
of the examination process,  
with benefits to students and 
staff, was undertaken. Phase 
2 of the CAPS build has been 
completed. SAES carried out 
cross-training across Student 
Central sites (Casuarina, 
Waterfront and Alice Springs) 
creating more versatile and 
engaged teams.

Grants open doors 
internationally 

More than 120 Charles 
Darwin University students 
will receive funding to visit 
and study in South-east Asia 
as part of the New Colombo 
Plan Mobility grants.

The Australian 
Government has offered 
CDU $455,000 for six  
student mobility projects 
over the next three years. 
Some 57 CDU students will 
benefit from the funding 
next year, allowing them to 
undertake short-term proj-
ects in law, engineering, the 
environment and humani-
tarian studies in Indonesia, 
Hong Kong, the Philippines 
and India.

Even greater numbers 
of students will be able to 
participate in the ensuing 
two years of the program. 
CDU also has won an addi-
tional $50,000 grant that 
will allow 10 students to 
undertake language studies 
in Indonesia in 2016.

CDU graduates get 
the jobs

The results of an annual 
survey have placed Charles 
Darwin University graduate 
employment at just under 
80 per cent, 10 per cent 
higher than the national 
average.

The Australian Graduate 
Survey results from 
Graduate Careers Australia 
showed that the proportion 
of 2014−2015 Bachelor 
graduates in full-time work 
has risen nationally from 
68.1 per cent to 68.8 per 
cent.  For CDU this figure  
is significantly higher, at 
79.8 per cent.

The overall average 
salary for CDU gradu-
ates also was up 5.4 per 
cent on 2014, with the 
average starting salary for 
CDU graduates in 2015 at 
$53,645.

Prime Minister Malcolm 
Turnbull officially opened 
the Menzies School of Health 
Research’s (Menzies) new 
facilities in Darwin valued at 
$47 million in November.

The project included a new 
research and administration 
building on Casuarina campus 

PM opens Menzies facilities

Menzies School of Health Research Director Professor Alan Cass, CDU Vice-
Chancellor Professor Simon Maddocks, Northern Territory Minister for Health John 
Elferink and the Honourable Malcolm Turnbull, Prime Minister of Australia.

with teaching facilities, clinical 
space, a conference room and 
offices.

Significant works also were 
carried out at Menzies’ John 
Mathews Building located on  
the Royal Darwin Hospital 
campus. The works included 
expansion of the research 

laboratory and additional 
clinical and office space. 

Menzies research has 
significantly reduced mortality 
from malaria across the  
Asia-Pacific, driven improve-
ments in care of diabetes  
in pregnancy and has 
improved health outcomes  
for Indigenous Australians 
with cancer. 

Menzies Director 
Professor Alan Cass said the 
Commonwealth and Territory 
investment would reap 
profound benefits. “The new 
facilities give Menzies a solid 
foundation to enhance and 
expand our multidisciplinary 
research teams,” Professor 
Cass said.

The building project 
was jointly funded by the 
Australian Government, 
the Northern Territory 
Government and CDU.

44     CDU Annual Report 2015 CDU Annual Report 2015     45



Office of Marketing and 
Planning (OMP): The brand 
research study was completed in 
October and a new HE adver-
tising campaign was launched. 
The campaign generated pos-
itive feedback from internal 
and external stakeholders and, 
even more importantly, resulted 
in some very positive results. 
Since its launch there was a 65% 
increase in landing page views 
year-on-year (YOY); a 400% 
increase in registrations YOY; and 
the next step is for the flow to 
continue through to applications. 

Further integration of the 
University’s primary Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) 
system, RightNow, to support 
future and current student activ-
ities in a range of departments 
took place. OMP developed and 
launched the University online 

reporting portal, delivering the 
first series of regular snapshot 
reports aimed at providing 
access to up-to-date, accurate 
and concise information for evi-
dence-based decision-making.

Business enterprises
Uniprint: The printery’s reloca-
tion from Green 1 and opening 
into a new factory in Purple 4 
happened mid-year. There has 
been a 250% increase in NT 
Government work that equates 
to a 230% increase in income 
from 2014–2015. The printery 
acquired new machinery that 
has increased capacity, quality 
and production times. Three 
staff members reached employ-
ment milestones, with two staff 
reaching 20 years of service 
with CDU and one staff member 
reaching 15 years.

International House Darwin 
(IHD): IHD held a successful 
30th birthday celebration in 
September. Guest speaker at the 
event was Martin Heskins, the 
first manager of the complex. 
IHD has supported CDU students 
through the provision of afford-
able on campus housing for 30 
years. It maintained 99–100% 
occupancy for long-term stays in 
Semester 2 despite an increas-
ingly competitive rental market. 
IHD offered more than 200 
events/activities through its 
iGrow program for residents in 
Semester 2. In December, Dr 
Philip Mosely was welcomed as 
the new Manager of CDU Student 
Accommodation.

Child Care Centre: The Child 
Care Centre was awarded 
government funding over 

three years for staff develop-
ment training, which saw staff 
travelling interstate to attend 
staff development sessions in 
Brisbane, Melbourne and Perth, 
previously unaffordable for the 
Centre. Maintaining quality ser-
vice continued with the retention 
of staff whose tenure ranges 
from eight to 20 years.

CDU Bookshop: The bookshop 
despatched 30,000 textbooks to 
students around Australia and 
overseas despite a declining 
market being experienced by 
university bookshops Australia 
wide. A new e-commerce store 
was completed with more than 
$1m in sales in nine months 
being generated. 

Territory FM: The University’s 
community radio station, which 
broadcasts from premises on 
Casuarina campus, continued 
the positive financial turn-
around that began in 2014. The 
radio station recorded only a 
minor deficit in 2015, which 
was budgeted for. TFM engaged 
widely with the Darwin and 
Palmerston communities through 
outside broadcasts at some of 
the region’s biggest events and 
provided on-air support for com-
munity groups and charities.

CDU–NT Government 
Partnership
As well as undertaking a 
research program through the 
partnership, the agreement 
undertakes a range of mutually 
beneficial activities including:

CDU–NTG Engagement 
Activity: A forum for senior staff 
at CDU and NT Government 
was held in August to exchange 
information and identify 
opportunities to strengthen 

engagement between CDU 
and the NT Government. Five 
strategic planning stakeholder 
engagement workshops were 
held for NT Government  
agencies to comment on CDU 
and its future directions and  
provide information about how 
CDU might meet future NT 
Government research, training 
and education needs.

CDU–Department of 
Infrastructure (DoI): Recent 
investment in marine and land 
surveying equipment has seen 
School of Engineering and IT 
researchers provide the NT 
Government’s DoI with digital 
sea surface models for dredging 
purposes. This work has allowed 
the maintenance of safe, nav-
igable passage to, and from, 
Cullen Bay Marina and around 
Darwin’s sandbar into the open 
harbour. 

CDU–Department of Mines and 
Energy (DME): As one of the 
initial steps in the Rum Jungle 
mine site remediation works, 
CDU researchers have scanned 
the bathymetry of Pits I and II 
to provide DME with volumes of 
wastewater requiring treatment 
as part of the longer term plans 
to reinstate the site to its former 
condition.

From time to time DME 
requires additional engineering 
knowledge and expertise in 
specific fields, not ordinarily 
available within DME, for the 
purpose of assessing, managing 
and regulating particular mining 
activities.

The School of Engineering 
and Information Technology 
has staff with expertise in civil, 
chemical, mechanical and 
electrical engineering, and has 
access to a large network of 

CDU Melbourne 
celebrates first 
graduates

The University has cel-
ebrated the first group 
of students to complete 
their studies through the 
CDU Melbourne centre. 
Graduating with Bachelor 
and Master degrees in 
Commerce and Accounting, 
the students received CDU 
pins at a valedictory cere-
mony in Melbourne.

CDU and partner pro-
vider ATMC congratulated 
the students who were from 
China, India, Nepal and 
Vietnam. The University’s 
Pro Vice-Chancellor 
Academic, Professor Martin 
Carroll, said he was par-
ticularly impressed by the 
performance of the interna-
tional students.

“Not only did they meet 
the strenuous academic 
standards of Australian 
university education, but 
they also did so while suc-
cessfully navigating a social 
context that was unfamiliar 
to them,” he said.

experts with expertise in  
environmental science. School 
staff can apply their skills and 
expertise in the assessment  
of structural safety and security 
of mine infrastructure, and  
the environmental impact of 
contaminant movement on and 
off mining sites. 

A philanthropist with a 
lifelong passion for South-
east Asian art has been 
appointed Chair of Charles 
Darwin University’s Cultural 
Collections Advisory Board.

Prominent South 
Australian barrister and 
renowned collector of South-
east Asian art Michael Abbott 
AO QC has had a close asso-
ciation with the Northern 
Territory for the past three 
decades and has a deep 
interest in Indigenous art.

His donations to the 
Museum and Art Gallery of 
the Northern Territory have 
significantly enhanced their 
collections of Timor textiles, 
Indian trade cloths and  
South-east Asian ceramics.

He has also contributed sub-
stantially to the establishment 
of the Asian and Indian ceramic 
and textile collections of the 
National Gallery of Australia,  
the National Gallery of Victoria 
and particularly the Art Gallery 
of South Australia.

Mr Abbott is recognised 
for improving Australia-Asia 
relations, having served as 
inaugural chair of the Australia-
Malaysian Institute and chair of 
the Australia-India Council, and 
remains committed to improving 
Australians’ cultural under-
standing of South-east Asia.

The Cultural Collections 
Advisory Board provides stra-
tegic advice to the University in 
relation to its cultural collections, 
including the CDU Art Collection, 

Michael Abbott AO QC, appointed 
Chair of CDU’s Cultural Collections 
Advisory Board.

Top silk heads arts board

which contains more than 
2500 items from Northern 
Australia and South-east Asia.
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Summary 
of Financial 
Statements

CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Income statement
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Consolidated Parent Entity

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Income from continuing operations

Australian Government financial assistance

Australian Government grants  99,624  121,746  82,272  100,498 

HELP - Australian Government payments  24,061  24,851  24,061  24,851 

NT Government financial assistance  68,445  64,543  63,805  60,203 

HECS - HELP student payments  5,342  5,949  5,347  5,949 

Fees and charges  45,289  34,282  43,969  34,046 

Investment revenue and income  4,001  4,491  3,135  3,232 

Consultancy and contracts  19,875  24,909  13,414  15,760 

Other revenue  32,582  56,339  32,701  55,342 

Gains on disposal of assets  8,636  2,292  -   2,292 

Share of profit or loss on investments accounted for using  
the equity method

 148  112 148  112 

Total income from continuing operations  308,003  339,514  268,852  302,285 

Expenses from continuing operations

Employee-related expenses  177,040  171,395  154,034  147,703 

Depreciation and amortisation  25,622  21,353  23,256  20,714 

Repairs and maintenance  7,741  7,195  7,671  6,474 

Impairment of assets  894  464  894  464 

Losses on disposal of assets  -   3,821  265  -  

Other expenses  110,602  126,328  104,880  119,916 

Total expenses from continuing operations  321,899  330,556  291,000  295,271 

Net result before income tax (13,896)  8,958 (22,148)  7,014 

Income tax expense  -   -   -   -  

Net result after income tax for the period (13,896)  8,958 (22,148)  7,014 

Net result attributable to members (13,896)  8,958 (22,148)  7,014 

Net result attributable to members from continuing operations (13,896)  8,958 (22,148)  7,014 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of comprehensive income
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of financial position
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Consolidated Parent Entity

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Net result after income tax for the period  (13,896)  8,958  (22,148)  7,014 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss

Gain/(loss) on value of available for sale financial assets, net of tax 4 24  -   -  

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Gain/(loss) on revaluation on land and buildings, net of tax  660  18,658  660  18,658 

Total other comprehensive income  664  18,682  660  18,658 

Total comprehensive income  (13,232)  27,640  (21,488)  25,672 

Total comprehensive income attributable to members  (13,232)  27,640  (21,488)  25,672 

Total comprehensive income attributable to members from  
continuing operations

 (13,232)  27,640  (21,488)  25,672 

Consolidated Parent Entity

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents  108,190  107,343  101,711  77,851 

Receivables  6,085  21,543  4,800  19,130 

Inventories  1,161  1,197  1,161  1,197 

Other financial assets  844  1,985  824  776 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale  16,244  16,976  16,244  16,976 

Other non-financial assets  5,206  5,181  5,066  4,915 

Total current assets  137,730  154,225  129,806  120,845 

Non-current assets

Biological assets  718  2,135  718  2,135 

Investment property  285  300  -   -  

Investments accounted for using the equity method  576  428  576  428 

Other financial assets  307  303  -   -  

Property, plant and equipment  492,254  504,604  489,348  494,245 

Intangible assets  32,239  16,395  521  529 

Total non-current assets  526,379  524,165  491,163  497,337 

Total assets  664,109  678,390  620,969  618,182 

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables  5,978  8,570  9,641  9,353 

Borrowings  2,000  2,000  2,000  2,000 

Provisions  25,866  24,718  22,396  21,455 

Other liabilities  14,481  12,446  36,845  12,126 

Total current liabilities  48,325  47,734  70,882  44,934 

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings  2,000  4,000  2,000  4,000 

Provisions  2,722  2,362  2,241  2,055 

Total non-current liabilities  4,722  6,362  4,241  6,055 

Total liabilities  53,047  54,096  75,123  50,989 

Net assets  611,062  624,294  545,846  567,193 

EQUITY

Reserves  244,970  250,969  238,708  243,969 

Restricted funds  28,968  40,683  28,968  40,683 

Retained earnings  337,124  332,642  278,170  282,541 

Total equity  611,062  624,294  545,846  567,193 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of changes in equity
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Statement of cash flows
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Restricted 
Funds
$’000

Reserves
$’000

Retained 
Earnings

$’000
Total

$’000

Consolidated

Balance at 1 January 2014  39,856  235,581  321,371  596,808 

Net result  -   -   8,958  8,958 

Gain/(loss) on revaluation on land and buildings, net of tax  -   18,658  -   18,658 

Gain/(loss) on value of available for sale financial assets, net of tax  -   24  -   24 

Total comprehensive income  -   18,682  8,958  27,640 

Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves  827  -  (827)  -  

Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves  -  (3,294)  3,294  -  

Transfers from retained earnings  -   -  (154) (154)

Balance at 31 December 2014  40,683  250,969  332,642  624,294 

Balance at 1 January 2015  40,683  250,969  332,642  624,294 

Net result  -   -   (13,896)  (13,896)

Gain/(loss) on revaluation on land and buildings, net of tax  -   660  -   660 

Gain/(loss) on value of available for sale financial assets, net of tax  -   4  -   4 

Total comprehensive income  -   664  (13,896)  (13,232)

Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves  (11,715)  -   11,715  -  

Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves  -  (6,663) 6,663  -  

Transfers from retained earnings  -   -   -   -  

Balance at 31 December 2015  28,968  244,970  337,124  611,062 

Parent

Balance at 1 January 2014  39,856  225,429  260,472  525,757 

Net result  -   -   7,014  7,014 

Other comprehensive income  -   18,658  -   18,658 

Total comprehensive income  -   18,658  7,014  25,672 

Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves  827  -  (827)  -  

Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves  -  (118)  118  -  

Transfers from retained earnings  -   -  (154) (154)

Distribution from Subsidiaries  -   -   15,918  15,918 

Balance at 31 December 2014  40,683  243,969  282,541  567,193 

Balance at 1 January 2015  40,683  243,969  282,541  567,193 

Net result  -   -   (22,148)  (22,148)

Other comprehensive income  -   660  -   660 

Total comprehensive income  -   660  (22,148)  (21,488)

Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves  (11,715)  -   11,715  -  

Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves  -  (5,921)  5,921  -  

Distribution from Subsidiaries  -   -   141  141 

Balance at 31 December 2015  28,968  238,708  278,170  545,846 

Consolidated Parent Entity

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

2015
$’000

2014
$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Australian Government Grants  128,191  142,391  108,000  123,682 

OS-HELP (net)  (15)  26  (15)  26 

Superannuation Supplementation  29  36  29  36 

State Government Grants  82,515  62,929  77,875  58,533 

HECS-HELP student payments  5,342  5,949  5,347  5,949 

Receipts from student fees and other customers  96,880  141,700  110,827  116,030 

Interest received  3,957  4,525  3,087  3,241 

Proceeds from sale of biological assets  1,851  1,240  1,851  1,240 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (296,817) (328,637)  (264,059) (286,487)

Net cash provided by operating activities  21,933  30,159  42,942  22,250 

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  1,679  5,218  1,679  5,199 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  (20,765) (46,838)  (18,761) (35,222)

Payments for biological assets  -  (44)  -  (44)

Other investing outflows  -  (110)  -  (110)

Net cash used in investing activities  (19,086) (41,774)  (17,082) (30,177)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings  (2,000) (12,000)  (2,000)  (12,000)

Net cash used in financing activities  (2,000) (12,000)  (2,000)  (12,000)

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  847 (23,615)  23,860 (19,927)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  107,343  130,958  77,851  97,778 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year  108,190  107,343  101,711  77,851 
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Governance Council members

The 
Honourable 
Sally Thomas 
AC
Chancellor

The Honourable Sally Thomas  
AC has held the elected position 
of Chancellor since January  
2010. She had been Deputy 
Chancellor since the foundation  
of the University in 2003. She 
was a Judge of the Supreme 
Court of the Northern Territory 
until her retirement in August 
2009 and later became the 
Administrator of the Northern 
Territory. The Chancellor  
Chairs the Council, Executive 
Committee of Council, the 
Nominations, Honorary Awards 
and Legislation Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee, 
and is a member of all other 
standing committees. 

Mr Richard 
Ryan AO
Deputy Chancellor

Mr Ryan 
became an 

appointed member of Council 
in 2009 and has held the posi-
tion of Deputy Chancellor since 
January 2010. Mr Ryan was 
the inaugural Chancellor of the 
University. He is a professional 
company director of several 
public companies and statu-
tory bodies. Mr Ryan sits on the 
Executive Committee of Council, 
and is Chair of the Finance and 
Infrastructure Development 
Committee, and a member of the 
Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Nominations, Honorary Awards 
and Legislation Committee, and 
the Remuneration Committee.

Mr Alan Morris
Mr Morris 
became an 
appointed 
member 
of Council 

in 2006. He has held many 
senior government positions 
including Chief Executive of the 
Department of the Chief Minister 
of the Northern Territory and 
Chair of the Commonwealth 
Grants Commission. He is Chair 
of the University’s Audit and 
Risk Committee and sits on 
the Finance and Infrastructure 
Development Committee.

Professor 
Simon 
Maddocks 
Vice-Chancellor

Professor 
Maddocks was appointed Vice-
Chancellor in 2014 and took up 
the position on 24 March. He sits 
on the Executive Committee of 
Council, the Nominations, Honorary 
Awards and Legislation Committee, 
the Finance and Infrastructure 
Development Committee, the 
Audit and Risk Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and  
the Academic Board. 

Associate 
Professor Steve 
Shanahan
Chair, Academic 
Board 

Associate Professor Shanahan is 
the elected Chair of the Academic 
Board and assumed the designated 
position as a member of Council 
on 1 July 2013. He sits on the 
Nominations, Honorary Awards 
and Legislation Committee.

Professor  
Mary O’Kane
Professor 
O’Kane became 
a member of 

Council in 2009. She was formerly 
Vice-Chancellor of the University 
of Adelaide. Professor O’Kane is 
the Chief Scientist of New South 
Wales. She sits on the Audit and 
Risk Committee.

Mrs Jodie 
Ryan
Mrs Ryan 
became an 
appointed 

member of Council in 2014.  
She is the Under Treasurer of  
the Northern Territory and in that 
capacity Chair of the Treasury 
Corporation Advisory Board and 
has responsibilities in a range 
of highlevel interagency com-
mittees including the Executive 
Remuneration Review Panel and 
the Infrastructure Subcommittee. 
Mrs Ryan is a graduate of the 
University. She sits on the Finance 
and Infrastructure Development 
Committee. 
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Meetings

  Council Executive FIDC ARC NHAL Tender Remuneration 

A B A B A B A B A B A B A B

Sally Thomas AC 6 6 4 4 6 7 3 4 8 8 8 12    

Simon Maddocks 6 6 4 4 7 7 4 4 8 8        

Steve Shanahan 5 6             7 8        

Ken Davies 6 6                        

Matthew Gardiner 0 1         0 1            

Alan Morris 3 3     5 7 4 4            

Mary O’Kane AO 0 1         1 1            

Jodie Ryan 3 6     2 7                

Richard Ryan AO 5 6 4 4 6 7 2 4 7 8        

Justin Busse 2 2                        

Keith Christian 6 6                        

Kingsley Brenton 6 6                        

Jeffery Gaden 3 6                        

Louise King 4 4                        

Lorenzo Strano 2 2                        

Judith Whitworth AC 2 2                        

Legend

A = Attended
B = Number eligible to attend

Mr Ken Davies 
Mr Davies 
became an 
appointed 
member of 

Council in 2013. Mr Davies is 
Chief Executive of the Department 
of Education. Before this role he 
held the roles of Chief Executive 
for the Department of Lands, 
Planning and Environment, 
the Department of Housing, 
Local Government and Regional 
Services and as Deputy Chief 
Executive of the Department of 
the Chief Minister.

Mr Lorenzo 
Strano OAM
Mr Strano 
became an 
appointed 

member of Council in 2015. 
Mr Strano is the Director of 
the Northern Territory Office 
of the Department of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade. Before this, 
he served overseas as Deputy 
Consul-General at the Australian 
Consulate-General in Chicago; 
First Secretary and Consul at  
the Australian Embassy in Rome; 
Third Secretary and later Second 
Secretary at the Australian  
High Commission in Apia and 
Vice-Consul at the Australian 
Embassy in Vientiane.

Professor 
Judith 
Whitworth AC
Professor 
Whitworth 

became an appointed member 
of Council in 2015. Professor 
Whitworth is recognised inter-
nationally as an expert in the 
areas of kidney function and 
blood pressure research. Over a 
career spanning almost 50 years 
Professor Whitworth held posi-
tions in various hospitals, medical 
research institutes and universi-
ties across Australia, in France 
and the United Kingdom.

Mr Justin 
Busse
Mr Busse joined 
Council in 2011 

as the elected member from the 
VET academic staff. He resigned 
in April 2015.

Ms Louise 
King
Ms King was 
appointed to 
Council in June 

2015 following the resignation 
of Mr Justin Busse. Ms King 
holds the elected position from 
the Vocational Education and 
Training academic staff and is the 
Team Leader – VET Development 
in the Office of Learning and 
Teaching. 

Professor 
Keith Christian
Professor 
Christian 
became an 

elected member of Council in 
2014. He was elected from the 
HE academic staff and is the 
Professor of Zoology. His research 
interests include: physiology 
and ecology in general, with 
emphasis on the physiological 
and behavioural adaptations  
of animals in response to the 
physical environment. 

Mr Kingsley 
Brenton 
Mr Brenton 
became an 
elected member 

of Council in 2013. He was 
elected from the undergraduate 
students and is undertaking  
a Bachelor of Laws.

Mr Jeffery 
Gaden
Mr Gaden 
became an 
elected member 

of Council in 2015. He was 
elected from the postgraduate  
students and is undertaking 
studies towards a Master of 
Business Administration.

Mr Matthew 
Gardiner
Mr Gardiner 
became a 
member of 

Council in 2009. He is a grad-
uate of the University and is 
the Northern Territory Branch 
Secretary and Secretary of 
United Voice. Mr Gardiner sits 
on the CDU Amenities Limited 
Board and the Audit and Risk 
Committee.

56     CDU Annual Report 2015 CDU Annual Report 2015     57



University 
Governance 
and Executive 
Management
Charles Darwin University 
Council is the governing body 
of the institution. Led by the 
Chancellor, Council governs the 
affairs of the University under 
the Charles Darwin University 
Act 2003.

Seven standing committees 
assist Council in carrying out its 
responsibilities:

•• �Executive Committee acts 
on behalf of Council as 
required on matters between 
regular meetings of Council 
that cannot be deferred until 
the next scheduled meeting.

•• �Academic Board is the 
principal academic body 
assisting the Council and 
Vice-Chancellor in all matters 
relating to learning, teaching 
and assessment, and the 
assurance and enhancement 
of the academic quality and 
standards of all programs 
and awards.

•• �Finance and Infrastructure 
Development Committee 
is responsible for assessing 
and advising Council on the 
University’s financial posi-
tion and performance, its 
assets and liabilities, and its 
strategies relating to income, 
budget allocations and  
capital expenditure. 

•• �Audit and Risk Committee 
assists the Council in exer-
cising governance, due care, 
diligence and skill in relation 
to discharging the following 
broad duties: financial 
reporting, internal controls 
and risk management, 

external audit, internal  
audit, and controlled and 
associated entities.

•• �Tender Committee is 
responsible for reviewing 
tenders, expressions of 
interest, certificates of 
exemption or other means  
of procurement in excess 
of the University’s $10,000 
procurement threshold.

•• �Nominations, Honorary 
Awards and Legislation 
Committee oversees 
nominations for Council 
membership, provides advice 
in relation to honorary 
awards, and reviews all  
proposed legislation.

•• �Remuneration Committee 
assists Council in the  
determination of the  
remuneration package and 
performance of the Vice-
Chancellor. It also provides 
advice to the Vice-Chancellor 
on the remuneration package 
of Executive level staff.

The Council delegates the 
implementation of University 
strategic direction and the man-
agement of day-to-day operations 
to the Vice-Chancellor, supported 
in this role by an executive team.

University governance 
best practices
The University was deemed 
compliant with the National 
Governance Protocols as 
described in the Commonwealth 
Grant Scheme Guidelines under 
the Higher Education Support 
Act 2003. 

The affairs of the 
University are to be 
conducted by the Council
Council assumes stewardship 
of the University through a set 
of responsibilities set out in 

community interests and 
including financial and  
commercial expertise

•• �One person elected by  
and from the full-time HE 
academic staff

•• �One person elected by and 
from the full-time VET  
academic staff 

•• �One person elected by and 
from the undergraduate 
students, and 

•• �One person elected by and 
from the postgraduate 
students.

Education program for 
new Council members
The University has a profes-
sional development program for 
Council, with the objectives:

•• �To ensure new members of 
Council receive an induction 
program and appropriate 
core documentation and 
information (induction)

•• �To ensure members are 
informed about their duties 
generally, including the 
legislative and operational 
context of the University 
(provision of requisite  
background information)

•• �To assist members of Council 
to develop and maintain  
a skill set that fits the  
governance and strategic 
needs of the University 
(improvement in planning 
and governance), and

•• �To enhance organisational 
performance by improving 
the (minimum) skill set of all 
members, as well as instilling 
and enhancing specialist 
skills in those members who 
will lead committees and/or 
Council activities.

Activities include a formal 
induction program, opportunities 
to attend various conferences, 

events and local functions 
planned around the rotation of 
Council meetings between the 
University campuses.

Written Code of Conduct 
The University has a written 
Code of Conduct based on five 
ethical principles:

•• �Fairness: We value fairness, 
characterised by openness 
and impartiality in the con-
duct of our study and work, 
in decision-making, and in 
supporting and attracting 
staff and students.

•• �Respect: We value respectful 
and polite conduct. We 
demonstrate consideration 
and regard for the rights, 
privacy and feelings of others, 
and for the differences across 
cultural backgrounds, beliefs 
and abilities.

•• �Integrity and 
Professionalism: We value 
integrity and profession-
alism in our activities and 
across academic, teaching 
and management functions. 
Professionalism is charac-
terised by competency, skill, 
quality service delivery, and 
the expectation that staff 
will conduct their duties in 
a responsible and conscien-
tious manner. 

•• �Accountability: We value 
accountability and take 
responsibility for our actions 
within the scope of our 
work, study and community 
engagement.

•• �Equality of opportunity: We 
value equality of opportunity 
and celebrate diversity.

Overseeing risk 
management and 
internal audit
The University internally 
manages the coordination of 

Section 8 of the Charles Darwin 
University Act. Council works to:

•• �Monitor the performance of 
the Vice-Chancellor

•• �Approve the mission and 
strategic direction of the 
University

•• �Approve the budget and 
business plan of the 
University

•• �Oversee the management 
of the University, including 
approving significant com-
mercial activities

•• �Regularly review delegations 
under the Act

•• �Monitor systems of account-
ability implemented by the 
University

•• �Review management  
practices and performance  
of the University

•• �Oversee risk management 
across the University.

The composition of 
the Council must be 
appropriate to the duties 
and responsibilities

The University Council is 
based on a board-of-trustees 
model, with members appointed 
or elected acting solely in the 
interests of the University and 
not as delegates or representa-
tives of a particular constituency.

The structure, composition 
and size of Council are deter-
mined by the Charles Darwin 
University Act. Direction in the 
Act ensures Council is able to 
discharge its responsibilities  
and duties adequately via the 
following membership:

•• �Chancellor (appointed by  
the Council)

•• Vice-Chancellor
•• Chair of the Academic Board
•• �Eight members appointed 
by the Administrator of the 
Northern Territory, repre-
senting a broad range of 

activities related to the organ-
isational risk-management 
framework. The Audit and Risk 
Committee formally endorses the 
risk management framework, 
monitors activities and reports  
to Council. 

The University undertakes 
internal audit activities through 
both in-sourced and out-sourced 
means. The Audit and Risk 
Committee formally endorses 
an annual internal audit plan, 
monitors activities, and reports 
to Council.

Satisfactory health and 
safety measures in place
The University takes a proactive 
risk-management approach to 
workplace health and safety 
issues to meet the requirements 
of occupational health and  
safety policy and legislation.  
A dedicated health and safety 
team has day-to-day responsi-
bility for activities in this area, 
working with the University 
Health and Safety Committee, 
chaired by a member of the 
University executive. The Council 
reviews health and safety  
measures as part of the regular 
risk management and internal 
audit activities.

Freedom of Information
The University is committed to 
protecting the privacy of staff, 
students and other stakeholders. 
Its privacy statement contains 
the policy for managing personal 
information collected. This is 
part of the procedures in place 
to protect the privacy of personal 
information in accordance  
with the information pri-
vacy principles set out in the 
Information Act (Northern 
Territory). The University 
received seven information 
access requests in 2015.
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Honorary 
Awards Roll

Doctor of Arts
Mr Gawirrin Gumana HonDArts 

(2007) 

Mrs Judith Ann Weepers HonDArts 

(2007) 

Doctor of Economics
Mr Jose Sun-Say Yu HonDEc (1999) 

Dr Neil Conn AO HonDEc (2001) 

Doctor of Education
Mr Dato Seri Samy Vellu HonEdD 

(1998) 

Mrs Nancy Giese AO OBE HonEdD 

(2004) (Deceased) 

Emeritus Professor Ron McKay 

HonEdD (2006) (Deceased) 

Ms Raymattja Marika HonEdD 

(2007) (Deceased)

Mr Peter Plummer HonEdD (2009)

Ms Waymamba Yinamara 

Gaykamangu HonEdD (2014) 

Mr Kevin Davis AM HonEdD (2015)

Doctor of Laws
The Honourable Austin Asche AC 

QC HonLLD (1994) 

The Honourable Brian Martin AO 

MBE HonLLD (2007) 

The Honourable Dean Mildren RFD 

QC HonLLD (2013)

Doctor of Letters
Dr Harold Garner HonDLitt (1997) 

(Deceased)

Dr George Chaloupka HonDLitt 

(1998) 

Ms Miriam Rose Ungunmerr-

Baumann HonDLitt (2002) 

The Honourable Mr Ted Egan AO 

HonDLitt (2002) 

Mrs Patricia Miller AO HonDLitt 

(2006) 

Mr RG (Dick) Kimber AM HonDLitt 

(2006)

Mr John Ah Kit HonDLitt (2009)

Mr Thomas Calma HonDLitt (2010)

The Honourable Daryl Manzie 

HonDLitt (2010)

Professor Ian Chubb AC HonDLitt 

(2011)

Professor Judith Whitworth AC 

HonDLitt (2011)

Mr Kay Rala Xanana Gusmao 

(2012)

Mr Jack Thompson (2012)

Ms Elaine Läwurrpa Maypilama, 

HonDLitt (2013)

The Honourable Tom Harris, 

HonDLitt (2015)

Doctor of Science
Emeritus Professor James Thomson 

AM HonDSc (1992) (Deceased) 

Mrs Minna Sitzler AM (2003)

Mr Michael Martin OAM (2011)

Ms Angelica Poulos (2011)

Mr Ian Kew (2011)

Mr Earl James AM (2012)

Mrs Wendy James OAM (2012)

Professor David Parry (2012) 

Ms Elizabeth Martin OAM (2012)

Ms Diana Jarvis (2013)

Ms Terry Underwood AM (2013)

Mr Allan Garraway (2013)

Ms Veronica Dobson AM (2013)

Mr Neil Ross (2015)

Mr Richard Giles (2015)

Award of Emeritus 
Professor
Emeritus Professor Alan Powell

Emeritus Professor Ron McKay 

(Deceased)

Emeritus Professor Malcolm Nairn 

AM

Emeritus Professor James Thomson 

AM (Deceased)

Emeritus Professor David Carment 

AM (2008)

Emeritus Professor Mary Ann  

Bin-Sallik (2008)

Emeritus Professor Helen Garnett 

PSM (2009)

Emeritus Professor Charles Webb 

(2012)

Emeritus Professor Barney Glover 

(2015)

Award of Emeritus 
Chancellor
The Honourable Austin Asche AC 

QC HonLLD (2010)

Mrs Nancy Giese AO OBE HonEdD 

(2010) (Deceased)

Fr Frank Flynn AC HonDSc (1993) 

(Deceased) 

Dr John Hargrave AO MBE HonDSc 

(1995) 

Emeritus Professor Malcolm Nairn 

AM HonDSc (1999) 

Professor John Mathews HonDSc 

(2000)

Dr Len Notaras AM HonDSc (2008)

Dr Alan Walker HonDSc 

(Posthumously Awarded, 2008)

Dr Sadhana Mahajani HonDSc 

(2010)

Professor Jonathan Carapetis 

HonDSc (2013)

Professor Grahame Webb Honoris 

Causa (2013)

Professor John Wakerman Honoris 

Causa (2013)

Mr Jiro Okada HonDSc (2014)

Doctor of the University
General Peter Cosgrove AC MC 

HonDUni (2001) 

The Honourable Paul Everingham 

AO HonDUni (2003)

Dr Valerie Asche HonDUni (2007)

Companion of the 
University
Mr Keith Pennell OAM (2001) 

Mr Paul Sitzler OAM (2003) 

(Deceased) 
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Acronyms

ACIKE
Australian Centre for 
Indigenous Knowledges and 
Education

AFB
Away From Base Funding

AHU
Aquatic Health Unit

AILC
Australian Indigenous 
Leadership Centre

AQF
Australian Qualifications 
Framework

ARC
Australian Research Council

ATSI
Aboriginal and Torres Strait 
Islander

BIITE
Batchelor Institute of Indigenous 
Tertiary Education

CAPS
Curriculum Approvals and 
Publication System

CDU
Charles Darwin University

CDU-AEC
CDU Animal Ethics Committee

CDU-HREC
CDU Human Research Ethics 
Committee

CRC
Cooperative Research Centre

DLRM
Department of Land Resource 
Management

DME
Department of Mines and 
Energy

DoI
Department of Infrastructure

DPIF
Department of Primary Industry 
and Fisheries

ERA
Excellence of Research in 
Australia

HE
Higher Education

HEPPP
Higher Education Participation 
and Partnership Program

HEPPP-WCE
Higher Education Participation 
and Partnership Program 
– Whole of Community 
Engagement

ITMS
Information Technology 
Management and Support

LEBA
Faculty of Law, Education, 
Business and Arts

MOOC
Massive Open Online Course

NAIDOC
National Aboriginal and 
Islanders Day Observance 
Committee

NHMRC
National Health and Medical 
Research Council

NT
Northern Territory
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NTG
Northern Territory Government

OFM
Office of Facilities Management

OISS
Office of Indigenous Student 
Services

OISS-AS
Office of Indigenous Student 
Services – Academic Support

OMP
Office of Marketing and 
Planning

OPVCIL
Office of the Pro Vice-
Chancellor, Indigenous 
Leadership

PREQ
Postgraduate Research 
Experience Questionnaire

PWC
Power and Water Corporation

RIEL
Research Institute for the 
Environment and Livelihoods

SAF
Structural Adjustment Fund

SAES
Student Administration and 
Equity Services

THE
Times Higher Education

VET
Vocational Education and 
Training
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

The members of the Council of Charles Darwin University present their report on the consolidated entity and the entities it 
controlled as at the end of, or during, the year ended 31 December 2015. 

Members 

The following persons were members of the Council of Charles Darwin University during the whole of the year and up to the 
date of this report: 

Mr Neil Balnaves AO 

The Honourable Sally Thomas AC 

Professor Simon Maddocks 

Associate Professor Steve Shanahan 

Professor Mary O"Kane AC 

Mr Elliott McAdam 

Mr Richard Ryan AO 

Mr Alan Morris 

Mr Matthew Gardiner 

Mr Ken Davies 

Mr Justin Busse 

Mr Kingsley Brenton 

Professor Keith Christian 

Mr Jeffery Gaden 

Ms Jodie Ryan 

Ms Louise King 

Mr Lorenzo Strano OAM 

Professor Judith Whitworth AC 

appointed Chancellor on 22 April 2016 and continues in office at the signing date of 
this report 

appointed Chancellor on 1 January 2010 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 24 March 2014 and continues in office until the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 1 July 2013 and continues in office until the date of this 
report 
appointed a member on 25 January 2009 and continued in office until the expiry of 
the term on 28 February 2015 

appointed a member on 25 January 2009 and continued in office until his resignation 
on 28 February 2015 

appointed a member on 15 March 2010 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 25 January 2009 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 24 June 2009 and continued in office until his resignation on 
23 April2015 
appointed a member on 28 June 2013 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 
appointed a member on 1 January 2011 and continued in office until his resignation 
on 19 May 2015 

appointed a member on 1 January 2013 and continued in office until the expiry of the 
term on 31 December 2015 

appointed a member on 1 January 2014 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 1 January 2015 and continued in office until the expiry of the 
term on 31 December 2015 

appointed a member on 11 August 2014 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 11 August 2015 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 29 September 2015 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 

appointed a member on 29 September 2015 and continues in office at the date of this 
report 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

Meetings of Members 

The number of meetings of the members of the Council of Charles Darwin University and each council committee held during 
the year ended 31 Deo:::ember 2015, and the number of meetings attended by eacll member were: 

Meetin s of Committees 
Councll Finance and Audit and Nominations Executive 

Meetings Infrastructure Risk Honorary Awards 
Develooment and Legislation 

A B A B A B A B A B 
Sally Tllomas AC 6 6 6 7 3 4 8 B 4 4 
Simon Maddocks 6 6 7 7 4 4 8 8 4 4 
Steve Shanallan 5 6 . . . . 7 8 . . 
Mary O'Kane AC . 1 . . 1 1 . . . . 
Elliott McAdam . . . - - -

Richard Ryan AO 5 6 6 7 2 4 7 8 4 4 
Alan Morris 3 3 5 7 4 4 . . . . 
Matlhew Gardiner . 1 . . . 1 . . . . 
Ken Davies 6 6 . . . . . . . . 
Justin Busse 2 2 . . . . . . . . 
Kingsley Brenton 6 6 . . . . . . . . 
Keitll Christian 6 6 . . . . . . . . 
Jodie Ryan 3 6 2 7 . . . . . . 
Jeffery Gaden 3 6 - - . . . . . . 
Louise King 4 4 - . . . . . . . 
Lorenzo Strano 2 2 . . . . . . . . 
Judith Wllitworth AC 2 2 - - . 

A~ Number of meet!ngs attended 
B -Number of meetings held during the time the member held office or was a member of the committee during the year 

Principal Activities 

During the year, the principal continuing activities of the consolidated entity were: 
a) to undertake teaching activities tllat fulfil the requirements of an undergraduate and postgraduate university 

education and training and further education by way of a course of Instruction that Is, or Is preparatory to, a course 
of a kind relevant to a trade, technical or other vocational education; 

b) to undertake research (taking advantage of the human and physical resources of the University) and, where 
appropriate, to consider commercial exploitation of research that is undertaken; 

c) to undertake teaching activities to provide otller education and training as determined by the Council; 
d) to co-operate with other universities and witll institutloos of higher education, training and further education or 

research (whether within or outside of Australia): 
e) to liaise with industry and professional organisations, training committees and the community; 
f) to disseminate knowledge and advance skills and their practical application; 
g) to provide consultative and research services and facilities; 
h) to administer schemes of financial and other assistance for students of the University and persons studying or 

carrying out research at tile University Including, in the case of students, financial assistance in the form of loans; 
i) to provide library and other educational facilities that may be used by the public on conditions as determined by the 

Council; and 
j) to carry out any otfler function that Is conferred on it by or under the Charles Darwin University Act and any other 

Act. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

Review of Operations 

lfltroduction 

The University's high level of research intensity was reflected In the University achieving a ranking in the 251-300 category in 
the Times Higher Education World University Rankings 2015-2016. 

Capital Warks 
Construction was completed on the following capital projects during 2015: 

Casuarina Fire Mains Upgrade 
Ground Maintenance Bulldlng Upgrade 
Trade Training Facilities· Casuarina 

Construction commenced or was continuing on the following capital projects during 2015: 
Theatre Building Refurbishment 
Trade Training Facilities· Alice Springs 
Purple Precinct Refurbishment 

Palmerston Residential Estate 

The residential development, known as The Heights, Durack progressed during 2015. A total of 32B blocks were sold through to 
31 December 2015. The development will include a neighbourhood centre, parklands, wetland as well as a retirement village. 
Works will continue during 2016. 

Specific Purpose Grants 

Included in the 2015 consolidated deficit amount of $13.9 million Is capital funding received of $3.9 million that ts committed 
to fund specific capital projects in 2015 and future years. This funding was received as specific purpose grant funds from the 
Federal and the Northern Territory Governments. The bulk of this funding was for VET training facilities. 

Capital funding received In 2015 and recorded as revenue Included specific grants for the following projects: 
·$1M Trades Training Centre FacHity 
• SZ.9M Northern Territory Government Capital funding 

Significant Cha.nges In the State of Affairs 

No significant changes in the economic entity's state of affairs occurred during the financial year. 

Matters Subsequent to the End of the Financial Year 

Since the end of the financial year a portion of the VET funding provided from the Northern Territory Government has become 
subject to competitive tender. Apart from this there are no other matters or circumstances which significantly affected or 
may affect the operations of the economic entity, the results of those operations, or the state of the affairs of the economic 
entlty ln future financial years. 

Likely Developments and Expected Results of Opera.tlons 

Likely developments In the operations of the economic entity and the expected results of those operations in future financial 
years have not been included in this report as the inclusion of such information is likely to result in unreasonable preJudice to 
the economic entity. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
REPORT BY MEMBERS Of COUNCil 

E·nvlronmontal R•gulaUon 
The economk: entity ts subject to the foUowfng envtronmentat r~utat1ons: 

Gene Technotog:y Act 2000 (amended 2008) and Gene Technology R~gulatfoM 2001 
Gene Technology {Northem Tetr1tory) Act 2(1().4 
Radlatton Protection Act 2009 and Radiation ProtKtioo Regulations 2011 
Danserous Goods Act 2012 and Danaerous Goods Regutauons 2012 
Ttansport or Dangerous Goods by Rail and Road (National Uniform Leglstat1on} Act 2010 
Waste Disposal on Royal Oarwfn Hospital Campo$ Rtgul.\Uons 
Waste Management and PottuUonControlAct 2011 and Regu1atlons 
tntemauonal Aft Transpoft Associat-Ion (lATA) Danserous Goods ReautaUoos 

Insurance of ofUcors 

TM Group has insurance in place to iMure the members of the Couocn and Its Committees and the OUicers llgalnst c1atms arising 
from thctr lnVolVOfl,'IC'flt fn tne actlvttiM of the ec:onomk MIJ~y. The ccwer for Menzies Schoot of Health Resl!arch is ~S million and 
for- Charles Oarwfn University is $10 mHllon. 

Proce~dings on behalf o( the entity 
There were no material proceedings Ollf:Oine a£alnst the Universfty at the- end of 2015. 

This repoct ls made ln i.'ICcordanc~ with a rcsotutlon of the membeB or lhe Councrl. 

CHAIICELLOR VICE·CHANCELLOR 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT- 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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The financial report was authorised for issue by the members of Council of Charles Darwin University on 
13 May 2016. 



	 CDU FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  2015	 7

CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Not• Consolidated Parent Enti~ 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Income from continuing operations 
Australian Government financial assistance 

Australian Government grants 3 99,624 121,746 82,272 100,498 
HELP" Australian Government payments 3 24,061 24,851 24,061 24,851 

NT Government financial assistance 4 68,445 64,543 63,805 60,203 
HECS - HELP student payments 5,342 5,949 5,347 5.949 
Fees and charges 5 45,289 34.282 43,969 34,046 
Investment revenue and income 6 4,001 4,491 3,135 3,232 
Consultancy and contracts 7 19,875 24,909 13,414 15,760 
Other revenue 8 32,582 56,339 32,701 55,342 
Gains on disposal of assets 29 8,636 2,292 2,292 
Share of profit or loss on investments accounted for 
using the equity method 22 148 112 148 112 

Total Income from continuing operations 308,003 339,514 268,852 302,285 

Expenses from continuing operations 
Employee-related expenses 9 177,040 171,395 154,034 147,703 
Depreciation and amortisation 10 25,622 21,353 23,256 20,714 
Repairs and maintenance 11 7,741 7,195 7,671 6,474 
Impairment of assets 12 894 464 894 464 
Losses on disposal of assets 29 3,821 265 
Other expenses 13 110,602 126,328 104,880 119,916 

Total expenses from continuing operations 321,899 330,556 291 000 295,271 

Net result before income tax (131896) 8,958 j22, 148) 7,014 

Income tax expense 1 (x) 

Net result after Income lax for the period (13,896) 8,958 (22,148) 7,014 

Net result attributable to members (13,896) 8.958 (22,148) 7,014 

Net result attributable to members 
from continuing operations (13,896) 8,958 (22,148) 7,014 

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunclion wilh /he accompanying noles 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Note Consolidated Parent Entity 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Net result after income tax for the period (13,896) 8,958 (22, 148) 7,014 
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss 
Gain/(loss) on value of available for sale financial 
assets, net of tax 30(a) 4 24 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 
Gainf(loss) on revaluation on land and buildings, net 
of tax 30(a) 660 18,658 660 18,658 
Total other comprehensive income 664 18,682 660 18,658 

Total comprehensive income (13,232) 27,640 (21 ,488) 25,672 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
members (13,232) 27,640 (21,488) 25,672 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
members from continuing operations (13,232) 27,640 (21,488) 25,672 

The sbove Stslement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompsnying notes. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Note Consolidated Parent Entity 

2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

ASSETS 

Current assets 

Cash and cash equivalents 14 108,190 107,343 101,711 77,851 

Receivables 15 6,085 21,543 4,800 19,130 

Inventories 16 1,161 1,197 1,161 1,197 

Other financial assets 19 844 1,985 824 776 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 16,244 16,976 16,244 16,976 

Other non-financial assets 21 5,206 5,181 5,066 4,915 

Total current assets 137,730 154,225 129,806 120,845 

Non-current assets 
Biological assets 17 718 2,135 718 2,135 

Investment property 18 285 300 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 22 576 428 576 428 
Other financial assets 19 307 303 
Property, plant and equipment 23 492,254 504,604 489,348 494,245 

Intangible assets 24 32,239 16,395 521 529 

Total non-current assets 526,379 524,165 491,163 497,337 

Total assets 664,109 678,390 620,969 618,182 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 25 5,978 8,570 9,641 9,353 

Borrowings 26 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Provisions 27 25,866 24,718 22,396 21,455 

Other liabilities 28 14,481 12,446 36,845 12,126 

Total current liabilities 48,325 47,734 70,882 44,934 

Non-current liabilities 

Borrowings 26 2,000 4,000 2,000 4,000 

Provisions 27 2,722 2,362 2,241 2,055 

Total non-current liabilities 4,722 6,362 4,241 6,055 

Total liabilities 53,047 54,096 75,123 50,989 

Net assets 611,062 624,294 545,846 567,193 

Equity 
Reserves 30(a) 244,970 250,969 238,708 243,969 

Restricted funds 30(b) 28,968 40,683 28,968 40,683 

Retained earnings 30(c) 337,124 332,642 278,170 282,541 

Total equity 611,062 624,294 545,846 567,193 

The above statement of Finencie/ Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Restricted Reserves Retained 
Funds Earnings Total 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Consolidated 

Balance at 1 January 2014 39,856 235,581 321,371 596,808 
Net result 8,958 8,958 
Gain/(loss) on revaluation on land and buildings, 
net of lax 18,658 18,658 
Gain/(loss) on value of available for sale financial 
assets, net of tax 24 24 
Total comprehensive income 18,682 8,958 27,640 
Transfers (to)lfrom restricted reserves 827 {827) 
Transfers (to)lfrom revaluation reserves (3,294) 3,294 
Transfers from retained earnings {154) 154 
Balance at31 December 2014 40,683 250,969 332,642 624,294 

Balance at 1 January 2015 40,683 250,969 332,642 624,294 
Net result (13,896) (13,896) 
Gain/(loss) on revaluation on land and buildings, 
net of tax 660 660 
Gain/(loss) on value of available for sale financial 
assets, net of tax 4 4 
Total comprehensive income 664 (13,896) {13,232) 

Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves (11,715) 11,715 

Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves (6,663) 6,663 
Transfers from retained earnings 

Balance at 31 December 2015 28,968 244,970 337,124 611,062 

Parent 
Balance at 1 January 2014 39,856 225,429 260,472 525,757 
Net result 7,014 7,014 
Other comprehensive income 18,658 18,658 

Total comprehensive income 18,658 7,014 25,672 

Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves 827 {827) 
Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves (118) 118 
Transfers from retained earnings (154) (154) 
Distribution from Subsidiaries 15,918 15,918 

Balance at 31 December 2014 40,683 243,969 282,541 567,193 

Balance at 1 January 2015 40,683 243,969 282,541 567,193 
Net result (22,148) (22,148) 

Other comprehensive income 660 660 
Total comprehensive Income 660 (22,148) (21 ,488) 
Transfers (to)/from restricted reserves (11,715) 11,715 

Transfers (to)/from revaluation reserves (5,921) 5,921 

Distribution from Subsidiaries 141 141 
Balance at 31 December 2015 28,968 238,708 278,170 545,846 

The ebo~e Sla/emeti/ of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunclion with the accompMying notes. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Note Consolidated Parent Entit~ 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Cash flows from operating activities 
Australian Government Grants 3(h} 128,191 142,391 108,000 123,682 
OS-HELP (net) 3(h) (15) 26 (15) 26 
Superannuation Supplementation 3(h) 29 36 29 36 
State Government Grants 82,515 62,929 77,875 58,533 
HECS-HELP student payments 5,342 5,949 5,347 5,949 
Receipts from student fees and other customers 96,880 141,700 110,827 116,030 
Interest received 3,957 4,525 3,087 3,241 
Proceeds from sale of biological assets 1,851 1,240 1,851 1,240 
Payments to suppliers and employees (296,817) (328,637) (264,059) (286,487) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 40 21,933 30,159 42,942 22,250 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,679 5,218 1,679 5,199 
Payments for property, plant and equipment (20,765) (46,838) (18,761) (35,222) 
Payments for biological assets (44) (44) 
Other investing outflows ( 11 0) (110) 

Net cash used in investing activities (19,086) (41,774) (17,082) (30, 177) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Repayment of borrowings (2,000) {12.000) (2,000} (12,000) 

Net cash used in financing activities (2,000) ~12,000) (2,000) (12,000) 

Net increase I (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 847 (23,615) 23,860 (19,927) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 107,343 130,958 77,851 97,778 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 14 108,190 107,343 101,711 77,851 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT- 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Note Contents of the notes to the financial statements 
Summary of significant accounting policies 

2 Disaggregated information 
Income 

3 Australian Government financial assistance including Australian Government loan programs 
(HELP) 

4 Northern Territory Government financial assistance 
5 Fees and charges 
6 Investment revenue and other investment income 
7 Consultancy and contracts 
8 Other revenue and income 

Expenses 
9 Employee-related expenses 
10 Depreciation and amortisation 
11 Repairs and maintenance 
12 Impairment of assets 
13 Otherexpenses 

Assets 
14 Cash and cash equivalents 
15 Receivables 
16 Inventories 
17 Biological assets 
18 Investment property 
19 Other financial assets 
20 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 
21 Other non-financial assets 
22 Investments accounted for using the equity method 
23 Property, plant and equipment 
24 Intangible assets 

Liabilities 
25 Trade and other payables 
26 Borrowings 
27 Provisions 
28 Other liabilities 
29 Gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 

Equity 
30 Reserves, restricted funds and retained earnings 
31 Key management personnel disclosures 
32 Remuneration of auditors 
33 Contingencies 
34 Commitments 
35 Related parties 
36 Subsidiaries 
37 Joint operations 
38 Economic dependency 
39 Events occurring after the balance sheet date 
40 Reconciliation of operating result after income tax to net cash flows from operating activities 
41 Financial risk management 
42 Acquittal of Australian Government financial assistance 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Charles Darwin University was enacted as a Body Corporate on 5 November 2003 by the Charles Darwin University Act 2003 (the Act) and is 
domiciled in Australia. The University is subject to all directions of the Council of the University. The functions of the University are set out in 
Section 5 of the Act. Under the provisions of the Act, at its commencement, Charles Darwin University assumed all the property, rights and 
liabilities of Northern Territory University, Centralian College (Alice Springs based), and Northern Territory Rural College (Katherine based), 
except for the superannuation liability for Centralian College which remained with the Northern Territory Government's Central Holding 
Authority. Subsequently as per the Charles Darwin University Act 2003 and amendment to the Menzies School of Health Research Act, the 
Menzies School of Health Research became a controlled entity of the University from 1 January 2004. 

The principal address of Charles Darwin University is Ellengowan Drive, Casuarina, Darwin. 

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been 
consistently applied for all years reported, unless otherwise stated. The financial statements include separate statements of Charles Darwin 
University as the parent entity and the consolidated entity consisting of Charles Darwin University and its controlled entities. 

(a) Basis of preparation 
The annual financial statements represent the audited general purpose financial statements of Charles Darwin University. They have been 
prepared on an accrual basis and comply with Australian Accounting Standards, AASB Interpretations, Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012, the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2013, the requirements of the Department of 
Education and other State/Australian Government legislative requirements. 

Charles Darwin University is a not-for-profit entity and these statements have been prepared on that basis. Some of the Australian Accounting 
Standards requirements for not-for-profit entities are inconsistent with the International Financial Reporting Standards (I FRS) requirements. 

-Accounting for Government grants. AASB 1004 "Contributions" requires contributions received or receivable to be recognised immediately as 
revenue when; the entity obtains control of the contribution or the right to receive the contribution; it is probable that the economic benefits 
comprising the contribution will flow to the entity; and the amount of the contribution can be measured reliably. 

Date of authorisation for issue 
The financial statements were authorised for issue by the members' Council of Charles Darwin University on 13 May 2016. 

Historical cost convention 
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets, financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, certain classes of property, plant and equipment and 
investment property. 

Critical accounting estimates 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Charles Darwin University's accounting policies. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, 
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, have been explained in the accounting policy notes. 

(b) Basis of consolidation 
(i) Subsidiaries 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Charles Darwin University ("parent entity") as at 
31 December 2015 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. Charles Darwin University and its subsidiaries together are 
referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group has control over an investee when 
it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power 
over the investee. Power over the in vestee exists when the Group has existing rights that give it current ability to direct the relevant activities of 
the investee. The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing 
whether the Group controls another entity. Returns are not necessarily monetary and can be only positive, only negative, or both positive and 
negative. 

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that 
control ceases. 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. 

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are 
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have 
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity respectively. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Entities controlled by Charles Darwin University and forming part of the Charles Darwin University consolidated entity are as follows: 

-Charles Darwin University 

-Charles Darwin University Foundation Trust 

-Charles Darwin University Charitable Trust 

- CDU Amenities Limited 

-Menzies School of Health Research 

(ii) Joint arrangements 
Joint operations 
The Charles Darwin University share of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of a joint operation have been incorporated in the financial 
statements under the appropriate headings. Details of the joint operation are set out in Note 37. 

Joint venture entities 
The interests in joint venture entities are accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the equity method and is carried at cost by 
the parent entity. Details relating to joint ventures are set out in Note 22. Under the equity method, the share of the profits or losses of the entity 
is recognised in the income statement, and the share of movements in reserves is recognised in reserves in the statement of comprehensive 
income and the statement of changes in equity. 

(c) Foreign currency translation 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is the 
University's functional and presentation currency. 

(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement. Amounts receivable and payable in 
foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at balance date. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the income statement as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

(iii) Group entities 
The results and financial position of all the Group is presented in Australian dollars. 

(d) Revenue recognition 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of returns, trade 
allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to 
the Group and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group's activities as described below. In some cases this may not be probable 
until consideration is received or an uncertainty is removed. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the 
type of customer, the type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement. 

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows: 

(i) Government grants 
The Group treats operating grants received from Australian Government entities as income in the year of receipt. Grants from the government 
are recognised at their fair value where the Group obtains control of the right to receive the grant, it is probable that economic benefits will flow 
to the Group and it can be reliably measured. 

(ii) HELP (Higher Education Loan Program) payments 
Revenue from HELP is categorised into those received from the Australian Government and those received directly from students. Revenue is 
recognised and measured in accordance with the above disclosure. 

(iii) Student fees and charges 
Fees and charges are recognised as income in the year of receipt, except to the extent that fees and charges relate to courses to be held in 
future periods. Such receipts (or portion thereof) is treated as income in advance in liabilities. Conversely, fees and charges relating to debtors 
are recognised as revenue in the year to which the prescribed course relates. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(iv) Consultancy and Contracts/Fee for Service 

Contract revenue is recognised in accordance with the percentage of completion method. The stage of completion is determined within the 
individual contracts. 

(v) Sale of goods and disposal of assets 
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of assets is recognised when the group has passed control to the buyer. 

(vi) Contribution of assets 
Revenue arising from the contribution of assets is recognised when the group gains control of the contribution or the right to receive the 
contribution. 

(vii) Liabilities forgiven 
The gross amount of a liability forgiven by a credit provider is recognised as revenue. 

(e) Cash and cash equivalents 
For statement of cash flow presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash-an-hand, deposits held at call with financial 
institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of twelve months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 

(f) Leases 
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as 
finance leases, are capitalised at the lease's inception at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum 
lease payments. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the shorter of the leased item's useful life 
and the lease term (using the straight-line method). 

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the income statement on a straight line 
basis over the lease term. Lease expenditure relating to leases deemed to be "operating leases" is expensed as incurred. 

(g) Impairment of assets 
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment. Other assets that are 
subject to amortisation are reviewed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

(h) Trade receivables 
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value being original invoice amount, subsequently measured at amortised cost, less provision 
for impairment. Trade receivables are due for settlement within no more than 30 days. 

Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off. A provision for 
impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to 
the original terms of receivables. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial 
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable is 
impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 
flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is 
immaterial. The amount of the provision is recognised in the income statement. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(i) Inventories 
Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises direct 
materials and direct labour. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. Net realisable value represents 
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 

U) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale and discontinued operations 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as held for sale and stated at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs 
of disposal, if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. 

An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write down of the asset (or disposal group) to fair value less costs to sell. A gain is 
recognised for any subsequent increases in fair value less costs to sell of an asset (or disposal group), but not in excess of any cumulative 
impairment loss previously recognised. A gain or loss not previously recognised by the date of the sale of the non-current asset (or disposal 
group) is recognised at the date of derecognition. 

Non-current assets classified as held for sale and the assets of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from the 
other assets in the balance sheet. The liabilities of a disposal group classified as held for sale are presented separately from other liabilities in 
the balance sheet. 

(k) Investments and other financial assets 

Classification 

The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held­
to-maturity investments; and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were 
acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and, in the case of assets classified as held-to­
maturity, re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date. 

(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this category if it is 
acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. The University does not enter into derivative contracts. Assets in this category 
are classified as current assets. 

(ii) Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are 
included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than twelve months after the balance sheet date which are classified as non­
current assets. Loans and receivables are included in receivables in the balance sheet. 

(iii) Held-to-maturity investments 
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Group's 
management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. 

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets 
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either designated in this 
category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless management intends to dispose of the 
investment within twelve months of the balance sheet date. 

Subsequent measurement 
Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and 
receivables and held-to-maturity investments are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses arising from 
changes in the fair value of the 'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' category are included in the income statement within other 
income or other expenses in the period in which they arise. 

Changes in the fair value of a monetary security denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed between 
translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security (other 
than interest). The translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying 
amount (other than interest) are recognised in equity. Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as 
available-for-sale are recognised in equity. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Fair value 
The fair values of investments and other financial assets are based on quoted prices in an active market. If the market for a financial asset is not 
active (and for unlisted securities), the Group establishes fair value by using valuation techniques, that maximise the use of relevant data. These 
include reference to the estimated price in an orderly transaction that would take place between market participants at the measurement date. 
Other valuation techniques used are the cost approach and the income approach based on the characteristics of the asset and the assumptions 
made by market participants. 

Impairment 
The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In 
the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is 
considered in determining whether the security is impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative 
loss- measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset 
previously recognised in profit and loss- is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the 
income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement. 

Fair value measurement 
The fair value of assets and liabilities must be measured for recognition and disclosure purposes. 

The Group classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the 
measurements. 

The fair value of assets or liabilities traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices for identical assets or liabilities at the balance 
sheet date. The quoted market price used for assets held by the Group is the most representative of fair value in the circumstances within the 
bid-ask spread. 

The fair value of instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of 
methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. 

Fair value measurement of non-financial assets is based on the highest and best use of the asset. The Group considers market participants 
use of, or purchase price of the asset, to use it in a manner that would be highest and best use. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their short­
term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the 
current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 

(I) Biological assets 

Livestock 
Livestock consists of cattle and horses located at Katherine Rural Campus. Livestock are measured at their fair value less estimated point of 
sale costs. The fair value of the livestock is determined by an independent valuation based on market prices for livestock in the local area, at the 
time of sale. Changes in the fair value less estimated point of sale costs are recognised in the income statement in the year they arise plus 
purchases of livestock are recorded as cash flows used in investing activities. Further details are disclosed in Note 17. 

(m) Property, plant and equipment 
Land and buildings (except for investment properties- refer to Note 18) are shown at fair value, based on periodic, but at least triennial, 
valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation 
is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. All other 
property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 



18 	 CDU FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  2015	

CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of land and buildings are recognised, net of tax, in other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in equity under the heading revaluation surplus. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease previously recognised in profit 
or loss, the increase is first recognised in profit or loss. Decreases that reverse previous increases of the same asset are also firstly recognised 
in other comprehensive income before reducing the balance of revaluation surpluses in equity, to the extent of the remaining reserve 
attributable to the asset; all other decreases are charged to the income statement. 

Land and Works of Art are not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost or 
revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Buildings including 
demountables 
Building improvements 
Leasehold land and improvements 

Plant and equipment 
Library books and periodicals 
Furniture and fittings 
Motor vehicles 

2015 
50 years 

5-50 years 
Useful life or unexpired 
period of the lease, 
whichever is shorter 

3-8 years 
10 years 
5 years 
3-4 years 

2014 
50 years 

5-50 years 
Useful life or unexpired 
period of the lease, 
whichever is shorter 

3-8 years 
10 years 
5 years 
3-4 years 

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. An asset's carrying amount 
is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

Charles Darwin University has adopted the policy of revaluing its land and buildings once every three years unless there is a material change in 
the market value. Colliers International NT carried out a desktop valuation of land and buildings as at 31 December 2014 and 2015. The basis 
of the valuation was fair value methodology. The fair value of an asset generally equates to the asset's market price and where reliable 
evidence was not available the asset's depreciated replacement cost has been assumed to be its fair value. Land improvements were valued by 
Colliers International NT in December 2015 using fair value methodology. All additions during 2015 have been recorded at cost which equates 
approximately to fair value. The Palmerston Campus freehold land revaluation is disclosed in Note 23. 

The library and works of art collections were revalued by Colliers International NT in December 2015. The basis of the valuation was fair value. 

The valuation performed in December 2015 was not included in the financial statements as at year end except for works of art collections. 

(n) Repairs and Maintenance 

Repairs and maintenance costs are recognised as expenses as incurred, except where they relate to the replacement of a component of an 
asset, in which case, the costs are capitalised and depreciated. Other routine operating maintenance, repair and minor renewal costs are also 
recognised as expenses, as incurred. 

(o) Intangible assets 
(i) Software is carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate the cost of software over their estimated useful lives. 

(ii) Right of use of research building- is carried at the present value of lease payments measured at fair value less accumulated amortisation 
and impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the present value of lease payments measured at 
fair value. 

Amortisation on intangible assets is calculated using the straight line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values, over their 
estimated useful lives, as follows: 

Intangible assets 

(p) Trade and other payables 

2015 
5-20 years 

2014 
5-20 years 

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and which are unpaid. The 
amounts are unsecured and are normally paid within 30 days of recognition. 

(q) Borrowings 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of 
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not incremental cost relating to 
the actual draw-down of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the facility. 

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference 
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, 
including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or other expenses. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the balance sheet date and does not expect to settle the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(r) Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is required to complete and 
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they occurred. 

(s) Employee benefits 
(i) Shorl-term obligations 
Liabilities for short-term employee benefits including wages and salaries, non-monetary benefits and profit-sharing bonuses are measured at 
the amount expected to be paid when the liability is settled, if it is expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period, and is recognised in other payables. Liabilities for non-accumulating sick leave are recognised when the leave is taken and 
measured at the rates payable. 

(H) Other long-term obligations 
The liability for other long-term obligations are those that are not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual 
reporting period. Other long-term employee benefits include such things as annual leave and long service leave liabilities. 

The obligations are measured at the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to 
the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimate future cash outflows. 

Regardless of the expected timing of settlements, provisions made in respect of employee benefits are classified as a current liability, unless 
there is an unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting date, in which case it would be 
classified as a non-current liability. 

(iii) Profit-sharing and bonus plans 
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses and profit-sharing based on a formula that takes into consideration the entity's 
positive adjusted operating result. The Group recognises a provision where it is contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation. 

(iv) Retirement benefit obligations 
The Group does not have any retirement benefit obligations. 

(v} Termination benefits 
Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an employee accepts an offer of 
benefits in exchange for the termination of employment. The Group recognises termination benefits when it can no longer withdraw the offer of 
those benefits or when it has recognised costs for restructuring within the scope of AASB137 that involves the payment of termination benefits 
when it is demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
possibility or withdrawal or providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 

Termination benefits are measured on initial recognition and subsequent changes are measured and recognised in accordance with the nature 
of the employee benefit. Benefits not expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the reporting period are discounted to present 
value. 

(t) Superannuation 
The Group contributes to several superannuation funds on a pay-as-you-go basis. Employee contributions are based on various percentages of 
their gross salaries. After serving a qualifying period, all employees are entitled to benefits on retirement, disability or death. Under these 
schemes the Group's legal obligation is limited to the amount that it agrees to contribute to the fund and the actuarial and investment risks fall 
on the employee. 

Most of the funds provide defined benefits based on years of service, employee contributions and final average salary. The Group is under no 
legal obligation to make up any shortfall in the funds assets to meet payments due to employees. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(u) Rounding of amounts 
Amounts in the financial statements have been rounded off in accordance with Class Order 98/100 as amended by Class Order 04/667 issued 
by the Australian Securities and Investment Commission, relating to the rounding off of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts have been 
rounded off to the nearest thousand dollars. 

(v) Provisions 
Provisions for legal claims and service warranties are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past 
event; and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the 
balance sheet date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money, and 
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 

(w) Web site costs 
Costs in relation to web sites controlled by the University are charged as expenses in the period in which they are incurred unless they relate to 
the acquisition of an asset, in which case they are capitalised and amortised over their period of expected benefit. 

(x) Taxation 
Charles Darwin University is a public authority within the meaning of Section 50-25 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 and its income is 
exempt under the provisions of that Act. 

Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except: 

(i) Where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition 
of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or 

(ii) For receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables. Cash flows are 
presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed 
as operating cash flows. 

The University incurs Payroll Tax at the rate determined by the state and territory governments for payments made to and benefits received by 
employees. 

(y) Investment property 
Investment properties exclude properties held to meet service delivery objectives of the Group. 

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost. Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised when it is probable that 
future economic benefits in excess of the originally assessed performance of the asset will flow to the Group. Where an investment property is 
acquired at no cost or for nominal consideration, its cost shall be deemed to be its fair value as at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent to initial recognition at cost, the investment property is carried at fair value, which is based on active market prices, adjusted, if 
necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. If this information is not available, the Group uses 
alternative valuation methods such as recent prices in less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. These valuations are reviewed 
annually by a member of the Australian Property Institute. Changes in fair values are recorded in the income statement as part of the other 
income. 

Rental revenue from the leasing of investment properties is recognised in the income statement in the periods in which it is receivable, as this 
represents the pattern of service rendered through the provision of the properties. 

(z) Comparative amounts 
Where necessary, comparative information has been reclassified to enhance comparability in respect of changes in presentation adopted in the 
current year. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

(aa) New accounting standards and interpretations 

Adoption of new and revised accounting standards 
In the current year Charles Darwin University has adopted all of the new and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standards Board (AASB) that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current annual reporting period. The adoption of 
these new and revised Standards and Interpretations has not resulted in changes to the accounting policies of the Group, except for adoption of 
AASB 11. 

At the date of authorisation of the financial report, the following standards and interpretations had been issued but were not mandatory for the 
financial year. 

Effective for Annual Expected to be Likely impact on initial 

Standards/Interpretation 
Reporting initially applied in application 

Period Beginning On the financial year 
or After endin 

MSB 9 'Financial Instruments' 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 There will be no 
(December 2014)- (Also refer to material impact on the 
MSB 2010-7 and AASB 2014-7 entity 
below) 

AASB 14 'Regulatory Deferral 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Accounts' material impact on the 

entity 

AASB 15 'Revenue from Contracts 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 The entity has not yet 
with Customers' assessed the full 

impact of this Standard 

AASB 16 'Leases' 1 January 2019 31 December 2019 The entity has not yet 
assessed the full 
impact of this Standard 

AASB 2010-7 'Amendments to 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards material impact on the 
arising from AASB 9 (December entity 
2010) 

AASB 2014-3 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards - material impact on the 
Accounting for Acquisitions of entity 
Interests in Joint Operations (AASB 
1 and AASB 11) 

AASB 2014-4 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards - material impact on the 
Clarification of Acceptable Methods entity 
of Depreciation and Amortisation 
(AASB 116 & AASB 138) 

AASB 2014-5 'Amendments to 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 The entity has not yet 
Australian Accounting Standards assessed the full 
arising from AASB 15 impact of this Standard 

AASB 2014-6 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no impact 
Australian Accounting Standards - on the entity 
Agriculture; Bearer Plants (AASB 
101, AASB 116, AASB 117, AASB 
123, AASB 136, AASB 140 & AASB 
141) 

AASB 2014-7 'Amendments to 1 January 2018 31 December 2018 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards material impact on the 
arising from AASB 9 (December entity 
2014) 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 1: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Effective for Annual Expected to be Likely impact on initial 

Standards/Interpretation 
Reporting initially applied in application 

Period Beginning On the financial year 
or After ending 

AASB 2014-9 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards- material impact on the 
Equity Method in Separate Financial entity 
Statements (AASB 1, 127 and 128) 

AASB 2014-10 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no impact 
Australian Accounting Standards- on the entity 
Sale of Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate of Joint Venture (AASB 10 
&AASB 128) 

AASB 2015-1 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards- material impact on the 
Amendments to Australian entity 
Accounting Standards- Annual 
Improvements to Australian 
Standards 2012-2014 Cycles 

AASB 2015-2 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards - material impact on the 
Disclosure Initiative; Amendments to entity 
AASB 101 

AASB 2015-3 'Amendments to 1 January 2016 31 December 2016 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards material impact on the 
arising from the Withdrawal of AASB entity 
1031 Materiality 

AASB 2015-6 'Amendments to 1 July 2016 31 December 2017 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards - material impact on the 
Extending Related Party Disclosures entity 
to Not-for-Profit Public Sector 
Entities (AASB 10, AASB 124 & 
AASB 1049) 

AASB 2015-7 'Amendments to 1 July 2016 31 December 2017 There will be no 
Australian Accounting Standards- material impact on the 
Fair Value Disclosures of Not-for- entity 
Profit Public Sector Entities (AASB 
13) 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION 

(a) Industry- Dual Sector Providers (Parent) 

Operating revenues and expenses for Higher Education and VET are shown in the following tables. The figures refer only to the 
parent entity; consolidated totals are not included. Discrete sets of accounts are not maintained for these divisions. They have been 
derived based on the results of castings determined via Activity Based Costing. 

Parent Entity Parent Entity 

Higher Total Higher Total 
Note Education VET Parent Education VET Parent 

2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

INCOME STATEMENT 

Income from continuing operations 

Australian Government financial assistance 3 75,816 6,456 82,272 82,554 17,944 100,498 

Australian Government grants 

HECS - HELP Australian Government payments 3 23,699 362 24,061 24,851 24,851 

NT Government financial assistance 4 11,676 52,129 63,805 7,418 52,785 60,203 

HECS - HELP student payments 5,347 5,347 5,824 125 5,949 

Fees and charges 5 37,275 6,694 43,969 26,540 7,506 34,046 

Investment revenue 6 2,025 1,110 3,135 2,036 1,196 3,232 

Consultancy and contracts 7 12,990 424 13,414 15,618 142 15,760 

Other revenue 8 21,356 11,345 32,701 34,745 20,597 55,342 

Gain on disposal of assets 29 1,444 848 2,292 
Share of profit or loss on investments accounted 
for using the equity method 22 148 148 112 112 

Total income from continuing operations 190,332 78,520 268,852 201,142 101,143 302,285 

Expenses from continuing operations 

Employee related expenses 9 99,506 54,528 154,034 93,053 54,650 147,703 

Depreciation and amortisation 10 15,023 8,233 23,256 13,050 7,664 20,714 

Repairs and maintenance 11 4,956 2,715 7,671 4,079 2,395 6,474 

Impairment of assets 12 578 316 894 292 172 464 

Losses on disposal of assets 29 (622) 887 265 

Other expenses 13 67,752 37,128 104,880 75,547 44,369 119,916 

Total expenses from continuing operations 187,193 103,807 291,000 186,021 109,250 295,271 

Net result before income tax 3,139 (25,287) (22,148) 15,121 (8, 107) 7,014 

Income tax expense 1(x) 

Net result after income tax for the period 3,139 (25,287) (22,148) 15,121 {8,107) 7,014 

Net result attributable to non-controlling interest 

Net result attributable to members from 
continuing operations 3,139 (25,287) (22,148) 15,121 (8,107) 7,014 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (Continued) 

(a) Industry. Dual Sector Providers (Parent) (continued) 

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

ASSETS 

Current assets 

cash and cash equivalents 14 

Receivables 15 
Inventories 16 
Other financial assets 19 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 20 

Other non-financial assets 21 
Total current assets 

Non.current assets 

Biological assets 17 
Investments accounted for using the equity method 22 

Property, plant and equipment 23 
Intangible assets 24 
Total non-current assets 

Total assets 

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities 

Trade and other payables 25 

Borrowings 26 

Provisions 27 

Other liabilities 28 
Total current liabilities 

Non-current liabilities 

Borrowings 26 

Provisions 27 

Total non-current liabilities 

Total liabilities 

Net assets 

Equity 

Reserves 30{a} 

Restricted funds 30{b) 

Retained earnings 30(c} 

Total equity 

Parent Entity 

Higher Total 

81,855 19,856 101,711 

3,244 1,556 4,800 

785 376 1,161 

"' '" 82< 
10,981 5,263 16,244 

3,425 1,641 5,066 

100,847 28,959 129,806 

7'8 718 

"' 576 
352,589 136,759 469,346 

3" 169 521 

353,517 137,646 491,163 

454,364 166,605 620,969 

6,517 3,124 9,641 

1,352 648 2,000 

15,140 7,256 22,396 

24,907 11,938 36,845 

47,916 22,966 70,882 

1,352 648 2,000 

1,515 728 2,241 

2,867 1,374 4,241 

50,783 24,340 75,123 

403,581 142,265 545,846 

176,493 62,215 238,708 

21,418 7,550 28,968 

205,670 72,500 278,170 

403,581 142,265 545,846 

Parent Entity 

Total 

50.448 27.403 77,851 

12,396 6,734 19,130 

"' 42' 1,197 

>03 273 77e 

11,000 5,976 16,976 

3,185 1,730 4,915 

76,308 42,537 120,845 

2,135 2,135 

428 428 
353,887 140,358 494,245 

343 186 529 

354,658 142,679 497,337 

432,966 185,216 618,182 

6,061 3,292 9,353 

1,296 704 2,000 

13,903 7,552 21,455 

7,858 4,268 12,126 

29,118 15,816 44,934 

2,592 1.408 4,000 

1,332 723 2,055 

3,924 2,131 6,055 

33,042 17,947 50,989 

399,924 167,269 567,193 

172,021 71,948 243,969 

28,685 11,998 40,683 

199,218 83,323 282,541 

399,924 167,269 567,193 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION (Continued) 

{a) Industry- Dual Sector Providers {Parent) (continued) 

Higher Total 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Parent 
Balance at 1 January 2014 362,429 163,328 525,757 
Net result 15,121 (8,1 07) 7,014 
Other comprehensive income 12,091 6,567 18.658 
Total comprehensive income 27,212 (1,540) 25,672 
Transfers (to)/ITom restricl€d reserves 
Transfers (to)ffrom asset revaluation reserves 
Transfers from retained eammgs (1 00) {54) (154) 
Distribution from subsidiaries 10,383 5,535 15,918 

Balance at 31 December 2014 399,924 167,269 567,193 

Balance at 1 January 2015 399,924 167,269 567,193 

Net result 3,139 (25,287) {22,148) 
Other comprehensive income 426 234 660 

Total comprehensive income for the period 3,565 (25,053) {21,488) 
Transfers (to)lfrom restricted reserves 
Transfers (to)ffrom asset revaluation reserves 
Transfers from retained earnings 
Distribution from subsidiaries 92 49 141 

Balance at 31 December 2015 403,581 142,265 545,846 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 2: DISAGGREGATED INFORMATION Continued 

(a) Industry- Dual Sector Providers (Parent) (continued) 
Parent Entity Parent Entity 

Higher Higher Total 
Note Education VET Total Parent Education VET Parent 

2015 2015 2015 2014 2014 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

Cash Flows from operating activities 
Australian Government Grants 3(h) 100,174 7,826 108,000 106,419 17,263 123,682 

OS-HELP (net) 3(h} (15) (15) 26 26 

Superannuation Supplementation 3(h) 29 29 36 36 

State Government Grants 17,811 60,064 77,875 3,176 55,357 58,533 

HECS-HELP student payments 5,347 5,347 5,824 125 5,949 

Receipts from student fees and other customers 84,989 25,838 110,827 83,964 32,066 116,030 

Interest received 1,972 1,115 3,087 2,033 1,208 3,241 

Proceeds from sale of biological assets 1,851 1,851 1,240 1,240 
Payments to suppliers and employees 
(incl. of GST) (169,828) (94,231) (264,059) (180,477) (106,010) (286,487) 

Net cash provided by operating activities 40 40,479 2,463 42,942 21,001 1,249 22,250 

Cash flows from investing activities 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1,084 595 1,679 3,369 1,830 5,199 

Payments for property, plant and equipment (8,972) (9,789) (18,761) (28,600) (6,622) (35,222) 

Payments for biological assets (44) (44} 

Other investing outflows (110) (110) 

Net cash used in investing activities (7,888) (9,194) (17,082) (25,341} (4,836) (30,177) 

Cash flows from financing activities 
Proceeds from borrowings 
Repayment of borrowings (1,184) (816) (2,000) (7,596) (4,404) (12,000) 

Net cash used in financing activities (1,184) (816) (2,000) (7,596) (4,404) (12,000) 

Net Increase I (decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 31,407 (7,547) 23,860 (11 ,936) (7,991) (19,927) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
financial year 14 50,448 27,403 77,851 62,384 35,394 97,778 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial 
year 14 81,855 19,856 101,711 50,448 27,403 77,851 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

No to Consolidated Parent Enti!,y: 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

NOTE 3: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
INCLUDING AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMS 
(HELP) 
(a) Commonwealth Grant Scheme and Other Grants 42.1 

Commonwealth Grants Scheme #J 56,516 55,629 56,516 55,629 

Indigenous Support Program 1,156 1,169 1,156 1,169 

Partnership and Participation Program #
2 1,805 7,666 1,805 7,666 

Disability Support Program 11 16 11 16 
Diversity and Struclural Adjustment Fund Program #l 1,880 1,880 

Promotion of Excellence in Learning and Teaching 40 115 40 115 
Total Commonwealth Grants Scheme and Other Grants 59,528 66,475 59,528 66.475 

(b) Higher Education Loan Programs 42.2 

HECS-HELP 22,860 23,821 22,860 23,821 

FEE-HELP 14 302 405 302 405 
VET FEE-HELP 362 362 

SA-HELP 537 625 537 625 
Total Higher Education Loan Programs 24,061 24,851 24,061 24,851 

(c) Scholarships 42.3 

Australian Postgraduate Awards 1,842 1,830 1,842 1,830 

International Postgraduate Research Scholarship 135 134 135 134 
Commonwealth Education Cost Scholarships115 276 133 276 133 
Commonwealth Accommodation Scholarships#> (60) (603) (60) (603) 

Indigenous Access Scholarships 381 447 381 447 
Total Scholarships 2,574 1,941 2,574 1,941 

(d) EDUCATION· Research 42.4 

Joint Research Engagement Program#(~ 3,265 3,337 3,265 3,337 

Joint Research Engagement Engineering Cadetship 51 39 51 39 

Research Training Scheme 4,559 4,539 4,559 4,539 

Research Infrastructure Block Granls 2,582 2,503 2,582 2,503 

Sustainable Research Excellence in Universities 1,938 1,754 1,938 1,754 

Total EDUCATION Research Grants 12,395 12,172 12,395 12,172 

(e) other Capital Funding 

Education Investment Fund 42.5 1,085 12,846 1,085 12,846 

Total Other Capital Funding 1,085 12,846 1,085 12.846 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Note ____ ~Ceo"""',o"lid••~•••••c-------cc"p''"''"""''E"""t;"~~c---
2015 2014 2015 2014 

NOTE 3: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
INCLUDING AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMS 
(HELP) (Continued) 
(f) Australian Research Council 

(i) Discovery 42.6(a} 
Projects 
Indigenous Researchers Development 

Total Discovery 
(ii) Linkages 42.6(b} 

Infrastructure 

Projects 
Total Linkages 
Total ARC 

(g) Other Australian Government Financial Assistance 

Non-capital 
Department of Health and Aged Care Grants 

AMEP 
ITAS/ATAS 
Away from Base 
National Health and Medical Research Council Grants 

Other 
Total 

Capital 
Department of Health and Aged Care 

Total 

Total Other Australian Government financial assistance 

Australian Government grants (a+c+d+e+f+g) 
HELP -Australian Government payments (b) 
Total Australian Government financial assistance 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

262 92 262 92 
352 352 

262 444 262 444 

143 539 143 539 
151 250 151 250 
294 789 294 789 
556 1,233 556 1,233 

3,539 1,611 

2,992 3,276 2,992 3,276 

638 638 638 638 
2,504 1,918 2,504 1,917 

12,452 11,088 

1,361 1,708 

23,486 20,239 6,134 5,831 

6,840 
6,840 

23,486 27,079 6,134 5,831 

99,624 121,746 82,272 100,498 

24,061 24,851 24,061 24,851 
123,685 146,597 106,333 125,349 

#I Includes the basic CGS grant amount, CGS- Regional Loading, CGS- Enabling Loading, Maths and Science Transition 
Loading, and Full Fee Places Transition Loading_ 
#Z Includes Equity Support Program. 
113 Includes Collaboration and Structural Adjustment Program. 
114 Program is in respect of FEE-HELP for Higher Education only and excludes funds received in respect of VET FEE-HELP_ 

#
5 Includes Grandfathered Scholarships, National Priority and National Accommodation Priority Scholarships respectively. 

116 Includes Institutional Grants Scheme. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Note Consolidated Parent Entity 
----~~~~~--------~~~~~L-----

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

NOTE 3: AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
INCLUDING HECS-HELP AND OTHER AUSTRALIAN 
GOVERNMENT LOAN PROGRAMS (Continued) 
Reconciliation 

Australian Government Grants (a+c+d+e+f+g) 99,624 121,746 82,272 100,498 
HECS-HELP Payments 22,860 23,821 22,860 23,821 
FEE-HELP payments 302 405 302 405 
VET FEE-HELP payments 362 362 
SA-HELP payments 537 625 537 625 
Total Australian Government financial assistance 123,685 146,597 106,333 125,349 

(h) Australian Government Grants received -cash basis 

CGS and Other EDUCATION Grants 59,528 66,475 59,528 66,475 
Higher Education Loan Programs 24,061 24,851 24,061 24,851 
Scholarships 2,113 2,402 2,113 2,402 
EDUCATION Research 12,395 12,172 12,395 12,172 
Other Capital Funding 3,931 10,000 3,931 10,000 
ARC Grants - Discovery 262 444 262 444 
ARC Grants - Linkages 294 789 294 789 

Other Australian Government Grants 25,607 25,258 5,416 6,549 
Total Australian Government Grants received -cash basis 128,191 142,391 108,000 123,682 
OS-HELP (Net) 42.7 (15) 26 (15) 26 
Superannuation Supplementation 42.8 29 36 29 36 

Total Australian Government funding received- cash basis 128,205 142,453 108,014 123,744 

NOTE 4: NORTHERN TERRITORY GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 

Non-Capital 
Vocational Educational and Training 49,662 48,776 49,662 48,776 

NTG - other financial assistance 15,815 12,969 11,175 8,629 
Total Non-Capital 65,477 61,745 60,837 57,405 

Capital 
Vocational Education and Training 2,468 2,718 2,468 2,718 

NTG -specific purpose infrastructure funding 500 80 500 80 

Total Capital 2,968 2,798 2,968 2,798 
Total Northern Territory Government Financial Assistance 68,445 64,543 63,805 60,203 

NOTE 5: FEES AND CHARGES 

Course fees and charges 
Fee-paying onshore overseas students 36,723 24,769 36,756 24,769 

Continuing education 4,797 5,887 4,797 5,888 
Fee-paying domestic postgraduate students 337 570 321 559 
Fee-paying domestic undergraduate students 108 96 108 96 

Fee-paying domestic non-award students 724 640 725 640 

Total course fees and charges 42,689 31,962 42,707 31,952 

Other non-course fees and charges 

Application fees 63 64 63 64 

Administration fees and charges 498 428 497 428 

Other 2,039 1,828 702 1,602 

Total other fees and charges 2,600 2,320 1,262 2,094 
Total fees and charges 45,289 34,282 43,969 34,046 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

NOTE 6: INVESTMENT REVENUE AND OTHER INVESTMENT INCOME 

Interest 
Dividends 

Investment property - Fair value net loss 
Investment property rental 
Total investment revenue 

NOTE 7: CONSULTANCY AND CONTRACTS 

Contract research 
Miscellaneous consultancy non-research related 
Total consultancy and contracts 

NOTE 8: OTHER REVENUE AND INCOME 
Other revenue 

Donations- CDUFT and other 

Scholarships and prizes 
Financial assistance/grants 

Sales 
Facility and equipment hire 

Catering 
Guest accommodation 

Joint venture operations 
Sundry income 

Other 
Total other revenue 
Other income 

Change in fair value less point of sale cost of livestock 

Total other income 
Total other revenue and income 

3,724 
280 

(15) 
12 

4,001 

18,506 
1,369 

19,875 

1,570 
2,497 

427 
6,748 
1,255 

171 
3,450 

14,146 
955 
838 

32,057 

4,457 
19 

15 
4,491 

21,819 
3,090 

24,909 

1,374 
2,647 

395 
5,719 
1,159 

182 
3,081 

38,500 
1,561 
1,523 

56,141 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

2,872 
263 

3,135 

12,045 
1,369 

13,414 

681 
2,401 

427 
7,596 
1,243 

165 
3,467 

14,146 
1,073 

977 
32,176 

3,232 

3,232 

12,665 
3,095 

15,760 

55 
1,956 

866 
6,349 
1,148 

174 
3,095 

38,500 
1,604 
1,397 

55,144 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Consolidated Parent Enti!}' 
2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
NOTE 9: EMPLOYEE-REL.A TED EXPENSES 

Employee benefits and on-costs 
Academic 

Salaries 70,441 67,542 58,764 55,253 

Contributions to superannuation and pension schemes: 
-Funded 11,312 10,799 9,873 9,281 

Payroll tax 4,876 4,894 4,167 4,147 

Worker's compensation 549 554 463 446 
long service leave expense 1,349 2,089 1,026 1,832 

Annual leave 8,262 9.985 6,653 8,242 

Total academic 96,789 95,863 80,946 79,201 

Non-academic 
Salaries 57,060 52,941 51,788 47,617 

Conlributlons lo superannuation and pension schemes: 
-Funded 9,713 9,080 8,983 8,336 

Payroll tax 3,891 3,748 3,693 3,573 

Worker's compensation 442 422 406 378 
long service leave expense 2,163 1,505 1,848 1,517 

Annual leave 6,871 7,755 6,259 7,000 

Other 111 81 111 81 

Total non-academic 80,251 75,532 73,088 68,502 

Total employee related expenses 177,040 171,395 154,034 147,703 

NOTE 10: DEPRECIATION AND AMORTISATION 

Depreciation 
Leased land, buildings and demountab!es 14,860 13,173 14,860 13,173 

Plant and equipment 6,498 5,688 5,622 5,183 

Leasehold improvements 672 621 672 621 
Land improvements 1,106 865 1,106 865 
Books and periodicals 871 863 871 863 

Total depreciation 24,007 21,210 23,131 20,705 

Amortisation 
Intangible asset 1,615 143 125 9 

Total amortisation 1,615 143 125 9 
Total depreciation and amortisation 25,622 21,353 23,256 20,714 

NOTE 11: REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE 

Building maintenance 865 544 864 543 
Grounds maintenance 586 411 586 411 
Electrical works 1,125 875 1,124 875 
Air-conditioning 767 637 767 637 
Building energy maintenance 410 343 410 343 
Repairs and maintenance information technology 1,336 1,351 1,336 1,351 

Plumbing 505 323 505 323 
Repairs and maintenance general 2,147 2,711 2,079 1,991 
Total repairs and maintenance 7,741 7,195 7,671 6,474 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

NOTE 12: IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS 
General debts 352 32 352 32 
Student debts 542 432 542 432 
Total impairment of assets 894 894 

NOTE13:0THEREXPENSES 

Scholarships, grants and prizes 10,743 11,026 16,152 15,856 
Non-capitalised equipment 3,489 3,194 3,344 3,051 
Advertising, marketing and promotional expenses 4,444 5,160 4,440 5,156 
Materials 24,916 21,023 18,479 15,045 

Stationery, photocopying and postage 1,516 1,463 1,116 1,166 
Licenses, fees and charges 7,629 6,675 7,541 6,685 

Travel, staffing and related costs 9,267 9,841 6,716 6,863 
Utilities and facilities management 9,644 8,929 9,234 8,567 

Equipment rent and lease expenses 2,172 2,678 2,167 2,674 
Motor vehicle expenses 1,083 1,154 1,082 1 '151 
Insurance 1,611 1,724 1,516 1,583 

Inventory used 2,099 2,025 2,095 2,021 

Consultants - teaching 1,791 1,307 1,795 1,307 
Consultants - general 13,356 12,657 12,490 11,556 
Communications 1,427 1,437 1,312 1,206 
Joint venture operations 10,661 32,865 10,661 32,865 
Other 4,754 3,170 4,740 3,164 
Total other expenses 110,602 126,328 104,880 119,916 

NOTE 14: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash at bank and on hand 19,180 18,048 15,424 15,412 

Cash at bank - at call account 9,093 6,422 9,093 6,422 
Cash at bank term deposits 79,917 82,873 77,194 56,017 
Total cash and cash equivalents 108,190 107,343 101,711 77,851 

(a) Reconciliation to cash at the end of the year 
The above figures are reconciled to cash at the end of the year as shown in the statement of cash flows as follows: 

Balances as above 108,190 107,343 101,711 77,851 

Balance per Statement of Cash Flows 

(b) Cash at bank and on hand 
The cash at bank and on hand include cash held in operating and replenishing bank accounts which are subject to 
variable interest rates between 1.68% and 2.44% (2014 2.25% and 2.41%). 

(c) At call 
The cash at bank at call account is subject to variable interest rates between 1.80% and 3.15% (2014- 2.30% and 
3.35%). 

(d) Term deposits 

The deposits are bearing floating interest rates between 2.60% and 3.57% (2014- 2.63% and 3.82%). These deposits 
have an average maturity of 180 days (2014- 172 days). 

(e) Bank guarantees 

The University has two bank guarantees totalling $0.431 million (2014: $0.431 m) for the lease of levels 10 and 11, 815 
George Street, Sydney. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 15: RECEIVABLES 
Current 
Debtors 
Student Fees 
Less: Provision for impaired receivables 
Total receivables 

Impaired receivables 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

5,418 
1,885 

(1,218) 
6,085 

20,032 
2,638 

(1,127) 
21,543 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

4,133 
1,885 

(1,218) 
4,800 

17,619 
2,638 

(1,127) 
19,130 

As at 31 December 2015, current receivables of the consolidated entity with a nominal value of $1.218 million (2014: 
$1.127 million) were impaired. The provision for 2015 was $1.218 million (2014: $1.127 million). The individually 
impaired receivables mainly relate to students, whom are in unexpectedly difficult economic situations. It was 
assessed that a portion of these receivables is expected to be recovered. 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2015 2014 2015 2014 

The ageing of these receivables is: $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
3 to 6 months 364 354 364 354 
Over 6 months 854 773 854 773 
Total 1,218 1,127 1,218 1,127 

As of 31 December 2015, trade receivables of the consolidated entity with a nominal value of $0.77 million (2014: 
$1.283 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is 
no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these receivables is as follows: 

The ageing of these receivables is: 
3 to 6 months 
Over 6 months 

Total 

Movements in the provision for impaired receivables are as 
follows: 
At 1 January 
Provisions for impairment during the year 
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 
Unused amount reversed 
At 31 December 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

314 405 
458 878 
772 1,283 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

1,127 
894 

(801) 
(2) 

1,218 

1,349 
464 

(652) 
(34) 

1 '127 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

307 373 
458 878 
765 1,251 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

1,127 
894 

(801) 
(2) 

1,218 

1,349 
464 

(652) 
(34) 

1,127 

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in 'other expenses' in the Income 
Statement. Amounts charged to the provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of 
recovering additional cash. 

The other amounts within receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on credit history, it 
is expected that these amounts will be received when due. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

NOTE 16: INVENTORIES 
Current 
CDU Bookshop 712 738 712 738 

Uniprint 43 53 43 53 
Northern Editions 541 544 541 544 
Less: Provision for impairment (135) (138) j135) {138~ 

Total inventories 1,161 1,197 1,161 1,197 

NOTE 17: BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 
Cattle 
Carrying amount at 1 January 2,088 3,120 2,088 3,120 

Gain/{loss) from changes to fair value less estimated 
point of sale costs 513 214 513 214 
Purchases 44 44 
Sales {1,939) (1,290) j1 ,939) (1,290) 

Carrying amount at 31 December 662 2,088 662 2,088 

Horses 
Carrying amount at 1 January 47 70 47 70 

Gain/(loss) from changes to fair value less estimated 
point of sale costs 12 (16) 12 (16) 
Sales (3) (7) (3) 17! 
Carrying amount at31 December 56 47 56 47 

Total biological assets 716 2,135 718 2,135 

There is no restriction on the title of the cattle and horses and the carrying amounts of the livestock have nol been 

pledged as security for liabilities. 

In 2015 the fair value of biological assets is based on the valuation performed by Elders Rural Services Australia Ltd. 

As at31 December 2015, the University had no commitment to purchase any livestock. 

As at31 December 2015, livestock held for sale comprised 685 cattle and 26 horses (2014: 3,593 cattle and 29 

horses). 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 18: INVESTMENT PROPERTY 

At fair value-
Open!'\Q balance- at i January 
Revalualion of asse-ts 

Clos1f'lg balance at 31 December 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

300 
15 

285 

300 

300 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

The fair value of the investment properly which is held by Charles Darwin Universiiy Foundation was J:rovided by an 
independent qualified valuer with expBrience in the local ton and category of the investment pmperty. 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss for inVll!Stment propertk!s 

Rental income 
Direct operating expenses (rent gener?ting prope.1ies} 
To!al recognised b profit or loss 

NOTE 19: OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Current 
Accrued revenue 
Accrued ir:terest r&eivable 

other 
T oial current 

Non Curt'ent 
l!$ted securities 

Opellhg value 
~ lnves1mert: revaluation reserve 

Tola! non-current 

Total other financial assets 

NOTE 20; NON·CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED 
AS HELD FOR SALE 

12 
s 
6 

20 
624 

844 

303 

• 
1151 

11 
15 

6 

1,186 
776 

23 
1,985 

279 

24 
303 

2,288 

824 776 

824 776 

824 776 

Land held for resale 16,244 16,976 15,244 16,976 

Total non-current assets classified as held fur sale 16,244 16,976 16,244 16976 

Charles Darwin University entered into an agreernent w:ih CIC-THD P1y Ltc to develOp part of lot S76S Town of 
?a!mersto11 (known as The Heights Durac~). The de'lt7!opr>lent wir deliver approxinatety 800 kltii for residential 
purposes. The AgrMment was elated 15 November 21)11) and was effective from lhat date. 

A131 December 2015, stages 1 to 11 were available for sale and are expe<;ted to be s.o£d during the year er-cirg 31 
December 201R 

The land ClasSified as held for sale comp;lses stages 1-14. With stages 12 - 14 expected to be developec st.IJsequent 
to31 Deoomber2316. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 21: OTHER NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS 
Prepayments 
Other assets 
Total other non~flnancial assets 

NOTE 22: INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING 
THE EQUITY METHOD 

Individually Immaterial Joint Ventures 

C<>nlWIIdated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

5,136 
70 

5200 

S, 11 1 
70 

5,181 

Patent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

5,066 

5,06$ 

4,915 

4,915 

The Parent Entity has a 50% interest In FCD Heatth Limited, a company llxited by guarantee, mcorpora4ed and 
operating in Australia, The principal activity Is the provision of medical services a"'d training. 

Profit from cont:nuirg operations 
Profit from rontinuing operations after income tax 
T oial comprehensive mooma 

SUmmansed financialmfofmalion ir respect of joint venture entity is set out below: 

Financial Position 
Current assets 
Non-currenl assets 
Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Non<urrent liabilities 

Total liabilities 
Net assets 

Financial Performance 
Revenues 
Expenses 
Net operating ~esult before income tax 

Sha.-. of partnership's <::ommitments 

Jof"'l Ventures 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

148 112 
148 112 
148 112 

Joint Ventures 
2015 2014 

___£0()0 $'000 

591 437 
331 184 

922 621 

346 193 

346 193 
576 428 

2,983 2,551 
2,835 2,439 

148 112 

Capital oommltments and other expenditure commi!nen!s arising frnm the Group's interest in joint arrangements 
are disclosed 1n Nb!a 34. 

CQotlngent !labilities relating to joint venturoa 
There arc no contingent habl!itles relating to joint ventures, 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 23: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Land Buildings Oemountables Works Ubrary Books Plant and Leasehold Work 

Land Improvements of Art and Periodicals Equipment• Improvement ;, 

Progress TOTAL 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Consolidated 

At1 January 2014 

-Cost '"' " '" 27,049 1,959 54,105 93,989 

-Valuation 34,867 12,288 353,866 1,751 '" 8,441 412,103 

-Accumulated Depredalion (779) (1,064) (15) 0 (15,551 (196 (17,605) 

Net Book Amount 34,867 12,215 352,802 1,736 "' 8,581 11,498 1,763 64,106 488,487 

Year Ended 31 December 2014 

Opening Net Book Amount 34,867 12,215 352.802 1,736 '" 8,581 11,498 1,763 54,106 488,487 

Additions MO 1,116 " " "' 3,816 40,401 46,344 

Transfers "' 52.604 '" 2,737 1,249 (57,618) (373) 

Transfers- intangible {16,000) (16,000) 

Transfers to land held for resale (7,431) (7,431) 

Disposals (44) (3,827) (3,871) 

Revaluation Surplusi(Deficit) 6,238 '" 11,385 70 {9} 18,658 

Depreciation Charge {865) (13,103) (70) (863) (5,688) {621) (21,210 

Closing Net Book Amount 33,674 13,338 404,804 2,248 '" 7,832 12,319 2,391 27,062 504,604 

At 31 December 2014 

-eo.' 1,018 53,720 50. " '" 32,501 3,208 27,062 118,326 

-Valuation 33,574 12,391 353,144 1.755 '" 8,441 410,287 

- Accumulated Depreciation " (2,060 (16) 863) (20,182) (817) 24,009) 

Net Book Amount 33,674 13,338 404,804 2,248 "' 7,832 12,319 2,391 27,062 504,604 

*Plant and Equipment includes all operational assets 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE; 23: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CMtinued) 

Ct:moolido:rtcd 

At 1 ""'"\lei)' 101S 

-""" 
• vallti'illt:l'! 

• ~~mLiated Det"Klatlon 

Net Sooli: Amct~nt 

Year EndfKI 3'1 December 2\HS 

OpermiJ ~~Soot<. Amoklr.l 

Additions 

Tfl:l!lllt~ro 

l'rOll'l$1er$ • ln!<'WiJible 

Oi$pP?~I~ 

Revntutalion S\J()ll\1$/(Dellei!) 

Deprecla\to~ Cha'l)"' 

;:!toslng net Sook Amou!'lt 

At 31 ~rnber 2iHS 

""" • Va!..talion 

• A\'lNII'IIJl~ ~::d<iib<Yl 

Net~Amtol.ll'lt 

"'" 
"'" 

33,&74 

'""' 

33,674 

Land 

tmprov~nts 

$'000 

1.018 

12.331 

Bulidil'lgs 

'""" 

53,720 
3f;3,144 

___ E_'!) ________ g~C) 

Oemountables 

$'(100 

"" 1,7$5 

'~6 

We»>ks 

"'"" 
$'000 

" "' 

L1brary Books Pl;ont and 

and PeriOdk:<lils Equipment~ 

S'OOO s~ 

2!:>4 32.~()1 

11.441 

Lease !'wid 
lmpro~ment 

'''" 

Work 

'" Progrll'&ll 

$'000 

<:.20$ 2?,002 

TOTAL 
$'000 

11$,325 

410,2$7 

___ \ll53l ______ ____1~-J§.?L ___ _ (817) mn______ (24,\:109) 

13,33$ ""' ~ 2 24$ 93& 7,&32 i2t.319 ihm ________ :n:,\16:~ 6114;,.004 

13,338 40-'J,S(J4 2,246 "' 7,832 12,319 .,,, :2:7,0C2: ... , ... 
" 4.~~ "' GS .$,109 1(),724 2<,1115 

3,916 ta,tn "" "'' !2$,:W$) 

{S,SS7) {S,SSl'} 

(564) (:a70) !37S} (2] (1,:111) 

(A) 6.17 47 iW! 
(25) _______ J!._i_0_6)__ (1~,7:1'1} m~L- (871) i6,49S} i!S-!~) @*:,09:!1 

33 649 15,659 413,~~1}~-~-- 1,309 1,0HI 7,02fl. 11,388 2,61') $,376 m,.254 

33,674 

1251 

33,549 

4,40!;1 

12,326 

11.076) 

15,6$9 

7e.:m3 
552,161) 

119 

""' ttll"?1!:E_ \64) 

41:3.,212 ,,, 
" 
"' 

1,016 

"' :34.n9 
8.441 2,838 

(1.734) ______ ~6,3791 

7,026 11,3Q 

4,108 

p,41>9j 

2,(119 

$,6-76. 

5,1!17$ 

126,110 

412.142 

(45,$98) 

492,254 

• Plat\! aM Et~uipment inehld&s <~II operational assets 



	
C

D
U

 F
IN

A
N

C
IA

L
 S

TA
T

E
M

E
N

T
S

  2
0

1
5

	
3

9

CHARL.IES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROL.L.EO ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL. STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 23~ PROF'ERTV, PL.ANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

Land 

umd 
lmpro~ments 

euildings Q<,rr~~rll;ablos Works 
of Art 

L.lbmry tlooks 

and P11riodfcals 

Plant and Leasehold W<:>tlc. 
Equipment* lmprov.,m,;ol'( '" l>rog!'fliS TOTAL 

S'OOO $'000 S'DOO $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $ 000 :t'OOO $'000 

Parent Entity 

At 1 JafiJary :!:1)14 

<""' 
·Val~ 

- ~.A.lfllukit«! O$p«;d&tion 

Nct Book Am<:>Unt 

'i<llill Ended 31 Ote.ml:u}r 2G14 

Opepmg Net 6\XIi<. AmoJI'rt 

Addlll011$ 

Tnarv;!(jf(; 

Tr~n~for; to land h(lld fur rcs~l~~ 

DispOi~ls 

Revaluation S~rpl~si(Deftclt) 

Dnpraci<ttJon EipCrl$1\l 

C!¢$it~g Nat Book Amou11t 

At 31 D~olllber 2<114 

·Cot.! 
-V!iiWMIIOt' 

• ACO.Krxltrt«< Deopti!K:·aliorl 
Net B¢ofl Ammmt 

$4,$$7 

34JJ67 

34,861 

(:',431] 

6,238 

33,674 

33,£74 

JJ,£74 

• PfAAt and Eq;dp~ includes >~oil aperatioflill as~ets 

2!i '40 23,Zl1 Ul:S9 t$,740 55,095 

12,2$6 UiS,OOC 1,7$1 Me 8,441 412,101 

E_!L ______ _i1.064l \~!Sl {12,S71l ii!Ji>l .!':1.1t717l 

14,2:15 352,80'2 1,13$ $19 S,SM 1l\856 1,?6S ;ti,7411 4$3,.479' 

12.215 3$2,$02 U36 "' t,5S1 10,351! "'" 2$.740 41>3\47$ 

MC 11m4 " "' 114 ,,.,. 2$,9!1lS 1.(())>45 

"' "'"' 477 (111:!) 1,24\l (38,14$) (313) 

(1 ,411) 

(31) {l1) 

970 11,$.'> " (3) 13,6:11.1 
(86~) (":.i,1V3) j!9L. ··----·-· £353) {b-. l~/ 1§:21{ ~~~~~~~· .... ~ 

13,3_3_8_- .~~·~. "" "' 1,83-2 t,OI!2 z;m 19,$150 -
1,0Hl ;:.3,72() 509 "' "' 25)~1!;> :a.:ms l9,9GO 104,338 

'12,3'01 353,144 1 ,7~5 882 8,441 410,287 

(7'1 .{~~?~t '16) (863) -- ('1_~,553) ...... (817) j20,:\SO! 
13,,»8 41)4,$1)4 "'" "' 7,S32 9,(162 ·-~··~3$1 19 900 ''"'' 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 23: PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 

Parent Entity 

At 1 January 2015 

-Cost 

-Valuation 

-Accumulated DepreCJation 

Net Book Amount 

Year Ended 31 December 2015 

Opening Net BooK Amount 

Additions 

Transfers 

Transfers- intangible 

Disposals 

uod 

$'000 

33,674 

33,.674 

33,674 

uod 
Improvements 

$'000 

1,018 

12.391 

(71) 

13,338 

13,338 

" 3,916 

(564) 

(4) 

Buildings Demountables 

$'000 $'000 

53,720 509 

353,144 1,755 

(2,060) (16) 

404,804 2,248 

404,804 2,248 

4,655 

18,177 

(270) (375} 

6U 

Works 

of Art 

$'000 

Library Books Plant and 
and Periodicals Equipment• 

$'000 $'000 

" "' 25,615 

882 8,441 

(863) (16,553) 

936 7,832 9,062 

936 7,832 9,062 

" OS 5,044 

(2) 

" 

Leasehold 

Improvement 

$'000 

3,208 

(817) 

2,391 

2,391 

900 

Work 

'" Progress 

S'OOO 

19,960 

19,960 

19,960 

9,026 

(22,993) 

(117) 

TOTAL 

S'OOO 

104,338 

410,287 

(20,380) 

494,245 

494,245 

18,902 

(117) 

(1,211} 

660 Revaluation Surplusi(Defic~) 

Depreciation Expense 

Closing Net Book Amount 

(25} (1,106} (14,771) ____ l64l (871) (5,622) (672} (23,131) 

33,649 15,659 413,212 1,809 1,016 7,026 8,482 2,619 5,876 489,348 

AI 31 December 2015 

-Cost 4,409 76,263 '" " "' 30,411 4,108 5,876 121,592 

-Valuation 33,674 12,326 352,180 1,754 929 8,441 409,304 

- Accumulated Depreciation (25) (1,076) (15,231) (64) (1,734) (21,929) (1,489) (41,548) 

Net Book Amount 33,649 15,659 413,212 1,809 1,016 7,026 8,482 2,619 5,876 489,348 

~Plant and Equipment incl\ldes all operational assets 
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C-onsolidated Parent Entity 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

NOTE 24: INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

At 1 January 

Cost 16,538 538 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses 143 9 
Net book amount 16,395 529 

Additions 8,902 16,538 538 
Additions- Transfer from PPE 8-,557 117 
Amortisation charge (1,615) (143) (125) 1'1 
Closing net book amount 32,239 16,395 521 529 

At 31 December 

Cost 33-,997 16,538 655 538 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (1,758) (143) (134) (9} 
Net book amount 32,239 16,395 521 529 

In both years intangible assets consist of software and the right of use of research buildings at Royal Darwin Hospital (RDH). 

Software 
The right to use the RDH buildings - Menzies School of 
Health Research 

Net book amount 

NOTE 25: TRADE AND OTHER PAY ABLES 

Trade and other payables 
Total trade and other payables 

Fair value 

521 

31,718 

32,239 

5,978 
5,978 

529 

15,866 

16,395 

8,570 
8,570 

521 

521 

9,641 
9,641 

Due to the short-term nature of these payables. their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value. 

NOTE 26: BORROWINGS 
Unsecured - Non Interest Bearing 

NT Department of Education 2,000 2,000 2,000 
Total current borrowings 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Unsecured - Non Interest Bearing 

NT Department of Education 2,000 4,000 2,000 

Total non-current borrowings 2,000 4,000 2,000 

Total borrowings 4,000 6,000 4,000 

529 

529 

9,353 
9,353 

2,000 
2,000 

4,000 
4,000 
6,000 

The University has an interest free loan with the Northern Territory Government of $6 million for the Charles Darwin University 
Education and Training Facility at the Darwin Waterfront Precinct. The term of the loan is five years; the first of three 
payments was due 30 June 2015 and final payment is due 30 June 2017. 
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NOTE 27: PROVISIONS 
Current provisions expected to be setUed within 12 months 

Employee benefits 
Annual leave 
Long service leave 

Total current provisions 

Non-current provisions 
Employee benefits 

Long service leave 
Total non-current provisions 

Total provisions 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

12,589 
13,277 
25,866 

2,722 
2,722 

28,588 

12,386 
12,332 
24,718 

2,362 
2,362 

27,080 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

10,429 
11,967 
22,396 

2,241 
2,241 

24,637 

10,167 
11,288 
21,455 

2,055 
2,055 

23,510 

There were 1,383 equivalent full time and fixed period contract employees at the end of 2015 and there were 1,415 equivalent 
full time and fixed period contract employees at the end of 2014. 

NOTE 28: OTHER LIABILITIES 
Current 

Revenue received in advance 14,247 12,190 13,884 11,870 

OS-HELP liability to Australian Government• 11 26 11 26 
Other 223 230 22,950 230 

Total other liabilities 14,481 12,446 36,845 12,126 

• The 2015 Department of EdiJCatoon Gwdelmes requi"' OS·HELP to b-. recorded,,. a liability as il COIJ.side<s /hal/he Uniw,sUy acts as an agen/ on /i~a/1 of /lw AuslraiJafi 
Government m distribu/ing the loans to students. 

NOTE 29: GAIN/(LOSS) ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS 
Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment 
Gain on recognition of intangible at fair value 
Less: Carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment sold 
Less: Carrying amount of land held for resale 
Total gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 

Gain/(Loss) is disclosed in the income statement as follows: 
Gain on disposal of assets 
Loss on disposal of assets 
Total gain/(loss) on disposal of assets 

1,679 
8,901 

(1,211) 
(733) 

8,636 

8,636 

8,636 

5,218 

(3,871) 
(2,876) 
(1,529) 

2,292 
3,821 

(1,529) 

1,679 

(1,211) 
(733) 
(265) 

265 
(265) 

5,199 

(31) 
(2,876) 
2,292 

2,292 

2,292 
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Consolidated Parent Enti~ 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

NOTE 30: RESERVES, RESTRICTED FUNDS AND 
ACCUMULATED FUNDS 

(a) Reserves 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 238,978 244,235 238,708 243,969 

Capital asset reserve 5,791 4,915 

Restricted reserve- building 201 1,819 
Total reserves 244,970 250,969 238,708 243,969 

Movements 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 

Balance at1 January 244,235 225,671 243,969 225,429 

Revaluation surplus/(deficit) on: 

Land 6,238 6,238 

Land improvements (4) 970 (4) 970 
Buildings 617 11,385 617 11,385 

Demountables 73 73 
Library collection 
Work of art 47 (8) 47 (8) 

Sub-total 660 18,658 660 18,658 

Investments 4 24 
Assets retired transferred to accumulated funds: 

Land, Building, Plant and equipment (5,921) (118) (5,921) (118) 
Balance at 31 December 238,978 244,235 238,708 243,969 

Capital asset reserve 

Balance at 1 January 4,915 4,410 

Transfers from/(to) accumulated funds 876 505 
Balance at 31 December 5,791 4,915 

Restricted reserve - building 

Balance at 1 January 1,819 5,500 
Transfers fromf(to) accumulated funds (1,618) (3,681) 
Balance at 31 December 201 1,819 

(b) Restricted funds reserve 
Balance at 1 January 40,683 39,856 40,683 39,856 

Transfers froml(to) accumulated funds or 

Adjustments via revenue and (expenditure) j11,715) 827 j11,715) 827 
Balance at 31 December 28,968 40,683 28,968 40,683 
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NOTE 30: RESERVES, RESTRICTED FUNDS AND 
ACCUMULATED FUNDS (Continued) 

(c) Accumulated funds 
Accumulated funds at 1 January 
Operating result for the period 
Accumulated funds before transfers to 
Restricted funds 
Transfers (to) I from restricted funds 

Transfer of property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 
for retired assets 

Transfer from retained earning 
Distribution from Subsidiaries 

Total accumulated funds at 31 December 

(d) Nature and purpose of reserves 
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 

Consolidated 

2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

332,642 
(13,896) 

318,746 
11,715 

6,663 

337,124 

321,371 
8,958 

330,329 
(827) 

3,294 

(154) 

332,642 

Parent Entity 

2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

282,541 260,472 
(22,148) 7,014 

260,393 267,486 
11,715 (827) 

5,921 118 

(154) 
141 15,918 

278,170 282,541 

The property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve arises on the revaluation of non-current assets. Where a revalued asset 
is sold that portion of the asset revaluation reserve which relates to that asset, and is effectively realised, is transferred to 
accumulated funds. 

Capital assets reserve 

Capital assets reserve arises from the need to plan the purchase of large capital items. Amounts transferred to the capital 
assets reserve are calculated on an annual basis as follows: 
- an amount equal to the depreciation expense recorded for that year 

- an amount equal to twenty (20) percent of any surplus generated by the administration cost centre 
-an amount equal to ten (10) percent of any surplus generated from the research projects that are not tied to grant funding and 
have been undertaken on a fee for service basis. 

Restricted funds 

Restricted funds arise where funds are received in advance and are subject to contractual obligations, including activity and 
financial acquittal. 
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NOTE 31: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES 

(a) Names of responsible persons and executive officers 

The following persons were responsible persons and executive officers of the Group during the financial year: 

Council members 
Mr Neil Balnaves AO 

The Honourable Sally Thomas AC 

Professor Simon Maddocks 

Associate Professor Steve Shanahan 

Professor Judith Whitworth AC 

Professor Mary O'Kane AC 

Mr Lorenzo Strano OAM 

Mr Alan Morris 

Ms Jodie Ryan 

Mr Richard Ryan AO 

Mr Ken Davies 

Professor Keith Christian 

Ms Louise King 

Mr Kingsley Brenton 

Mr Jeffery Gaden 

(b) Executive officers 
Professor Simon Maddocks 

Professor Sharon Bell 

Professor Giselle Byrnes 

Professor Martin Carroll 

Professor Sue Carthew 

Professor Lawrence Cram 

Ms Debra Farrelly 

Ms Christine Robertson 

Associate Professor Steve Shanahan 

Mr Mark Hewitson 

Professor Steven Larkin 

Mr Andrew Woodmansey 

Chancellor- appointed on 22 April2016 

Chancellor- until 22 April 2016 

Vice-Chancellor 

Chair, Academic Board 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member appointed by the Administrator 

Member elected by the Academic Staff (Higher Education) 

Member elected by the Academic Staff (VET) 

Member elected by the Undergraduate Students 

Member elected by the Postgraduate Students 

Vice-Chancellor 

Deputy Vice-Chancellor 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Faculty of Law, Education, Business and Arts 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Academic 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Faculty of Engineering, Health, Science and the 
Environment 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Research and Research Training 

Chief Operating Officer 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Faculty of Vocational Education and Training 
from October 2015 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Faculty of Vocational Education and Training 
until October 2015 

Chief Financial Officer 

Pro Vice-Chancellor, Indigenous Leadership 

Deputy Chief Operating Officer 

All of the above persons were also key management persons during the year ended 31 December 2015. 

Council members may include the Group's employees who may be ex-officio members or elected staff 
members. No Council member (including Chancellor or Vice-Chancellor) has received any remuneration in 
his/her capacity as a Council member. Council members may also be executive officers of the parent entity. 
Where this is the case they have been included in the following executive officer remuneration bands. 
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NOTE 31: KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (Continued~ 

(c) Remuneration of Council members and executives 

Remuneration paid or payable or ottlerwise made available to Council members and executives of the Group: 

Remuneration of Council members 

Nillo $14,999 

Remuneration of executives 
Less than $14,999 

$180,000 to $194,999 
$195,000 to $209,999 
$210,000 to $224,999 
$225,000 to $239,999 
$240,000 to $254,999 
$255,000 to $269,999 
$270,000 to $284,999 
$285,000 to $299,999 
$300,000 to $314,999 
$315,000 to $329,999 
$330,000 to $344,999 
$345,000 to $359,999 
$360,000 to $374,999 
$375,000 to $389,999 
$390,000 to $404,999 
$420,000 to $434,999 
$435,000 to $449.999 
$450,000 to $464,999 
$570,000 to $584,999 

(d) Key management personnel compensation 

Short-term employee benefits 
Termination Benefits 
Post-employee benefits• 

(e) Loans to key management personnel 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

5,308 

685 
5,993 

4,819 

264 
630 

5,713 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 

Number 

14 14 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 

1 

1 

2 

2 

2 

1 

1 

1 

1 

Number 

2 

1 
1 
1 

1 
2 
2 
2 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

3,239 

462 
3,701 

3,070 
264 
415 

3,749 

There were no loans provided to Council members or other key management personnel of the Group, including 
their personally relaled parties, during the year. 
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NOTE 32: REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS 

Audit services 
Fees paid to the Northern Territory Auditor-General's Office 
Total remuneration for audit services 

NOTE 33: CONTINGENCIES 
Contingent liabilities 

Consolidated 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

188 
188 

209 
209 

There were no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2015 and 2014. 

NOTE 34: COMMITMENTS 

(a) Capital commitments 
Capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities is as follows: 

Building works 

Payable: 
Within one year 

Later than one year but not later than five years 
Later than five years 

(b) Lease commitments 
All leases of the Group are operating leases. 

Operating leases 

Motor vehicles 

Of11ce equipment 

Computing equipment 
Property 
Cancellable property 
Total leases 

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to non­
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 

Within one year 
Later than one year but not later than five years 
Total leases 

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation to 
cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: 

Within one year 
Later than one year but not later than five years 
Later than 5 years 
Total cancellable leases 

Consolidated 

2015 
$'000 

1,121 

1,121 

537 
2,443 
3,475 

111 
6,566 

2,440 
4,015 
6,455 

111 

111 

2014 
$'000 

14,446 

14,446 

10 
442 

1.361 
3,775 

302 
5,890 

2,115 
3,473 
5,588 

191 
111 

302 

Parent Entity 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

139 
139 

168 
168 

Parent Entity 

2015 
$'000 

920 

920 

537 
2,443 
3,475 

6,455 

2,440 
4,015 
6,455 

2014 
$'000 

12,626 

12,626 

10 
442 

1,361 
3,775 

5,588 

2,115 
3,473 
5,588 

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the non-cancellable operating leases is 2.49% (2014: 8.06%). 
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NOTE 34: COMMITMENTS (Continued) 
Consolidated Parent Entity 

2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

(c) Other expenditure commitments 

Other 
Within one year 3,989 4,662 3,989 4,642 

Later than one year but not later than five years 

Later than five years 

3,989 4,662 3,989 4,642 

Joint ventures 
Within one year 1,039 494 1,029 484 
Later than one year but not later than five years 3,190 1,060 3,150 1,020 
Later than five years 

4,229 1,554 4,179 1,504 

(d) Revenue 
Included in the 2015 consolidation revenue amount of $308 million is capital funding received of $3 million and structural 
adjustment funding of $1 million which are committed to specific projects in 2015 and future years. 

NOTE 35: RELATED PARTIES 
(a) Parent entity 
The parent entity is Charles Darwin University. 

(b) Subsidiaries 
Subsidiaries are set out in Note 36. 

(c) Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to directors and specified executives are set out in Note 31. 

(d) Transactions with related parties 
The following transactions took place with related parties: 

Menzies School of Health Research (MSHR) 

Income 
Other 
Student fees 

Expenditure 
Student fees * 

Projects 
JRE, SRE and RIBG 

Other 
Total transactions with related parties 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

1,477 1,522 

1,580 1,565 

417 2,996 
2,874 2,988 

904 65 
(4,298) (6,092) 

*Student fee income was earned by Menzies School of Health Research from students enrolled with the University but 
undertaking course work with the Education Section of Menzies School of Health Research. The terms and conditions 
governing the payment of these fees are covered in Attachments One and Two of the Memorandum of Understanding signed 
between Menzies School of Health Research and the University in March 2004. 

Effective from September 2015 Menzies School of Health Research liquid investments have been pooled with Charles Darwin 
University investments. As at 31 December 2015 CDU hold $22.7m investment on behalf of Menzies School of Health 
Research (disclosed in Note 28). 
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NOTE 35: RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

Charles Darwin University Foundation Trust (CDUF) 

Income 
Donor disbursements for University activities 

Expenditure 
Interest expense 

Total transactions with related parties 

CDU Amenities Limited (CDUA) 

Income 
CDU provides rental and administrative support at no charge 

Expenditure 
Staff gym membership 
Grant funding 

Total transactions with related parties 

Charles Darwin University Charitable Trust 

2015 
$'000 

1,486 

130 
1,356 

2015 
$'000 

15 
259 

(274) 

2014 
$'000 

1,268 

152 

1 '116 

2014 
$'000 

20 

184 
(204) 

During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were no transactions with Charles Darwin University Charitable Trust 

Centre for Remote Health 

Income 

Consultancy fees 

Expenditure 
Grant funding 

Total transactions with related parties 

FCD Health Limited 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

112 122 

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the University had no material transactions with FCD Health Limited. 

(e) Loans to/from related parties 
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were no loans to/from related parties. 

(f) Outstanding balances 
As at 31 December 2015 the University is holding funds of $13,914 on behalf of CDU Amenities Limited (2014: $45,296). 

As at 31 December 2015 the University was holding $4,300,000 (2014: $4,300,000) of liquid investments on behalf of the CDU 
Foundation Trust Nil interest payable in 2015 and 2014 and $5 (2014: $95) of intercompany receivable/payable to CDU 
Foundation Trust 

(g) Additional information - Menzies School of Health Research (MSHR) 
Menzies School of Health Research has been granted funds from the Commonwealth and Northern Territory Governments 
(NTG) for the purpose of constructing research and training facilities at Charles Darwin University and Royal Darwin Hospital 
and for refurbishing an existing building at Royal Darwin HospitaL 

The new buildings will accommodate 420 Menzies School of Health Research staff and will allow the School to continue 
medical research and training, including laboratory and clinical research. 



50 	 CDU FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  2015	

CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 35: RELATED PARTIES (Continued) 

Menzies School of Health Research has transferred ownership of the buildings to the University and NTG respectively upon 
completion of the works and for Menzies School of Health Research to occupy the buildings for nominal rent The University 
has offered Menzies School of Health Research a 20 year lease option at peppercorn rent The University will occupy a 
portion of the building. The Northern Territory Department of Health is required to provide Menzies School of Health Research 
with a 20 year lease at peppercorn rent of $1.00 per annum under the Funding Agreement. 

The refurbishment of the existing building on the Royal Darwin Hospital campus was completed on 23 March 2015 at a cost of 
$8.4m. The Northern Territory Department of Health has granted Menzies School of Health Research, the right to use the 
refurbished building under a lease (current lease expires in August 2018 with an option to extend to September 2034) at a 
peppercorn rent of $1.00 per annum. 

The balance of unspent project costs of $201,199 at 31 December 2015 (2014: $1 ,819,654) forms part of restricted reserves 
at year end. These funds are restricted for the use of refurbishment of the buildings as detailed above. 

Menzies School of Health Research have accepted unconditional undertakings in the form of bank guarantees (to pay on 
demand) in favour of Lahey Construction Ply Ltd to a total of $1 ,613,652 (2014: $1 ,994,472). 

NOTE 36: SUBSIDIARIES 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance 
with the accounting policy described in Note 1 (b )(i): 

Name of entity 

Charles Darwin University Foundation 
Menzies School of Health Research 
CDU Amenities Limited 
Charles Darwin University Charitable Trust 

NOTE 37: JOINT OPERATIONS 
(a) Joint Operations 

Name of Joint Operation: 
Nature of relationship: 

Principal place of business: 
Ownership interest 

Equity Holding 
Country of Incorporation 2015 2014 

% % 
Australia 100 100 
Australia 100 100 
Australia 100 100 
Australia 100 

Centre of Remote Health 
Jointly providing health education and training for rural and 
remote areas 
Alice Springs, NT 
50% for both 2015 and 2014 

The assets employed in the above jointly controlled operations and assets are detailed below. The amounts are included in the 
financial statements under their respective categories. 

Current assets 
Non-current assets 
Total assets 

Current liabilities 
Non-current liabilities 
Total liabilities 
Net assets 

Revenues 
Expenses 
Net operating result before income tax 

Share of partnership's commitments 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

951 854 
2,485 2,587 
3,436 3,441 

115 113 
138 148 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 

951 854 
2,485 2,587 
3,436 3,441 

115 113 
138 148 

The consolidated entity's share of capital commitments and other expenditure commitments relating to joint venture operations 
are disclosed in Note 34. 
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NOTE 37: JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued) 

Name of Joint Operation: 

Nature of relationship: 

Principal place of business: 

Ownership interest 

The Heights, Durack 

Development of land for residential purposes 

Palmerston, NT 

50% for both 2015 and 2014 

Charles Darwin University entered into an agreement with CIC-THD Pty Ltd to develop part of Lot 9765 Town of Palmerston 
(known as The Heights, Durack). The development will deliver approximately 806 lots for residential purposes. The Agreement 
was dated 15 November 2010 and effective from that date. Under the Agreement, the University remains the registered 
proprietor of the land until the sub-divided lots are sold to the new purchasers. CIC-THD Pty Ltd as the developer of the land 
for re-sale is responsible for the costs and liabilities associated with the project. CIC-THD Ply Ltd also undertakes all 
marketing and sale activities. 

The proceeds of the sale of land are accounted for on a net gain basis. Should the University become entitled to any 
distribution as a result of the project, this will be recognised by the University when the right to receive payment has been 
established (provided that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the University and the amount of income can be 
measured reliably). 

Share of joint controlled operations assets and liabilities 

Current assets 
Non-current assets 
Total assets 

Net assets 

Share of joint controlled operations revenues, expenses 
and results 
Revenues 
Expenses 
Net operating result before income tax 

Assets pledged as security 

Consolidated 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

16,244 
6,169 

22,413 

11,966 

16,976 
6,169 

23,145 

35,924 

Parent Entity 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

16,244 
6,169 

22,413 

11,966 

16,976 
6,169 

23,145 

35,924 

Charles Darwin University has entered into a mortgage in favour of the Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA) the effect of 
which is to secure repayment of the monies owing by CIC-THD Ply Ltd to CBA. The land has been pledged as security for CIC­
THD Pty Ltd bank loans as required under the development agreement. The total borrowings of CIC-THD Ply Ltd at 31 
December 2015 and 2014 were nil. 
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NOTE 37: JOINT OPERATIONS (Continued) 

(b) Other 
The University also participates in other joint venture entities for which the University's interest is not considered to be 
material. Accordingly, they have not been taken up in the accounts on an equity or proportional consolidation basis as per 
Australian Accounting Standard AASB 11 Joint Arrangements. 

NOTE 38: ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 
The Group is funded predominantly by annual appropriations from both the Commonwealth and Northern Territory 
Government to meet proposed cash expenditure on both operational and capital items in the current financial year. These 
financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis in the expectation that such funding will continue. 

NOTE 39: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE 

Since the end of the financial year a portion of the VET funding provided from the Northern Territory Government has become 
subject to competitive tender. The University is not aware of any other events affecting the Consolidated entity. 

NOTE 40: RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING RESULT 

AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FLOWS FROM 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

Consolidated Parent Entity 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Operating result for the period (13,896) 8,958 (22,148) 7,014 
Depreciation and amortisation 25,622 21,353 23,256 20,714 
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of non-current assets (8,636) 1,529 265 (2,292) 
Purchase of biological assets 44 44 

Fair value gains on other assets at fair value through profit or 
loss 15 
Non-cash accounting adjustments on investment method (35) (35) 
Non-cash investment income (148) (112) (148) (112) 

2,957 31,737 1,225 25,333 

Change in operating assets and liabilities 
(lncrease)/decrease in receivables 15,458 (10,783) 14,330 (10,674) 
(lncrease)/decrease in Inventories 37 (200) 37 (200) 
(lncrease)/decrease in biological assets 1,417 1,055 1,417 1,055 

(lncrease)/decrease in other financial assets 1,141 (26) (48) 9 

(lncrease)/decrease in other non-financial assets (25) 1 '126 (151) 1,079 
Increase/( decrease) in trade and other payables (2,595) (586) 288 (2,150) 
Increase/( decrease) in other liabilities 2,035 5,908 24,717 5,984 
lncrease/(decrease) in provisions 1,508 1,928 1,127 1,814 

18,976 (1,578) 41,717 (3,083) 

Net cash provided by/( used in) operating activities 21,933 30,159 42,942 22,250 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 41: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
Financial risk management 
The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate 
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management 
program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Group. There has been no significant change in the risk factors from the prior year or 
management thereof. 

The Group's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
borrowing. The main risks that the Group is exposed through financial instruments are deposit interest rate risk and 
credit risk. Any borrowings are at fixed interest rates and consequently upward risk is minimal. 

(a) Market risk 
(i) Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises from overseas sources of income for research and consultancies and payments to 
creditors for overseas sourced supplies. The main currencies the Group is exposed to are the US dollar followed by 
British pounds and the Euro. The level of exposure to foreign exchange risk is not considered to be material. The Group 
does not engage in hedge contracts or other hedging instruments. 

(ii) Price risk 

The Group has limited exposure to financial instruments subject to price risk. The parent's investment policy is limited to 
deposits in Authorised Deposit-taking Institutions (ADis). Some of the entities controlled by the Group have exposure to 
shares. The level of exposure is not considered material. 

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

The Group has $4,000,000 in borrowings as at balance date. The Group's funds on deposit are at rates fixed for the 
term of the deposit. At balance date, all funds were deposited with AD Is with Standard and Poor's credit ratings of A-2 
or higher. Movement of rates will not affect the fair value of the assets as the deposits will be held to maturity. At call 
funds are subject to market rate movements. During 2015 the term deposit interest rate range was 0.97%. This is 
compared to the interest rate range in 2014 of 1.19%. The decrease in the interest rate range from 2014 to 2015 
reflects the change in the cash rate from 2.50% at the end of 2014 to 2.00% at the end of 2015. The interest rate 
outlook for 2016 is likely to remain in the target range of 2.00%. 

(iv) Summarised sensitivity analysis 

The table on the next page summarises the sensitivity of the Group's financial assets and financial liabilities to interest 
rate risk. There have been no changes from the previous period in the methods and assumptions used. 

Significant assumptions used in the interest rate sensitivity analysis include, reasonably possible movements in interest 
rates determined based on the Group's mix of investments in Australia, relationships with financial institutions as well as 
the last two year's historical movements and economic forecaster's expectations. 

As the Group does not engage in hedging it is subject to market variations in foreign exchange. The majority of its 
income and expenditure for foreign currency is the US dollar which has been subject to range of $0.13 from the lowest 
exchange rate received to the highest in 2015 and 2014. The Australian dollar has been at historically low levels 
against the US dollar based on 2015 average rates. Forecasts vary on the expectations of the exchange rate for 2016. 
The Group has factored in a 1 0% variation ($ 0.1 0) based on the 2015 average of $0.84. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 41: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 

At De-?embEH 2015, lf interest rates had movt!d, as illt.Jstrated in the tabte below, with a lithe- other variables held 
constant Jesuit and equity would have been affected as follows: 

lnte~t rate tlek 
Cansolidated <2% +2% 

canying Result Equity R:%Uit Equity 
31 December 2015 amount $'000 $'000 $'000 1'000 $'000 
manc1a auets 
':"'as a cas equwa en, 1 ) {2.164) 2,154 V64 
Otaf ncteasettaecrease} 

' ' ' ' 
I"' "'""moe• <UH 

1 t'mane1a assets 
1 ;.;asn ana casn equ111alents 1ut,••• .... (<,141) \<,W) 2,14/ 2,14/ 

otal mueaseJjOOcrease; (2,147) 2,147- 2,147 

The mwements in result are due to hgherllower interest revenue from varlab!e rate cash balances. Borrowings are at 
fixed interest rates. 

(b) Credit risk 
The Group's exposure to credit risk !s Mainly restricted to receivables. The Groop does not have significant exposure to 
any one debtor. At balance date, all funds were deposited wit~ AuthorL'Ied Depooit~takmg lnsti:utions with Standard and 
Poor's credit ratings of A-2 or higher. The consolidated entity's maximum exposure to cre-:n ;isk at balance da:e in 
relation to each class of recognised fin<Incial asset is the carrying amount of ihose assets as indicated in trw balance 
sheet. 

(c) Liquidity risk 
T!lere is no significant ri!Sk associated \'lilh !he Group meeting lis obllga!lws associated with financial liabilities. Cash 
flow to meet ongoing commitmertsls monitored dally. Strict budgeting and forecasting procedures are in place. 

(dj Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets arid financiaf llabilifes must be estimate<! for recognition a'l<1 !T'easurement or for 
disclosure purposes. The fair value of financial instruments :raded lt; active marke:s (such as publicly-traded 
derivatives} is based on quoted market pr'.ces at the balance Sheet dale. The quoted market p·tce used for firancla! 
assets held by the Group is the current bkJ price. 

The carrying value less impairment provision of lrade receivables and payables is a reasonable approxlmafion of lh€Hf 
fair values due to their sh<:Vt·t~?rm Mll.lre of trade recewables and payables. 

Due lo the- short-lerm nalure of lhe current receiVables, their carrying value is assurted 1o approximate !heir fa1r '/akre 
and based on credi; r~is:ol)' it is. e;::pecled !hat :he receivables that are neither pas! due nor impaired will be received 
when due. 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAl. STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED J1 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 42: ACQUlTTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAl.. ASSISTANCE 

NOTE 42.1 EDUCATION CGS ANOOTHER EDUCATION GRANTS 

fi'Ill'11'11t El'ltity (HEP) ONLY 

Commonwt~11lth hld\genous Sup!X'rt Paltn<~I'!Oip& Dlsabllity Support Workpla«~ Reform Wort::plaee 
Gl'a!'!W lkh~me #'! Fun4 Fattlcl!)atlOI'I f'fl)gram Pr.;.gr.t~t~ l>roductivrty Prt>9ram 

Prror.am ltiZ 

Note 2M5 Hl1A 2tl1S: ~J· 2014 2015 2014 2015 I 2C14 2&15 I :ro14 2015 l ?D44 

$'000 s·ooc $'000 S'Gl)(t $'00!6 $'000 ~-+-_!_00_0__ -~- swe $'000 S'OOtO 

Firlaneial Assistance recermd In Cash dunng 
ihe reportir>g period (total cash received fro1n 
tne Australian Government for the Programs) 
Net awual adjustments 

56,516 55,629 1,1S6 1,169 1,478 7,666 11 16 

1,169 Revenue- for the period J(a) SG, 
SurplusJ(deficit) from the PNIIie>us year ~ - ~ - - I 5.76$ 1 963 - • I . -I · J . I . I . I 55.529 j ,. 1,156 'B 16 

Total revenue im;ludlng sec~d MVenue- 56,516 55,629 1,156 1, Hl9 ' 7,241 9:619 11 

11 

15 

16 lEss e;:penses ind!Jdmg accroed axpenses 1 56,516 i 55.629 1156 1,159 917 . :3 865 

I - I . . - ·-1 '"'" - I . I . I surplusl{deficit) tor J'1WP()rting !*lod 

i<1 ,._, it» b•O<. (;c1il\ 111"1""'"''"0\, ei»-~ i'tl,_ ... lo;of"m'J_ C$S- F->W>1<1~! ~JI>IM - - .. ;,~ ~9 ~ f!$ Fe• 1'41:<:• T-l~ 

£' l11cludos ~Q<illjr&o~w<l i'11!¥lW, 

Financial A$$1staooe re<:ei\N:X.! in Cash during 
the r~ng petiOO {total cast: f!\C9lved from 
the Australian Gowmrnent Wr the Programs) 
Net accrual adjl.*tm'l'f!b 

Not· ' 

Revem«t for the perlod 3{a) 
Surp!usf~(leflcit) -!rem !he pmvious }}%r 

Total re>renue locloeling S¢¢rUed revl!nue 

Less expenses including aecrued expenses 

Surplusl(deficlt) for reporting pP.riod 

~ '"""do• Col~!loo ~'1<1 91'""'""" Ao)""'"'""' !>"'gram_ 

Ciipltlll DI!'Vltlo:m-m~l1t 
Pqol 

2016 2014 - $'000 

. . . . . . 

. 

. . 

. . 

. . 

D~fflity & Structural Pr¢mn of Exc in 
Adjustment Fu11d #3 Leam adTeauhlng 

"'" 2014 2016 2014 
fOOa $'000 $'000 $'000 

1,$60 .. 115 
. . . . 
. 1,880 .. 115 

2,905 5 2:75- ... '"' 
2,905 7J55 ,., 365 

2905 4.750 11!9 203 

- 2.005 " ..... -_.!..§2 

Rewar4 Fundlnu """'' 
:201:5 2{1'14 ,.,, 
$'000 $'()00 $'000 

. . 327 . . . 
. . "' 43l) "" . 

.,. 43() 327 

430 i . 2M! 

- 430 ,. 

j__'-.L_ ·-·-~ 

Total 

----- ----o·~·e ..... 
2014 ''"' 2il14 
$'000 '"" '""" 

. 59,529 643,475 . . 

. 59,52:8 643,475 . .,.. 7918 

. 68,788 74,3-ft 

. 6:2,372 65133 

. $41$ i • 26l) 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 42: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Continued) 

N0TE42.2 HIGHER EDUCATION LOAN PROGRAMS (excl OS-HELP) 

Parent Entity (HEP) ONLY 
HECS-HELP 
Australian 

FEE-HELP#4 Government 

Cash Payable/(Receivable) at beginning of 
Financial Assistance received in Cash during 
the reporting period 
Net accrual adjustments 
Cash available for period 

Less: Revenue earned 

Cash Payable/(Receivable) at end of year 

Payments only 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

. . 

22,860 23,821 
. . 

22,860 23,821 

22860 23,821 

. . 

2015 
$'000 

. 

302 
. 
302 

302 

. 
#4 Prng"'m in nosped f>l FEE-HELP lor H1ghflrE<iuca/Jon ""'Y ana ~xe/uae. lunas receive<! in "'opec/ of VET PEE-HELP, 

NOTE 42.3 SCHOLARSHIPS 

Financial Assistance received in Cash during 
the reporting period (total cash received from 
the Australian Government for the Programs) 
Net accrual adjustments 
Revenue for the period 
Surplus/(deficit) from the previous year 

Total revenue including accrued revenue 

Less expenses including accrued expenses 

Surplus/( deficit) for reporting period 

Postgraduate Awards 

#5 Includes Cronofothere<l Sctl01arsh1pS, ~"'"'"al Pnonty aM Nat<Of\SI AooommO<IatiOn Pno"ty Scl101arohips ~•peeWoty. 

2014 
$'000 

. 

405 
. 
405 

405 

. 

VET FEE-HELP SA-HELP 

2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

. . . (24) 

362 . 537 625 . . . 24 
362 . 537 625 

362 . 537 625 

. . . . 

Total 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

. {24) 

24,061 24,851 
. 24 

24,061 24.851 

24 061 24,851 

. . 

Total 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 42: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Continued) 

NOTE 42.4 EDUCATION RESEARCH 

Parent Entity (HEP) ONLY 

Financial Assistance received in Cash during 
the reporting period (total cash received from 
the Australian Government for the Programs) 
Net accrual adjustments 
Revenue for the period 
Surplusf(deficit) from the previous year 

Total revenue including accrued revenue 

Less expenses including accrued expenses 

Surplus/(deficit) for reporting period 

jiG lr>eludes lnstilui"'MI G"'niS scnerne 

NOTE 42.5 OTHER CAPITAL FUNDING 

Financial Assistance received in Cash during 
the reporting period (total cash received from 
the Australian Government for the Programs) 
Net accrual adjustments 
Revenue for the period 

Surplusf(deficit} from the previous year 

Total revenue including accrued revenue 

Less expenses including accrued expenses 

Surplusl(deficit) for reporting period 

Joint Research 
Engagement m> 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

3,316 3,376 
- -

3,316 3,376 

- -
3,316 3,376 

3,316 3,376 

- -

Research Training 
Scheme 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

4,559 4,539 

-
4,559 4,539 

- -
4,559 4,539 

4,559 4,539 

- -

Research Implementation 
Infrastructure Block Assistance Program 

Grants 
2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

2,582 2,503 - -
- - -

2,582 2,503 - -
592 602 - -

3,174 3,105 - -
3,174 2,513 - -

- 592 - -

Sustainable Research Total 
Excellence in 
Universities 

2015 2014 2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

1,938 1.754 12,395 12,172 

- - - -
1,938 1,754 12,395 12,172 

- - 592 602 

1,938 1,754 12,987 12,774 

1,938 1,754 12,987 12,182 

- - - 592 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER2015 

NOTE 42: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Continued) 

NOTE 42.6 AUSTRALIAN RESEARCH COUNCIL G~ 

(a) Discovery Parent Entity {HEP) ONLY 

Financial Assistance received in Cash during 
the reporting period (total cash received from 
the Australian Government for the Programs) 
Net accrual adjustments 

Revenue for the period 
SurplusJ(deficit) from the previous year 

Total revenue including accrued revenue 

Less expenses including accrued expenses 

Surplus/(deficit) for reporting period 

(b) linkages 

Financial Assistance received in Cash during 
the reporting period (total cash received from 
the Australian Government for the Programs) 
Net accrual adjustments 
Revenue for the period 
Surplust(deficit) from previous year 

Total revenue including accrued revenue 

Less expenses including accrued expenses 

Surplus/(deficit) for reporting period 

Projects Fellowships 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

226 92 352 
- - - -

226 92 - 352 
11 61 - -

237 153 - 352 

90 142 352 

147 11 - -

Parent Enti HEP ONLY 
Infrastructure Projects 

2015 2014 2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

143 539 151 250 
- - - -
143 539 151 250 
147 - 489 481 

290 539 640 731 

147 392 547 242 

143 147 93 489 

Indigenous 
Researchers 
Development 

2015 2014 

$'GOO $'000 

36 -
- -
36 -
- -
36 -

5 -
31 -

Total 

2<115 2014 

$'000 $'000 

294 789 

- -
294 789 
636 481 

930 1,270 

694 634 

236 636 

Total 

2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

262 444 
- -

262 444 
11 61 

273 505 

95 494 

178 11 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 42: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Continued) 

NOTE 42.7 OS-HELP 

Cash received during the reporting period 
Cash spent during the reporting period 
Net Cash received 

Cash Surplus/( deficit) from the previous period 
Carry forward adjustment 

Cash Surplus/( deficit) for reporting period 

NOTE 42.8 HIGHER EDUCATION SUPERANNUATION 

Cash received during the reporting period 
University contribution in respect of current 
employees 
Cash available 

Cash surplusl(deficit) from the previous period 
Cash available for current period 

Contributions to specified defined benefit funds 

Cash surplus/(deficit) this period 

Parent Enti 

OS-HELP 

2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 
9 50 

24 42 
(15) 8 

26 14 . 4 
11 26 

Parent Enti 
Superannuation 
Supplementation 

2015 2014 
$'0()() $'000 

29 36 

. . 
29 36 

. . 
29 36 

29 36 

. . 

(HEP ONLY 

Total 

2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

9 50 
24 42 

(15) 8 

26 14 
. 4 
11 26 

HEP) ONLY 

Total 

2015 2014 

$'000 $'000 

29 36 

. . 
29 36 

. . 
29 36 

29 36 

. . 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 

NOTE 42: ACQUITTAL OF AUSTRALIAN GOVERNMENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE (Continued) 

NOTE 42.9 STUDENT SERVICES AND AMENITIES FEE 

Unspent/(overspent) revenue from previous 
period 
Carry Forward Adjustment 
SA-HELP Revenue Earned 
Student services fees direct from students 
Total revenue expendable in period 
Student services expenses during period 
Underspent/(overspent) student services 
revenue 

Parent Enti 
Student Services and 

Amenities Fee 
2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

1,510 130 
. 568 
537 625 
. 494 

2,047 1,817 
466 307 

1,581 1,510 

HEP ONLY 

Total 

2015 2014 
$'000 $'000 

1,510 130 
. 568 
537 625 
. 494 

2,047 1,817 
466 307 

"'" 1,510 
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CHARLES DARWIN UNIVERSITY AND ITS CONTROLLED ENTITIES 
REPORT BY MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

1, In our opinion: 

{a) the accompanying financial statements of the University and the consolidated entity are drawn up 
so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs as at 31 December 2015, and the results for the 
year ended on that date, of the University and the consolidated entity; and 

(b) at the date of this statement there are reasonable grounds to believe that the University will be 
able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 

2. The accompanying financial statements and notes thereto, of the University and the economic 
entity have been prepared in accordance with the Charles Darwin University Act and Australian 
Accounting Standards, Australian Charities and Not-for-proffls Commission Act 2012, Australian 
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Regulation 2.013, and as per the Commonwealth 
Department of Education Guidelines for the Preparation of Annual Financial Statements for the 2015 
Reporting Period by Australian Higher Education Institutions. 

3. The amount of Australian Government financial assistance expended during the reporting period 
was for the purpose(s) for which It was provided. 

4. Charles Darwin University has complied with the requirements of various program guidelines that 
apply to the Australian Government financial assistance identified in the financial statements. 

Signed at Darwin this 15 dayol Ha..j 2016 

CHANCELLOR VICE-CHANCELLOR 
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Auditor-General 

Independent Auditor's Report 
the Members of Cherles Darwin University and its Controlled Entities 

Year Ended 31 December 2015 

Page 1 of 2 

1 have at:dited the accompanying financial report of Charles OaiWln Unlversity and its Controlled 

Entities (the University") whdl comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 

2C15, the income statement the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of chan.Jes in 

equity and the statement of cash flows for lhe year then endeC, notes comprising a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the Vice·Chanceltors 

declaration, 

The Vice-Chancellor's Responsibility for the Financial Report 

The Vlce-Ghancellor of the University is responsible for the preparation of the financial report thai 

gives a ttue and faif \I leW in accordance With Australian Accounting Standards, Australian Charities 

and Not-for-Profits Commission Act 201.2 and the Gh&rles Darwin University Act, and for such 

internal control as the Vice-Chancellor determines is necessary to enable the preparation and falr 

presentation of the financial report that is free from material misstatel"fient, whether due to fraud or 

error. 

Auditor'" Responsibility 

My responsibility is to express a:1 opinion on the financial report based on my audit ! conducted 

my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that I compJy 

with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and pia:-~ and perform the audit to 

obtain reasonable assurance about whe1her the financial report is free from materia! misstatement 

An aucit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financtal report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement 

iOOuding the assessment of lhe risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due 

to fraud or erroL ln making those risk assessments, the auditor considers lntemal control relevant 

to the University's preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in order to design audil 

procedures that are appropriate in tha circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness. of the Univer$ity's ;nternal control. An audit also inclUdes evaluating 

the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness or accounting estimates 

made by the VIce-chancellor, as~~ as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial report 

I believe that the audit evidemce I have obl:aioed iS suffiCient and appropriate to provide a basis tor 

my audil opink.tn. 

Independence 

! am independent of Charles Darwin University and i1s Controlled Entities and in conducting my 

audit, I fot!owed the applicable independence requirements of the Audit Act and of Australian 

professional ethical prooouncements 

Level12 Northern Tenito!V House 2H.tnctml: Street Darwin 0600 Tel: C8 8939 7155 



	 CDU FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  2015	 63

Opinion 

Auditor-General 

Page 2 of2 

In my opinion the financial report of Charles Darwin University anct its Controlled entities has been 

prepared In accordance .with Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission 

Acl 2012. Including: 

(a) giving a true and fair view of the University's ilnanclal position al 31 December 2015, and its 
financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended; and 

(b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards. Cl1arles Darwin University Act and Division 
60 of the Australlan Ctlarilles and Not-for-Profits Regulation 2013. 

J!Jiie Crisp 
Auditor-General ior the Northern Territory 
Darwin, Northern Territory 

13 May 2016 

I ovel 12 Norlhern Terrltorv House 22 Mitchell Street O::nwin 0600 Tel: 08 8999 7155 
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